Public Document Pack
High Peak Borough Council

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE AGENDA

You can view the agenda
online by using a smart phone
camera and scanning the code
below:

Date:

Monday, 4 October 2021

Time:

1.30 pm

Venue:

Main Hall, Town Hall, Market Street, Chapel en le Frith

24 September 2021
PART 1
1.

Apologies for Absence

2.

To receive Disclosures of Interest on any matters before the Committee
1. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
2. Other Interests

3.

Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 6)

4.

Update Sheet

5.

Planning Applications (Pages 7 - 8)

6.

HPK/2021/0145 - Land at Foxlow Farm, Buxton (Pages 9 - 100)

7.

HPK/2021/0234 - Former Forge Works, Forge Road, Chinley, High Peak (Pages
101 - 108)

8.

HPK/2021/0055 - 22 Bowden Lane, Chapel-En-Le-Frith (Pages 109 - 122)

9.

HPK/2021/0387 - Lowfoot Farm, Redgap Lane, Buxton (Pages 123 - 132)

MARK TRILLO
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND MONITORING OFFICER
Membership of Development Control Committee
Councillor R McKeown (Chair)
Councillor
Councillor A Barrow
Councillor
Councillor C Farrell
Councillor
Councillor G Oakley
Councillor
Councillor P Roberts
Councillor
Councillor J Todd
Councillor

D Lomax (Vice-Chair)
L Dowson
I Huddlestone
J Perkins
E Thrane
S Young

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3

High Peak Borough Council

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE
Meeting:

Monday, 13 September 2021 at 1.30 pm in The Octagon, Pavilion Gardens,
Buxton

Present:

Councillor R McKeown (Chair)
Councillors A Barrow, L Dowson, C Farrell, I Huddlestone, D Lomax,
A McKeown (substitute for Oakley), J Perkins, P Roberts, E Thrane, J Todd
and S Young
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors G Oakley

22/33

TO RECEIVE DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST ON ANY MATTERS BEFORE
THE COMMITTEE
(Agenda Item 2)
Councillor Young declared an ‘other’ interest in agenda item 7,
“HPK/2021/0023 CJK Packaging Ltd., Bridgeholme Mill Industrial Estate,
Chinley” and 8, “HPK/2021/0315 CJK Packaging Ltd., Bridgeholme Mill
Industrial Estate, Chinley (Advertising Consent)” (reason: knows both
Councillors Sizeland Parish and Borough), also predetermination as I have
voted previously on similar) and withdrew from the meeting during the
consideration and voting on the application

22/34

MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
(Agenda Item 3)
RESOLVED:
That the minutes of the meeting held on 16 August 2021 be approved as a
correct record.

22/35

UPDATE SHEET
(Agenda Item 4)
RESOLVED:
That the update sheet be noted.

22/36

PLANNING APPLICATIONS
(Agenda Item 5)
RESOLVED:
That the report be noted.

Page 3

Development Control Committee
Monday, 13 September 2021

22/37

HPK/2021/0145 - LAND AT FOXLOW FARM, BUXTON
(Agenda Item 6)



Full planning application for the development of a Local Centre comprising
of a foodstore (Use Class E (a)), children’s day nursery (Use Class E (f))
and flexible commercial/retail units (Use Class E and Sui Generis (hot food
takeaway, veterinary surgery, public house / drinking establishment)) along
with parking, access and other associated works
Applicant:

HDD Buxton Ltd. Aldi Stores Ltd., Philip Heathcote and Hallam
Land Management

The Committee viewed plans and photographs of the site.
The Committee were addressed by Jonathan Burns (agent)
RESOLVED:
1. That consideration of the application be deferred pending:
(i)
Further discussions with the applicant around local geography and
shopping habits due to concerns that the proposed location of the
new store may restrict access for some areas of the population, and
to determine whether there is potential for a 2 store model in
Buxton;
(ii)

Further discussions with highways around the impact of the
proposed development on the local network.

(Having declared an interest, Councillor Young withdrew from the
meeting during the consideration and voting on the following two
applications)
22/38

HPK/2021/0023 - CJK PACKAGING
INDUSTRIAL ESTATE, CHINLEY
(Agenda Item 7)

LTD,

BRIDGEHOLME

MILL

Proposed warehouse extension
Applicant:

Chris Sizeland, CJK Packaging Ltd.

The Committee viewed photographs and plans of the site.
The Committee were addressed by Stephen Griffiths (agent)
RESOLVED:
1. That the application be refused as set out within the report;
2. That in the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions /
informatives / planning obligations or reasons for approval / refusal) prior to
the decision being issued, the Head of Development Services be delegated
authority to do so in consultation
Page 4 with the Chair of the Committee, provided



Development Control Committee
Monday, 13 September 2021

that the changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the committee’s
decision.

22/39

HPK/2021/0315 - CJK PACKAGING LTD, BRIDGEHOLME
INDUSTRIAL ESTATE, CHINLEY (ADVERTISING CONSENT)
(Agenda Item 8)

MILL

Advertising consent for Two Company Logo Signs on Front Company
Building
Applicant:

Mr Joseph Sizeland

The Committee viewed photographs of the site.
RESOLVED:
1. That advertisement consent be granted as set out within the report;
2. That in the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions /
informatives / planning obligations or reasons for approval / refusal) prior to
the decision being issued, the Head of Development Services be delegated
authority to do so in consultation with the Chair of the Committee, provided
that the changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the committee’s
decision

(Councillor Young returned to the meeting)

22/40

HPK/2021/0055 - 22 BOWDEN LANE, CHAPEL-EN-LE-FRITH
(Agenda Item 9)
Removal of existing front boundary wall and new boundary wall and
associated landscaping
Applicant:

Michelle Rogers

The Committee viewed photographs of the site.
RESOLVED:
That consideration of the application be deferred for the following reasons:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)

To enable members to undertake a site visit if they wish
To enable investigations to be undertaken to establish if the parking
space can be made wider
For the DCC Highways Authority comments to be clarified

The meeting concluded at 2.48 pm
CHAIRMAN

Page 5

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

Report to Development Control Committee
4 October 2021

TITLE:

PLANNING APPLICATIONS FOR DECISION BY
COMMITTEE

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR:

Councillor Anthony McKeown

CONTACT OFFICER:

Ben Haywood – Head of Development Services

WARDS INVOLVED:

All

Appendices Attached - None
To outline the Committee’s determination of

1.

Reason for the Report:
planning applications

2.

Recommendation

2.1

That the report be noted.

3.

Executive Summary

3.1

Unless the Committee decide to waive their delegated power in respect of any
application, the Committee’s determination of any application will operate as a
final decision, unless:-

3.2

a.

it is a major departure from Council Policy;

b.

There are resource implications for the Borough Council which need to
be considered by the Executive

The environmental, legal, financial and equal opportunities raised by each
application are dealt with within each report. There are no known Community
Safety issues unless specified in the report.

Web Links and
Background Papers
Background papers for all planning
applications

Location
Town Hall, Buxton

Page 7

Contact details

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE
4th October 2021
ADDENDUM REPORT
Application No:
Location
Proposal

HPK/2021/0145
Land at Foxlow Farm, Buxton
Full planning application for the development of a Local
Centre comprising a foodstore (Use Class E (a)), children’s
day nursery (Use Class E (f)) and flexible commercial/retail
units (Use Class E and Sui Generis (hot food takeaway,
veterinary surgery, public house/drinking establishment))
along with parking, access and other associated works
Applicant
HDD Buxton Ltd, Aldi Stores Ltd, Philip Heathcote and
Hallam Land Management
Agent
n/a
Parish/Ward
Date registered: 29/03/2021
Buxton
If you have a question about this report please contact: Rachael Simpkin
rachael.simpkin@highpeak.gov.uk 01538 395400 extension 4122
1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

APPROVE, subject to conditions and legal agreements.

2. OFFICER COMMENTS
2.1
On the 13th September 2021, Members of the Development Control
Committee resolved that consideration of the application be deferred pending:
(i)
Further discussions with the applicant around: local geography and
shopping habits due to concerns that the proposed location of the new store may
restrict access for some areas of the population and cause additional vehicle
movements; to reconsider either a green roof or solar panels; to explore potential
for a 2 store model in Buxton or modification to the existing store to increase
capacity; to reconsider the nursery design to maximise outdoor play space and
minimise potential safety concerns due to shared car parking.
(ii)
Further discussions with highways around the impact of the proposed
development on the local network.
2.2





The matters raised can be summarised as follows:
Highways and accessibility
Use and role of Aldi
Role of the local centre and design
Nursery drop off / outdoor space

Page 9

2.2 In response to the deferral, the applicant has sought to provide detailed
commentary with an executive summary, revised site plan, including parking plan
and amended retail elevations. In addition, the applicant’s Highways Consultant
has also responded to the highways related matters raised attached as Appendix
A.
Furthermore, Aldi have provided a further submission regarding their
operational requirements and is attached as Appendix B.
Applicant’s Executive Summary


Cross town journeys – the transport assessment allows for the potential for
these and highlights that the increase in trips generated compared to the
outline consent will be very limited.



Accessibility – the foodstore will provide a new facility in a location that is
easily accessible to a large part of the town and surrounding area where
residents currently have to travel longer distances to meet their main food
shopping needs.



Existing store – the issues with the store on the operation and customer
experience are of such significance that Aldi has been seeking a replacement
for the last decade. In other circumstances, where a replacement store
cannot be secured, Aldi have been forced to close these older stores and rely
upon their network of stores further afield to serve its local customer base.



Use of store – Aldi’s existing store is principally used for larger main food
shopping trips attracting car based trips and the new store will be no
exception. However, the store will be well located to a large customer base in
the immediate vicinity, thereby reducing the need to travel.



Ability to accommodate two smaller stores – Aldi cannot deliver two
smaller stores in Buxton given that small stores are only delivered in
extremely high footfall city centre locations. In any case, the delivery of two
smaller stores would fail to provide the full product range and result in
customers having to travel to Chapel-en-le-Frith or Bakewell to access the full
offer and meet their needs.



Ability to extend existing store – the potential to extend the existing store
has been fully explored, including the potential delivery of floorspace on a
mezzanine floor. This is not possible due to the issues this creates in terms of
customers access to upper floors with a trolley.



Meeting local needs – the development will meet local needs through the
creation of a range of small units with the applicant having interest from a
range of local and regional operators for varying uses. The outline permission
has already permitted uses that would draw visitors and employees from
much further afield given the inclusion of business, office and leisure uses.



Design / Green Roof – suggested amendments to the design have been
made which include the removal of the wooden cladding as well as the
potential delivery of solar voltaic panels on the roof of the Aldi store. The
green roof suggestion cannot be accommodated given the significant costs
this would incur, thus affecting the schemes viability whilst also significantly

Page 10

increasing CO2 emissions associated with the construction and manufacture
of materials, by requiring strengthening (and additional materials) to
accommodate the additional weight created by such structures.


Sustainability features of new store – in addition to the offer of introducing
solar panels on the Aldi store, the proposed store will incorporate a significant
number of sustainable technologies and features including an air source heat
pump that would provide all of the store’s heating requirements. Such
features are not in place in the existing store and cannot be retrofitted
ensuring a significant improvement in the sustainable operation of the Aldi
store in the town.



Nursery drop off – alterations have been made to the car parking plan to
allow for dedicated parking spaces to be used solely for the drop-off and pickup of children from the nursery.

Highways and Accessibility
2.3 The applicant’s Highways Consultant has provided a response to issues
raised regarding the sustainability of the site, generation of additional cross town
traffic and impact as a result of the uplift in trips associated with the proposed
new Local Centre including Aldi foodstore. The note confirms that these matters
have been considered through the submission Transport Assessment as agreed
with by County Highways and highlights the following key matters:


The number of new trips on the highway network as a result of the proposed
development is limited when compared with the current outline consent for
the local centre (fallback position) which the proposed development would
replace.



The outline consent local centre fallback position permits a range of uses and
floorspace including business space, offices and leisure uses that would draw
visitors and staff from much further afield than Buxton and its rural hinterland
when compared with the proposed local centre and foodstore.



The creation of a new foodstore in a location where there is no existing
provision would reduce the need to travel for local residents, whilst those
living close to the existing Aldi store would still have a choice of foodstore
provision in and around the current store site should they choose not to travel
to the new store.

2.4 County Highways have been consulted on the submission note and any
comments received will be reported on the Update Sheet.
The Use and Role of Aldi
2.5 In response to Members concerns, Aldi have provided a detailed response
concerning the use and future operation of its existing Station Road store as
discussed by the applicant’s representative below:


Issues with the current store

Page 11

“The letter highlights the significant issues with the current store and Aldi’s
attempts over the best part of a decade to find a new site in Buxton. The issues
with the existing store are of such significance that there is a risk that the retailer
will be forced to close their existing store in the future and rely upon their existing
modern format stores at Chapel-en-le-Frith and Bakewell to serve their customer
base. Whilst such instances are always the last resort for the retailer, Aldi have
been forced to close first generation stores such as this in the past including
stores within Manchester, Rochdale and Blackpool. Such an occurrence would
result in the loss of an important retailer to the town and result in trade being lost
outside Buxton and an increase in the need for local residents to travel further
afield”.


How the existing store is used and how the new store will be used

“In terms of how existing customers will use the store, there is no existing data
held by Aldi on where customer’s live or how they travel to the store given that
Aldi do not operate a customer loyalty/rewards scheme from which data could be
gathered. Likewise, there is no data available through the Council Retail Study.
Nevertheless, Aldi have a strong understanding of their customer base, and how
their Buxton customers use their store including the significant focus on larger
trolley / main-food shopping trips, with average customer spend being around
25% greater than the company average.
The Aldi letter clearly highlights that much of its customer base are undertaking
very large trolley / main-food shopping trips at the store and as such are likely to
already be reliant upon car-based trips to serve these. Those customers who are
currently walking or cycling to the store, are likely doing this as the store will be
their closest and such customers are therefore less pre-disposed to change
shopping patterns to continue visiting the relocated store, instead choosing to visit
another existing store nearby (e.g. Waitrose or Iceland) which provide a good
offer. Nevertheless, the southern part of the town does not benefit from easy
access to any foodstores and as such existing residents in this area will no longer
have to make these longer trips to the existing Aldi or Morrisons stores.
Dealing solely with the new Foxlow Farm development, the new residents living
on the site will generate around £2.0million in annual convenience goods
expenditure, which is a significant amount and almost a half of the increase in
turnover associated with the proposed Aldi store”.


The inability to deliver an appropriately sized store on the existing site
including mezzanine floorspace

“The potential for the existing store to be re-developed or remodelled to meet the
needs of Aldi have been extensively considered by Aldi and there is no ability to
provide sufficient floorspace and car parking, even with the use of mezzanine
floors, noting that modestly sized foodstores such as this, and their servicing
model, do not allow for customer or goods storage to be split across floors.
Splitting customer floorspace across two floors would require the installation of
travellators for trollies, significantly increasing the floorspace required across the
store and would be unattractive for customers who generally want to undertake
their convenience goods shopping in a manner that is quick, and convenient to

Page 12

them. Travelling between floors, multiple times if something is forgotten will be
time consuming and likely to deter customers from using the store. As such, it is
clear that a store with mezzanine provision cannot meet the needs of the
proposed development whilst all other options have been considered in detail and
clearly highlight that it is not possible to accommodate a store of the size required
plus sufficient on-site customer parking”.


Why two smaller Aldi stores cannot be supported in Buxton.

Finally, Aldi have set out why they cannot, and would not, operate two smaller
foodstores within the town as these would fail to provide the offer and range of
goods that Aldi customer’s expect.
The role of the Local Centre and Design
The applicant’s representative has provided further commentary in response to
the following points raised by Members:


The role of the local centre and meeting local need

“Comments were raised that the proposed development would not deliver the
local centre that was envisaged through the outline planning permission, or
planned through the Local Plan with the view that it would not solely meet
localised needs. It is important to note that the proposed mix and scale of uses
will still principally be focused on serving the local area with the children’s nursery
and parade of small units proposed entirely to meet this purpose.
The small parade of units being proposed at Foxlow will complement the
foodstore and provide good local amenities for local people. During the pandemic
there has been a real resurgence in quality local and regional operators who have
adopted a more resilient approach to deal with the changing restrictions no doubt
benefitting from reduced commuting and being able to attract a greater proportion
of locally generated expenditure. This is a trend which is continuing as restrictions
are lifted.
As such, whilst a full marketing campaign has yet to be launched, and would only
be done so upon the grant of planning permission, the applicant; HDD envisages
that the focus for the units will be on these quality local and regional operators
and have already secured a keen interest from an independent coffee shop which
is linked to cycling and walking. This operator already has two existing shops in
the Peak District and are looking to expand their offer to Buxton. Interest has also
been expressed for other uses and the following type of uses are those which will
be targeted to occupy the proposed units:






Health and Beauty;
Hair Dressers;
Regional Bakers;
Gents Barbers; and
Veterinary Practice.

In terms of the proposed nursery use, HDD are in discussions with a local nursery
operator who already has two other nursery’s locally and is looking to expand

Page 13

their business to the site. This would complement the wider development,
providing an important local facility within walking distance of its target catchment.
Whilst the proposed Aldi store will undoubtedly attract customers from a wider
area, it will still serve a local function and provide a foodstore to the south of the
town in an area that has no such provision. The current closest foodstore to the
site is the Morrisons store off Bakewell Road, however there are no bus routes
between the south of the town and the store, without first having to travel into the
town centre.
In any case, it is important to highlight that the local centre approved through the
outline planning permission and promoted in the Local Plan, allows for and
promotes a wide range of uses which would draw employees or visitors from
beyond the immediate local area and instead serve / attract those across the
wider Buxton area and beyond. These uses include business space, offices and
leisure uses which would have clearly attracted people from further afield, and
further away than Aldi customers are likely to travel.
It is also important to note that almost 7 years has passed since the original
application was approved, yet the proposals represent the first scheme that has
been submitted in order to bring forward a local centre on the site and deliver the
local facilities for new and existing residents as envisaged by the site’s allocation.
This lack of progress in delivering a local centre to date serves to hi ghlight the
difficulties in delivering a viable scheme in this location and securing potential end
uses / occupiers, something that has been made more challenging in the last 18
months given increasing construction costs and, at best, flat rental levels for the
uses to be delivered for the local centre”.


Design and Sustainability Matters

“Comments were made by your officers, and referred to by Members, regarding
the proposed use of timber cladding on the proposed parade of small retail units.
The applicants are happy to substitute this for a painted render, of a colour to be
determined, similar to that proposed for the nursery unit, if that is considered
more appropriate and desirable by members. We have submitted plans as to how
this would look to officer’s (plan ref. 1240-320 Rev G).
As set out in our previous letter prior to committee, it is not possible to incorporate
a ‘green roof’ on the proposed Aldi store, or any of the other buildings, due to the
impact that this would have on the structure of the Aldi store and scheme viability.
Advice on this has been sought from structural engineers who confirmed that the
increased load generated by green roof technology would require the proposed
structures and foundations to be strengthened, beyond that required for traditional
roof materials. The letter from Aldi stores provides further information on this and
estimates an increase to construction costs of £1 million in order to provide a
green roof on the foodstore. Such a significant increase in costs could not be
absorbed without making the construction of the store unviable.
Aside from the costs implications, the introduction of a green roof would also
result in a significant increase in CO2 emissions thought the construction process
associated with the manufacture of the additional steel and concrete required to
support this, even before allowance is made for the transport, manufacture and
maintenance (including watering) of the actual green roof technology. Generally

Page 14

green roof technology is employed on taller structures with more than a single
storey and which already have stronger steel frames and foundations to allow for
the additional storeys.
The costs of this are so prohibitive that they would hamper efforts to deliver a
local centre facility in this location and retain Aldi in the town with the costs of this
and the maintenance having to be passed onto the end occupiers which could
make attracting occupiers even more challenging. In any case, it is important to
note that a green roof on the store, or any other unit, has not been requested by
response on heritage, design or biodiversity and it is important to consider the
roof design in its context of being surrounded by 395 non-green roofs due to, and
currently being, delivered across the wider site.
In terms of biodiversity, the scheme has been designed to deliver the greatest
number of ‘credits’ with the scheme incorporating wildflower meadow planting
across the site, and a significant number of new trees. It should also be noted that
there is a net gain of 0.29 hedgerow units delivered by the proposals. Whilst it is
not possible to combine the unit values of both components of the biodiversity
calculations, the net gain in hedge units demonstrates a commitment to providing
suitable enhancement in the context of the scheme. The applicant has agreed to
make a financial contribution, as agreed with the Derbyshire Wildlife Trust to
offset the small number of habitat units being lost and help fund biodiversity net
gain elsewhere within Buxton.
In terms of the sustainability of the scheme, the Aldi letter enclosed provides
further details on the sustainable features proposed within the new store which
includes an air source heat pump heat recovery system which reduces energy
demand in new stores and provides all of the foodstores heating demands,
removing the need for an independent gas heating system. Alongside this, other
sustainability measures are incorporated into the design including low energy
lighting, underfloor heating and electric vehicle charging points. In comparison,
the existing store does not include this technology given that it was originally
constructed over 20 years ago and as such the proposals represent a step
change in sustainability of the Aldi foodstore to serve Buxton.
Even given the significant sustainability technologies included in the proposed
store, Aldi would be willing to install some solar voltaic panels on the roof to
generate green energy, via a scheme to be agreed by condition, given the nature
of solar panels it is noted that these are likely to be more visible from the
surrounding area than the current roof plan / materials. Nevertheless, it is noted
that several of the units on the adjacent Staden Business Park do have solar
panels on roofs. We are happy to make the offer to members who will no doubt
be guided by officers on this matter”.


Nursery Drop-off and Outdoor Space

“Comment was made regarding the drop off arrangements for parents / guardians
to the nursery within the car park and the potential use of shared spaces intended
for this purpose by foodstore customers. At the outset, those spaces located
closest to the nursery which would be used by staff and parents / guardians are
located furthest away from the store entrance and are unlikely to be used by
those shopping at the foodstore. Nevertheless, the car parking and site plans

Page 15

have been altered to provide an extra parking space directly in front of the
nursery and additional controls proposed which would ensure that these are
marked and used solely for nursery drop off / pick up. This can be seen on the
submitted car parking plan (Ref. 1240-CPP Rev B). This will help ensure that
there is easy and sufficient parking spaces for those using the nursery.

Members also commented on the potential to deliver a flat roof on the proposed
nursery building which could then be used for outdoor space with the Nursery.
This would materially affect the appearance of the building but in any case is not
considered necessary as sufficient outdoor space would be made available within
the garden areas of the nursery. HDD have delivered in excess of 20 children’s
day nurseries in all types of locations, as a consequence HDD have excellent
relationships with the key national and regional operators and based on these
discussions, the potential of a roof top garden would not be an option, or
requirement in this location.
Roof top gardens are a last resort in major cities where green external space is
not available and even then, it is a rarity. In no circumstances would they operate
a roof top garden when there is green outdoor space at ground floor and where
they can simply open the rear classroom doors and give the children the
opportunity to play both indoors and outdoors”.
3. PLANNING BALANCE & CONCLUSIONS
3.1 The starting point for the determination of any planning application is section
38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which is to be read
in conjunction with section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
Section 38(6) states that planning applications should be determined in
accordance with the development plan, unless there are material considerations
which indicate otherwise.
3.2 Whilst the application proposes a greater amount of convenience retail
floorspace than that envisaged by the Adopted Local Plan for the Foxlow Farm

Page 16

Local Centre and fallback position; the scheme, however, is considered to be
compliant with Local Plan policies in relation to the principle of the uses proposed
to achieve compliance with the requirements of LP Policies CF1 ‘Retail and Town
Centres’ and DS20 ‘Land off Ashbourne Road and Foxlow Farm’ in particular and
the NPPF regarding retail impact assessment in relation to town centre vitality
and viability. This approach therefore would be subject to the imposition of
suitably worded planning conditions including a limitation on the proposed
foodstore to effectively restrict the operation of the foodstore to a discounter
model as well as legal agreement restricing the agreement limiting the future
convenience good floorspace of the existing Aldi Station Road store to 429.0sqm
going forward.
3.3 The scheme raises no adverse impacts in terms of amenity, drainage,
underground archaeology, ecology / biodiversity and highway safety matters as a
result of the proposed Local Centre scheme.
3.4 Set against this, the layout and design of some parts of the Local Centre
scheme fail to respect the Ancient Monument setting and Harpur Hill site gateway
into Buxton with particular regard to the more intensive form of development and
reduced site area over and above the fallback position. As a result, there are
some concerns that the Local Centre would not deliver a development which
overall responds positively to its environment or would fully contribute towards
local distinctiveness.
3.5 In terms of resultant heritage harm, the NPPF requires the public benefits of
the scheme to be weighed against any resultant harm, which in this case would
be less than substantial.
3.6 With this in mind, the new foodstore development as part of the Local Centre
scheme would have significant sustainability benefits when considered on its own
merits by providing a retail facility that could meet both the main food shopping
and top-up shopping needs of the large number of residents who would occupy
the new residential development at Foxlow Farm. Together, the scheme would
also provide further community service and facility delivery with associated
economic growth including job creation. It is esticmated that the new Aldi store
would provide between 40-50 new jobs with the other elements providing
approximately 50 jobs. Taking all of these matters into account it is considered
that the public benefits associated with the development would outweigh the less
than substantial harm to the heritage asset.
3.7 The application scheme, whilst it is considered to be more balanced in
respect of layout and design matters, nevertheless represents sustainable
development under the terms of the Adopted Local Plan and NPPF.
3.8 It is considered that the applicant has addressed by way of the additional
information as summarised above the concerns and queries raised by Members
at their previous meeting Accordingly, the Local Centre scheme is therefore
recommended for approval.
4. RECOMMENDATIONS

Page 17

A. APPROVE, subject to conditions and legal agreement(s) to secure
financial contributions towards offsite ecology mitigation, highway
monitoring / TRO and travel plan as well as the restriction of
convenience floorspace regarding the existing Aldi Foodstore,
Station Road and conditions as follows:
1. Standard 3-year time limit;
2. Approved plans (TBC);
3. Development Phasing
Foodstore Restrictions
4. Limit amount for food store floorspace to 1,804m2 (1,315m2 sales
area) with no more than 20% comparison goods
5. Limit the amount of retail floorspace (557m2 GIA) within the 5
proposed retail units (uses as applied for)
6. No additional floor area within the food store through the installation
of a mezzanine
7. Restriction of foodstore to discounter store
Nursery & Retail Restrictions
8. Removal of use class permitted development in relation to the
nursery and retail units
Character and Appearance
9. Facing / Hard surfacing Materials
10. Boundary treatment, including retaining walls
11. Solar Roof Panels design and implementation
12. Scheme of Repair, Maintenance and retention of dry stone walls.
13. Levels
14. Detailed landscaping, phasing and implementation, including LEMP
Ecology
15. Bat and Bird Boxes
16. Badger Protection during construction
17. No ground clearance during bird nesting season unless otherwise
approved
Highways
18. New vehicular access prior to any other operation
19. Parking etc. to be provided prior to occupation
20. 55 spaces to be made available to all Local Centre Users
21. Aldi store to provide showers, lockers etc (revised floorplan TBC)
Environmental Health
22. CEMP
23. Noise Source Protection

Page 18

24. Artificial Lighting
25. Acoustic fencing to nursery
26. Control of operational, including delivery times
27. Securing X Electrical Vehicle Charging Points and future
infrastructure
Drainage / Flood Risk
28. Design and associated management and maintenance plan of the
surface water drainage
29. Details of how additional surface water run-off from the site will be
avoided during the construction phase
30. Verification Report to demonstrate construction of approved
drainage system and management company
Mineral Water Quality
31. Oil receptors and maintenance plan
Archaeology
32. Development in accordance with approved WSI
B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add
conditions/informatives/planning
obligations
or reasons
for
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Head of
Development Services has delegated authority to do so in
consultation with the Chairman of the Development Control
Committee, provided that the changes do not exceed the substantive
nature of the Committee’s decision.
Site Plan

Page 19

Page 20

APPENDICES
APPENDIX A Applicant’s Highways Consultant’s Note September 2021
APPENDIX B Aldi Submission September 2021

Page 21

This page is intentionally left blank

Project Number:
Project Title:
Location:

16-0254
Proposed Mixed Use Development, Foxlow, Buxton
Land off A515 Ashbourne Road, Foxlow, Buxton

Highways Response
Cross Town Journeys to the Store
Our Transport Assessment has used the TRICS database to estimate the number of vehicle trips to and
from the proposed development. This is standard practice in Transport Assessment work, and estimates
the number of car journeys to and from the site by comparing the site to a number of existing similar sites.
The trip generation for the proposed development has therefore been determined by considering existing
sites in edge of town, edge of town centre and neighbourhood centre locations.
The overall trips generated have then been split onto the highway network, with 75% of the trips assumed
to be travelling to and from Buxton, as was agreed with Derbyshire County Council (DCC). This amounts
to an increase in trips when compared with the outline planning permission of just 32 trips per hour in the
afternoon peak and 3 trips per hour in the morning peak. As a reference, there are currently approximately
1800 vehicle movements through the ‘Fiveways’ junction during the busiest hour period.
The relocation of the Aldi store would not be expected to result in a significant number of additional trips
across the town centre. There are other food stores within Buxton town centre, including Iceland, Co-op
and Morrisons. Many of the existing Aldi customers may use one of the alternative town centre stores
instead. While some existing customers from north of Buxton may travel across town to visit the new Aldi,
this is captured by the transport assessment modelling carried out with an assumption the vast majority
of trips to the site would come from the Buxton side of the site. Furthermore, the expected number of
additional trips across town would be offset by the benefit of the new Aldi store removing the need for
residents south of Buxton to travel in to Buxton town centre.
Accessibility to the Aldi Store and its Impact on Trip Generation.
As outlined above, the trip generation for the site has been estimated using the TRICS database. This is
done by selecting a range of sites with the TRICS database, that are similar to the proposed development.
Each of the sites within TRICS would potentially have issues that make those sites less sustainable,
ranging from lack of public transport services, long walking distances to residential areas, lack of cycle
lanes / cycle parking etc.
Overall, the proposed development is considered to be in a sustainable location and will become more
so through the delivery of the planned local centre. There are bus stops immediately outside the site, and
existing and proposed footways connecting the site. The site will be located to provide a local centre to a
wider development area, including approximately 400 new residential dwellings, which will provide
excellent opportunity for walking and cycling trips to the site. While the TA does not specifically account
for the topography, the positive features of the sustainability of the site are such that the trip generation
determined from the existing sites within TRICS can be considered to be reliable and a large proportion
of local residents would clearly have the opportunity to walk and cycle to the store noting the planned
connections through the residential development to the surrounding residential areas.

Page 23

Project Number:
Project Title:
Location:

16-0254
Proposed Mixed Use Development, Foxlow, Buxton
Land off A515 Ashbourne Road, Foxlow, Buxton

The Impact of Other Planned Developments
The TA does not account for planned residential developments. DCC were consulted with regard to
committed development sites, and DCC did not require any committed sites to be included in our
assessments. Looking at the list of ‘relevant sites’, most do not currently have any permission in place
and as such would be required to assess the Foxlow Farm local centre as a planned/committed
development when assessing the impact of their proposed development. The sites to the north of Buxton
with a permission in place, are of a relatively small scale, including Batham Gate Road, Hardwick Square
and Station Road, which are all for 30 dwellings or less. The population of Buxton is approximately 22000,
and this number of additional dwellings would not therefore be expected to make any material difference
to the traffic patterns. Furthermore, this is offset by the planned residential developments, which do have
planning permission, located in the near vicinity of the site including Foxlow Farm (circa 400 dwellings)
and the Harpur Hill College Campus (circa 150 dwellings), which will benefit from the close proximity of
the proposed development.

Page 24

ALDI STORES LIMITED

Logistics North, Bridgewater Avenue, Bolton, BL5 1EE

Rachael Simpkin
High Peak Borough Council
Buxton Town Hall
Market Place
Buxton
Derbyshire
SK17 6EL

By Email:
Dear Ms Simpkin,
HPK/2021/0145 - Full planning application for the development of a Local Centre comprising a foodstore (Use
Class E (a)), children’s day nursey (Use Class E (f)) and flexible commercial/retail units (Use Class E and Sui
Generis (hot food takeaway, veterinary surgery, public house/drinking establishment)) along with parking,
access and other associated works
Land at Foxlow Farm, Harpur Hill Road, Harpur Hill, Buxton, Derbyshire
Response to Committee Resolution on behalf of Aldi Stores Ltd
I write in connection with the above site on behalf of Aldi Stores Ltd (‘Aldi’). As you will be aware, Aldi will be the
operator of the foodstore to which this planning application relates and we are therefore fully supportive of the
proposals. Aldi is already a key investor and employer in the High Peak, with existing foodstores within Glossop,
Buxton and Chapel-en-le-Frith. We are committed to relocating from our 20-year old ‘first generation’ Station Road
foodstore in Buxton to a modern, larger replacement at Foxlow Farm (an emerging local centre).
The purpose of this letter is to provide some further information in relation to Aldi, and specifically our existing and
proposed foodstores within Buxton. Having attended High Peak BC’s Development Control Committee of 13th
September 2021, where our planning application was deferred, we noted down a number of questions raised by
Councillors and felt that it would be beneficial to the decision making process to provide clarity on these points. I
would therefore be very grateful if you could share the contents of this letter with the members of your planning
committee.
The questions raised are answered under the following headings. However, firstly, we set out a brief history of our
Station Road foodstore and explain why it is critical for our business that we relocate to new premises in Buxton.
The history of Aldi’s Station Road foodstore and the operational issues now faced
Aldi currently serves the Buxton catchment from our Station Road foodstore, which is located to the north of the town
centre. This store was constructed in 1999 and is now nearly 23 years old. It is a ‘first generation’ store which means
that it is now one of the oldest in our north-west portfolio. When originally constructed, the store had a net sales area
of 720 sq. m which, at the time, was commensurate with our trading format and size requirements.

Page 25

Registered Office: Holly Lane, Atherstone, Warwickshire CV9 2SQ
Registered in England and Wales, registration number 2321869

ALDI STORES LIMITED

Logistics North, Bridgewater Avenue, Bolton, BL5 1EE

However, the past two decades have seen our popularity increase dramatically, with UK consumers becoming more
price conscious and appreciating the sustained quality of the Aldi offer. As a result, older stores such as Station Road
have begun to suffer severe ongoing operational difficulties because they are based on a trading format which is
outdated and simply too small to meet the demands of our growing customer base.
To put this into context with the Station Road store specifically; its original net sales area was 720 sq. m and whilst this
was extended marginally during the 2000’s to provide a net sales area of 850 sq. m, our modern format stores involve
a notably larger net sales area of 1,315 sq. m. This is over 80% larger than Station Road’s sales area as originally
constructed, and 55% larger than the sales area as extended.
This considerable difference in size between our first generation foodstores and our latest trading format results in
two key problem areas for us as a retailer:


Consumer Satisfaction – Our increased popularity has meant that older stores such as Buxton – which
performs very strongly for its size – has begun to suffer severe operational constraints, such as a heavily
congested car park, crowded aisles, and lengthily queues at tills during peak periods. This leads to frustration
for our consumers and is not what they expect from a modern Aldi foodstore. Such constraints therefore
reflect negatively on our brand and over time can lead to customers choosing to shop at a different retailer
locally or travelling further afield to visit a more modern format Aldi store, such as that in Chapel-en-le-Frith.



Viability Implications – The cornerstone of Aldi’s ‘deep discount’ business model is to maximise efficiencies in
order to reduce costs which can in turn be passed on to the consumer. However, smaller outdated store
formats such as Buxton prevent these efficiencies being realised. For example, the limited sales area prevents
products being displayed on palates and requires our staff to replenish shelves with fewer items more
frequently. It also impacts upon deliveries, with the store needing to be serviced more frequently given its
lack of shelf space and back-of-house storage areas. These issues are compounded by other operational costs
associated with the store’s age. For example, the dated and inefficient heating and cooling systems which are
expensive to run and of greater harm to the environment.

Given the evident operational challenges associated with Aldi continuing to trade from first generation stores such
Station Road, it is hardly surprising that we have been seeking an alternative site for a modern format foodstore in
Buxton for most of the past decade. Indeed, members should be aware that having been unable to identify any
‘suitable’ and ‘available’ town centre sites (despite extensive searches), we expressed our interest in the emerging
local centre at Foxlow Farm following suggestions of its potential and suitability by High Peak Borough Council’s own
planning and regeneration officers. This came about through discussions regarding the Station Road store’s longterm future, and in order to retain an Aldi presence within the town.
In circumstances such as this, where an existing store no longer meets operational requirements, our strong
preference is to deliver a modern, fit-for-purpose replacement such as that proposed at Foxlow Farm. Recent
examples of settlements where this has been successfully achieved include our store relocations in Altrincham and
Leyland. However, where relocation (or on-site replacement) is not possible, and a store’s operational constraints
persist, we have had to take the difficult decision to close these first generation outlets without direct replacements

Page 26

Registered Office: Holly Lane, Atherstone, Warwickshire CV9 2SQ
Registered in England and Wales, registration number 2321869

ALDI STORES LIMITED

Logistics North, Bridgewater Avenue, Bolton, BL5 1EE

and rely on our wider network of regional stores to serve the local customer base. Recent examples of where we have
been forced to do this include the closure of older stores in Openshaw, Rochdale and Blackpool.
Accordingly, whilst our strong preference is to continue to serve Buxton from a new, fit-for-purpose modern foodstore
at Foxlow Farm, if this is not possible then we cannot rule out closing our inefficient first generation store at Station
Road and relying on our existing outlets in Bakewell and Chapel-en-le-Frith to serve Buxton and its surrounding rural
catchment. Leaving Buxton is clearly not a scenario that either we as a retailer or, we anticipate, the residents of
Buxton would want.
In summary, given our extensive searches for a new store in Buxton over the past decade, the current proposals at
Foxlow Farm local centre represent the only opportunity to ensure that we can continue to trade successfully in this
settlement, thereby securing existing jobs and delivering new jobs for local people. For the reasons outlined, our
Station Road unit is simply not a long-term solution and will ultimately need to close.
Why can’t two smaller ‘City Centre’ format Aldi foodstores be provided in Buxton instead of the single store format
proposed?
Whilst we do operate a ‘city centre’ format this, as the name suggests, is only viable in certain major city centre
locations and contains a very different scaled-down offer to a typical Aldi foodstore.
For example, product lines within a city centre store are reduced down to the most popular day-to-day items and
some are omitted altogether – given the much more limited floorspace available. This format operates more like a
convenience store, requiring a constant stream of visitors purchasing a low volume of day-to-day goods on a frequent
basis. Accordingly, to be viable, this format needs to be located in extremely high footfall locations. A rural town such
as Buxton simply does not generate the necessary footfall on a daily basis even in the heart of the town centre, let
alone in a more peripheral location such as Station Road, or a local centre such as Foxlow Farm.
There are no examples of Aldi providing such a store format outside a major city centre (i.e. London or Manchester)
and nor would it be viable for us to do so. Furthermore, we would add that the approach would in fact put Buxton
residents at a considerable disadvantage, providing them with two stores which do not stock our full product range or
provide the same offer that is already available in Aldi stores in other settlements.
This is ultimately likely to result in Buxton residents travelling unsustainably to larger alternatives such as our Chapelen-le-Frith store in order to access our full product range and true ‘Aldi experience’. It is also a further reason why it
simply would not be viable to construct two limited-line stores – their sales expectations would be compromised from
the outset by the very fact that local people knew a more complete Aldi offer was available in other settlements.
Why can’t a mezzanine or first floor be installed in the Station Road foodstore to address its size constraints, rather
than relocating the store altogether?
Our existing Station Road foodstore does not have the ceiling height to accommodate a mezzanine. This means that
the existing building would need to be demolished and rebuilt from the ground up to achieve a mezzanine or first
floor level. Such an approach would be cost prohibitive. It is not something that we could support from a viability
perspective and, if we were forced to pursue it, would result in us having to close the foodstore.

Page 27

Registered Office: Holly Lane, Atherstone, Warwickshire CV9 2SQ
Registered in England and Wales, registration number 2321869

ALDI STORES LIMITED

Logistics North, Bridgewater Avenue, Bolton, BL5 1EE

Notwithstanding this fact, even if the building was capable of accommodating a mezzanine level, it would not be
workable to do so from an operational perspective for the following reasons / factors:


Firstly, there are no examples of split level sales floors across our foodstore portfolio. It is not something that
would ever be viable for us to do given our business model and can be robustly ruled out.



Secondly, our foodstore goods warehouses need to be at ground floor level such is our standardised servicing
procedure. This involves goods being wheeled at-grade from the delivery vehicle into the warehouse via a
‘dock-leveller’ ramp. Again, there are no examples of goods being stored at upper levels in Aldi’s store
portfolio, as this would involve a bespoke, expensive and inefficient goods lift arrangement.



Thirdly, whilst staff facilities could hypothetically be accommodated at mezzanine or first floor level, the area
of this space typically only extends to 100 sq. m or so. Accordingly, in the case of Buxton for example, gaining
another 100 sq. m would make no material difference to the overall inadequacy of the existing sales floor.

To conclude on this question, it goes without saying that we have explored all options available to deliver a larger
store on the Station Road site over a number of years. This is on the basis that we own the land and therefore, if
achievable, an on-site extension or replacement would be preferable and more cost effective than delivering and offsite replacement. However, the site is simply not large enough and even if we hypothetically look beyond our
standard store requirements, the site is too constrained and small to accommodate the type of store that our business
and customers require.
How are Aldi’s foodstores typically used and, in particular, what are the trading characteristics of the Station Road,
Buxton store? Who Visits?
Aldi does not have a readily available source of data regarding where our existing customers live, and how they travel
to store, given that we do not operate a loyalty/rewards card programme (as some of our competitors do) to gather
information about customer shopping habits. However, the following summarises our knowledge of how the Station
Road store operates, and how it attracts custom based on its trading performance, offer, and our experience of similar
stores across Aldi’s north-west portfolio.
The core retail offer within an Aldi foodstore (approximately 80% of the net sales area) seeks to replicate the most
regularly purchased items within a household’s weekly or ‘bulk’ food shopping trip. The vast majority of products
stocked are Aldi branded and through economies-of-scale these goods can be sold at heavily discounted prices
without impacting upon quality. Stock is generally presented on pallets, within packing cases, to aid efficiency and
reduce unnecessary overheads. Savings which can then be passed directly on to the consumer.
Our focus on stocking and selling the key products that typically make up a household’s bulk food shopping trip
means that we do not sell certain ‘ancillary’ lines that are normally found in mainstream supermarkets, including,
tobacco or unwrapped bread/cakes. In addition, there is no store butchery, delicatessen or hot food-counter, and our
foodstore format does not accommodate customer restaurants, or in-store franchises such as pharmacies, drycleaning, Post Offices, opticians or photo processing.

Page 28

Registered Office: Holly Lane, Atherstone, Warwickshire CV9 2SQ
Registered in England and Wales, registration number 2321869

ALDI STORES LIMITED

Logistics North, Bridgewater Avenue, Bolton, BL5 1EE

A number of the product ranges that we choose not to stock (tobacco, freshly baked goods, hot-food) are often those
that form the basis of a consumer’s ‘top-up’ shopping trip. As such, we have found that ‘top-up’ shoppers only form a
small proportion of our customer base, with the majority undertaking less frequent but more substantial bulk food
shopping trips and a significant proportion choosing to travel by car to do so in order to allow easy transport of a full
shopping trolley of goods back home.
An obvious example of an Aldi foodstore’s focus on attracting bulk food shoppers is the long till conveyors that hold a
full shopping trolley of goods in order to allow products to be unloaded, scanned and then packed efficiently by our
customers. Such an arrangement is simply not used in supermarkets that are anticipating a large volume of limited
item convenience goods shoppers – where self-scan checkouts are the modern solution.
In terms of our Buxton store, it is evident that this currently functions as described above, with a product offer very
much focussed on staple food goods, long till conveyors tailored to the needs of bulk food shoppers, and no selfscanning facilities. We can also confirm that the average spend per customer in the Buxton store is currently broadly
25% above our company average1. This means that the vast majority of our customers are undertaking larger ‘bulk’
food shopping trips associated with a ‘weekly shop’ and are more pre-disposed to travel to the store by car in order to
transport their heavy bags of shopping home. The average spend per customer would have to be well below
company average if this store was predominantly being as a top-up / basket shopper destination, some of which are
likely to arrive by alternative means of transport.
Drawing the above together, our foodstores are primarily geared towards the needs of ‘bulk’ food shoppers, and the
existing Buxton store is no exception. Our recorded sales data also fully supports this, with the Station Road store
having a particularly high average spend per customer – a figure only achievable if the vast majority of shoppers are
visiting to undertake their bulk food shopping trip. Such customers are more likely to already be driving to the store,
given their need to transport multiple heavy bags of goods. This will include customers from the south of Buxton.
Accordingly, our proposed relocation site at Foxlow Farm will not result in an increase in car usage, attracting
predominantly bulk food shoppers who are already likely visiting our Station Road facility by car. Meanwhile, those
who currently travel to the Station Road store for smaller shopping trips, and those who may be arriving on foot/cycle,
are less likely to continue to use the proposed Aldi store in favour of using other foodstore provision in the local area –
including Waitrose and Iceland in the town centre. This reflects the fact that customers undertaking smaller ‘top-up’
food shopping trips generally do so at their closest stores/facility.
What are the sustainability credentials of the proposed foodstore when compared to the existing Station Road store?

What our Latest Generation Foodstores Provide
Our latest foodstore format, which we hope to bring to Buxton at Foxlow Farm, contains a wide range of sustainability
features. These features have been developed and refined as our trading format has evolved over the past two
decades. Some of the key sustainability measures that our new foodstores incorporate are as follows:

Note. Monetary sales data is commercially sensitive information and cannot be disclosed, hence our
reference to the percentage difference.
1

Page 29

Registered Office: Holly Lane, Atherstone, Warwickshire CV9 2SQ
Registered in England and Wales, registration number 2321869

ALDI STORES LIMITED

Logistics North, Bridgewater Avenue, Bolton, BL5 1EE



All internal / external lighting utilises LED technology to minimise energy demand.



The building fabric performance of our new stores is enhanced by the use of materials with low U values. This
reduces the air permeability of the development, minimising heating requirements.



All new stores benefit from underfloor heating, which is far more efficient and environmentally sustainable
than fan-driven hot air ducts historically used in foodstores.



In our new stores all chillers benefit from doors, vastly improving their insulation and resulting in a
requirement for smaller refrigeration plant.



A pulsed water meter would be installed to monitor water use. Toilets and sinks also draw upon latest water
reduction technologies.



Electric vehicle charging points are now standard in all of our new store car parks and we install the belowground infrastructure to expand numbers over time in-line with demand.

Notwithstanding the above measures, the most significant sustainability feature which is provided as standard on all
of our new foodstores is a sophisticated Air Source Heat Pump ‘heat recovery system’. In order to minimise energy
demand in our stores, we re-use and re-cycle any waste energy where possible. The greatest area to recover energy
in a foodstore is the ‘waste heat’ generated by the refrigeration system. This is recovered to sustainably heat the
building.
The waste heat is harnessed via a CO2 refrigerant lead heat recovery system that ejects the waste heat into a low
temperature hot water heating circuit which in turn provides heat to an underfloor heating array on the sales floor.
This system provides 100% of the total foodstore heating demand and has totally removed the need for an
independent gas heating system. The underfloor heating provides heat to the store with a high percentage of radiant
heat, minimising the negative affect that the sales floor chillers have on the store heating.
With all of the energy demand required to heat the building being recovered from re-usable energy, and heating
being a major part of any building’s energy usage, we have actually calculated that over 40% of the energy demand
for our latest foodstores is now being generated on-site by re-usable energy.
Drawing the above together, Air Source Heat Pump technology results in our foodstores being exceptionally efficient
in terms off-site energy requirements (which are minimised). Re-using and reducing energy usage is clearly
preferable to new energy generation in the energy hierarchy (even when generated via renewable means). Our
approach is therefore evidently a far more environmentally friendly one than say an inefficient foodstore building that
happens to have an on-site renewable energy source.

What our First Generation Stores Provided
Comparing the above list of latest sustainability features to that of our first generation foodstores is a short exercise, as
they simply do not incorporate such measures. The Buxton store, for example, was constructed over 20 years ago
when both our trading format and available technology was very different.
In short, the current store’s heating, cooling, lighting and water usage systems are all far less efficient than we would
like them to be, which makes the store expensive to run and of course is not preferable from an environmental

Page 30

Registered Office: Holly Lane, Atherstone, Warwickshire CV9 2SQ
Registered in England and Wales, registration number 2321869

ALDI STORES LIMITED

Logistics North, Bridgewater Avenue, Bolton, BL5 1EE

perspective. The most significant difference is the lack of a heat recovery system. The Station Road store therefore
relies on an inefficient gas powered heating system to cater for heating demand – something that simply isn’t
required in our new foodstores. This invariably results in it having a much higher energy demand per square metre of
floorspace than our latest model.

Sustainability – Conclusions
I hope that the above summary has outlined the gulf between our first generation foodstores and the latest models,
in terms of the sustainability features that we seek to incorporate. These measures are integral to the design, layout
and construction of our modern foodstores and are not therefore features that can simply be ‘retrofitted’. This again
goes to the heart of why we are looking to relocate from our Station Road site, with the first generation building being
inefficient, costly to run, and no longer in-keeping with our business’s energy reduction objectives.

Can a ‘green roof’ be accommodated on this foodstore?
Unfortunately a Green Roof is not something we are able to accommodate as part of our foodstore format. A feature of
all foodstores is an expansive roof area to cover a typically rectangular sales floor. Suspending this roof requires a
considerable amount of steelwork and this is already one of the most expensive elements of a foodstore’s
construction.
As you can imagine, a ‘green roof’ needs to accommodate both plants and their irrigation system (i.e. water) and are
therefore much heavier to suspend than the typical roof of a commercial structure. Accordingly, the amount of steel
required for construction is greater, its design and fabrication would need to be bespoke and there would be knock
on effects to other aspects of the build – such as the foundations and potentially building layout.
We estimate that accommodating a green roof on this scheme could increase the overall cost of construction by in the
order of £1,000,000 – largely driven by the additional steelwork. Put simply, this not a cost increase that could be
absorbed without making the foodstore’s construction unviable. Accordingly, it is not something we can consider and,
indeed, is not something we have provided on any of the 100 or so other Aldi foodstores in this region.
Conclusion
I trust that this letter has provided members of your Development Control Committee with some useful further
information about Aldi and is of use in them coming to a decision on this planning application. The granting of
permission will allow us to make a further, significant investment in High Peak borough – providing for residents’ dayto-day food shopping requirements and creating new local jobs as part of a new foodstore which is larger and better
suited to Buxton’s future needs.
As this letter has outlined, given our extensive searches for a new store in Buxton over the past decade, the current
proposals at Foxlow Farm local centre represent the only opportunity to ensure that we can continue to trade
successfully in this settlement. We have explained in detail that our Station Road unit is simply not a long-term
solution and will ultimately need to close.

Page 31

Registered Office: Holly Lane, Atherstone, Warwickshire CV9 2SQ
Registered in England and Wales, registration number 2321869

ALDI STORES LIMITED

Logistics North, Bridgewater Avenue, Bolton, BL5 1EE

I do hope that committee members will follow the planning team’s positive recommendation and support our
planning application, given the benefits that it will bring to Buxton. However, please could you let me know as soon as
possible if either you or committee members require any further information to support the application or clarification
on any of these matters and I shall be pleased to assist further. I look forward to hearing from you.

Yours sincerely

Mr Stuart Parks
Property Director

Page 32

Registered Office: Holly Lane, Atherstone, Warwickshire CV9 2SQ
Registered in England and Wales, registration number 2321869

APPENDIX C
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE
13th September 2021
Application No:
Location
Proposal

HPK/2021/0145
Land at Foxlow Farm, Buxton
Full planning application for the development of a Local
Centre comprising a foodstore (Use Class E (a)), children’s
day nursery (Use Class E (f)) and flexible commercial/retail
units (Use Class E and Sui Generis (hot food takeaway,
veterinary surgery, public house/drinking establishment))
along with parking, access and other associated works
Applicant
HDD Buxton Ltd, Aldi Stores Ltd, Philip Heathcote and
Hallam Land Management
Agent
n/a
Parish/Ward
Date registered: 29/03/2021
Buxton
If you have a question about this report please contact: Rachael Simpkin
rachael.simpkin@highpeak.gov.uk 01538 395400 extension 4122
REFERRAL
The full planning application is categorised as a small-scale major.
1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION
APPROVE, subject to conditions and legal agreements.

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS
2.1 The 1.64 ha (hectare) greenfield application site including access relates to
land at Foxlow Farm, A515 Ashbourne Road.
2.2 The site is situated within the Built-Up-Area Boundary approximately 2.4
kilometres to the southeast of Buxton Town Centre. It also forms part of Policy
Allocation DS20 ‘Land off Ashbourne Road and Foxlow Farm, Buxton’ as defined
by the Adopted High Peak Local Plan (2016). It also falls within the Buxton
Mineral Water Catchment Source Protection Zone 1 and Radon Potential Areas.
2.3 Foxlow Fields residential development ref. HPK/2017/0590 is currently under
construction as a single phase with the main access already formed off the
Ashbourne Road and some already constructed dwellings occupied to the site’s
frontage.
2.4 The local landform known as ‘Fox Low Bowl Barrow’, a SAM (Scheduled
Ancient Monument) lies c.80.0m to the south and southeast of the application
boundary within open countryside designated as a Landscape Character Area
and categorised as ‘Plateau Pastures’. The built character of the site’s

Page 33

surroundings is a mixture of both residential, commercial and employment uses,
including the Selden Business Park and Buxton Fire Station, which is located
opposite, to the east of the A515.
2.5 The wider Foxlow Farm site slopes downwards from the southwest whilst the
application site falls in a north easterly direction from the woodland copse across
the A515 Ashbourne Road frontage.
2.6 The nearest bus stop to the site is located along the northern / eastern
boundary alongside the A515 Ashbourne Road. Bus services operate along this
route and provide direct access into Buxton and Ashbourne. The Public Right of
Way ‘Footpath 51 (Buxton)’ passes through the site to connect the A515
Ashbourne Road to Harpur Hill Road.
3. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL
3.1 The applicant seeks full planning permission for a Local Centre comprising of
the following elements:


Aldi superstore (Class E(a)) – 1,804sqm GIA (Gross Internal Area) Twostorey building form with a broadly rectangular footprint inward facing
glazed frontage with mono-pitched roof.



A retail parade comprising 5 retail units - 557sqm split as 93.0sqm GIA
(overall: 37.0m x 27.5m x 4.9m) (Use Class E and Sui Generis (hot food
takeaway, veterinary surgery and public house/drinking establishment)).
Expressed as a broad L-shape arrangement inward facing with monopitched roof.



Nursery (Class E(f)) – 557sqm GIA (overall: 19.8m x 17.8m x 10.1m).
Two-storey building form with a broadly rectangular footprint, with a double
pitched roof form separated by a flat roof partially glazed link.

3.2 The applicant seeks flexibility for the uses proposed within the retail parade
for those uses permitted within Use Class E, but including Sui Generis uses such
as a hot food takeaway, veterinary surgery and public house / drinking
establishment. This flexibility is intended to ensure the delivery of a mix of uses
and variety of local services / facilities as well as secure end occupiers with high
levels of occupation to ensure the local centre remains an attractive facility for
local people.
3.3 The scheme follows the outline planning permission ref. HPK/2013/0603
dated 4th November 2014, which secured the principle of development and a
means of access to the site. A single point of access was approved mid-way
along the Ashbourne Road frontage (together with an emergency vehicular
access located c.280m further to the southeast, which has been omitted). It
comprises of the following constituent elements: up to 375 dwellings and a
residential care and/or retirement facility of up to 70 units; onsite affordable
housing provision; a local centre ‘up to’ 2500sqm; children’s play space; MultiUse Games Area (MUGA) and allotments.

Page 34

3.4 Separate planning obligations under S106 of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990 were formed with both High Peak Borough Council and Derbyshire
County Council (as the Local Highway Authority). The agreed terms for County
agreements is as follows:
the County:


Provision of a sum not exceeding £175,000 to be made available to the
Local Highway Authority for undertaking off-site highway improvement
works at the junction of High Street, London Road, Dale Road, West
Road and Green Lane, Buxton in connection with the proposed
development.



Submission of an agreed Travel Plan for the proposed development and
payment of a contribution (for a sum to be agreed) towards the cost of
its approval and future monitoring (if necessary) by the County Council.



Primary School education of £900,521 for the Harpur Hill Primary School.

3.5 Access to the Local Centre would be off a new estate road via the main
Ashbourne Road entrance as established by outline permission ref.
HPK/2013/0603, which also defined the Local Centre site boundaries. Pedestrian
access would also be provided from the new access into the Local Centre as well
as a stepped link from the southwest boundary adjacent to the new residential
estate.
3.6 The commercial units would be grouped around a shared landscaped parking
car area at the centre of the site. Buildings would be set back from the
Ashbourne Road by a landscape buffer with native trees behind the drystone
boundary wall. Modern building forms are proposed with large areas of glazing to
the retail units and smaller windows to the nursery building.
3.7 The materials palette consists of reconstituted stone walling and render to
walls with some timber cladding to the individual retail units. All the roofs, soffits
and eaves would comprise of powder coated aluminium. Sections of limestone
gabion walling would address levels change to the south of the Aldi store. Whilst
the nursery parking areas would be retained by reconstituted stone walling.
3.8 A total of 158 car parking spaces, including 11 wheelchair accessible spaces
(7 to the Aldi frontage) and 13 family spaces (11 to the Aldi frontage) would be
provided. In addition, a total of 26 cycle hoops would be installed to unit
frontages (13 cycle hoops to the Aldi frontage). The scheme proposes to deliver
a total of 5 electric charging points near to the Aldi foodstore.
3.9 The applicant’s Planning Statement regarding employment generation
confirms that the Aldi store would result in the creation of 40 to 50 full and parttime jobs on the site (to be transferred from the Station Road store) whilst the
retail parade and nursery would be estimated to deliver some 51 new jobs.
3.10 Proposed opening hours for each use are as follows:
Aldi

Page 35

Mon - Sat between 07:30am - 11:00pm
Sun - 10:00am - 4:00pm
Bank Holiday and or public holidays - 08:00am - 9:00pm
Retail/Small Unit Parade
Mon - Sun - 06:30am - 11:00pm
Nursery
Mon - Fri - 07:00am - 7:00pm
Sat - 08:00am - 2:00pm
3.11 Proposed operational delivery hours across the site would be 7:00 am to
10:00 pm Monday to Saturday and 8:00am to 8:00pm on Sundays, Bank Holidays
and public holidays.
3.12 The application and details attached to it, including the plans, supporting
documents, representations and consultee responses can be found on the
Council’s website at:
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=2
46472
4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
HPK/2017/0590 – Submission of Reserved Matters relating to the appearance,
landscaping, layout and scale for the whole of the residential phase of the
development (395 dwellings) pursuant to planning permission HPK/2013/0603 –
Approved 26th June 2019.
HPK/2013/0603 – Outline permission for a mixed-use development comprising
residential development of up to 375 dwellings, a residential care and/or
retirement facility comprising up to 70 units, Local Centre containing A1/A4 uses,
business use and community uses and associated access, car parking, open
space and landscaping – Approved 4th November 2014 with legal agreement.
5. CONSULTATIONS
Expiry:
Site notice
Press notice
Neighbours

5th May 2021
6th May 2021
29th April 2021

Public comments
Support:
3 representations of support have been received, summarised as follows:
Principle

Page 36









Scheme falls well within the scope of the adopted local plan;
Economy of the area is lagging and the number of people employed in
manufacturing has been declining;
Scheme including Aldi will provide for the everyday needs of residents in
the south of the town and an economic hub that would also compliment the
existing economic activity on Staden Lane;
Plans are well thought out, relatively low impact and will no doubt serve the
residents of the wider Harpur Hill area for generations to come;
With no suitable destinations for a new Aldi, it would be a shame to
potentially see a popular store leave the area and give families less
choices when it comes to shopping noting M&S has already vacated;
Especially with the new builds in the area, there is more call for bigger
stores to help supply and demand within the area;
Other towns have supermarkets on their outskirts so why should this
scheme be any different?

Highway Safety


The relocation of the existing Aldi store would help alleviate the queues of
traffic over the bypass and through the centre of Buxton and Fairfield
Road.

Sustainability


Most families have cars and there are buses that run along the Ashbourne
Road and to Harpur Hill and local bus companies may direct a route to and
from the proposed site given potential demand.

Objection:
11 representations of objection have been received, summarised as follows:
Principle









Further erosion of Green belt land;
Disagree with the use of more green field land to build shops and pubs
which is just unnecessary;
Numerous empty shops in the town and pubs are already struggling and
closing;
Need for a supermarket and local centre should have been considered in
the original application for housing instead of a bolt on after the houses
have been built;
How much more is our Council going to degenerate Buxton Town centre?
The future of the existing Aldi store is questioned and whether it will
become another derelict site creating an eyesore in the town?
Object to this application because of the inclusion of a large supermarket
and a modest scale convenience store for the occupants of the new
Foxlow housing development may be reasonable;
Introduction of a full size supermarket on the edge of town is contrary to
Town Centre policy and advice;

Page 37
























Resulting zombie unit would be left behind in the town centre would not be
an easy unit to fill in the current climate;
Estimated overall reduction in retail floor space need of 30% would make
weaken the town's economy and identity;
Large supermarket model is outdated and a poor investment at this time.
Significant business would be taken out of Buxton Town Centre, which has
already suffered due to the pandemic;
People will stop going into the main centre of Buxton and this will impact
small businesses;
Town centre should be improved and empty buildings utilised instead of
new builds;
Buxton does not need another supermarket in addition (or instead of) the
current offer;
Even with the addition of the Foxlow development (and possibly others Hogshaw / Dukes Drive) it is queried whether there is a strong case that
Buxton simply doesn't need another or bigger supermarket?
Planned units will probably end up unoccupied once built;
It is queried whether Aldi have outgrown the existing premises or wish to
gain a larger share of the market?
Can the Council provide evidence there is a "forecast need" for
another/bigger supermarket?
Interactive Planning Map states that this land is designated as a ‘Town
Centre’. How can that be justified?
A large supermarket as proposed would likely sell an extended range of
goods which will threaten some existing vendors in the town centre and it
also is likely to divert potential extended footfall/linked trips;
Conclusions provided by the applicants in their planning application draw
some questionable and/or unproven conclusions dismissing many
considerations, without sufficient details of any hard evidence to back them
up;
Aldi relocation would take away the option of a discount food store from
the residents of Fairfield;
At a time when there is an increasing awareness of global warming it is
totally unacceptable to build edge-of-town shops;
Only sustainable place for Aldi is in the town centre, or, on a smaller scale
in the centre of local communities such as Harpur Hill or Fairfield;
School places are queried given the proposed nursery on site;
Nursery would be welcomed, as would a decent children's playground or
community centre, which has been promised but has yet to materialise;
There is reference to a proposed veterinary surgery, however, it is queried
whether there are enough GP surgeries to accommodate the additional
properties;
Investment required in schools doctors etc. to accommodate all of the
homes authorised by the Council;

Sustainability



Planning committee should elevate environmental issues to a higher level
before granting permission for this type of development;
Travel to Aldi will be difficult for the elderly and there isn’t enough public
transport support down the A515 for all of the footfall;

Page 38




Only a few householders, living close to the proposed site, would be able
to get there conveniently on foot and the vast majority of customers would
use their cars;
The proposal should be refused on the grounds of unsustainability;

Landscape Impact


Development runs close to land designated as ‘Countryside’ on the
Interactive Planning Map. Have full considerations been given to the
impact it may have?

Highway Safety


Concerned about the intention to use the main access point for the Foxlow
Fields development as the main point of access for the retail development
particularly in relation to children’s safety;

Air / Noise Pollution





This is going to cause a build-up of traffic for residents and could make the
residential area much nosier, much later at night;
Many people on my street have young children and Aldi opens until late at
night;
Air pollution standards are also a concern - WHO set standards to include
third world countries and we moved to the countryside to get away from
the pollution of the city;
Proposed site is no longer served by buses and the nearest bus route on
Harpur Hill Road is too far to carry bags of groceries.

Ecology


No consideration of wildlife.

Buxton Civic Association
Buxton Civic Association (BCA) is a registered charity established to preserve
Buxton’s natural and formal landscape. The Association has a large active
membership from the local community. BCA is commenting on the planning
application regarding the commercial/retail development at Foxlow farm reference
HPK/2021/0145.
We understand the site has received planning permission for the construction of a
foodstore. However the planning permission was for smaller convenience type
store and not a much larger mainstream sized supermarket on the edge of the
town. Given the location of the proposed Aldi store it would seriously
disadvantage our community members who live in Fairfield (a considerable
distance from the new store) and other members of the community who either
walk or rely on public transport.
BCA supports the position of DCC and the officers technical report. We therefore
object to the proposed development given it does not conform with the conditions
of the planning permission for the Foxlow Farm site (the application is for a much

Page 39

larger store), does not comply with the local plan (HPLP 20) and seriously
disadvantages members of the community who rely on the town centre store.
Waitrose
We have reviewed the above application relating to the relocation of the Aldi store
at Station Road, Buxton, to a new site at Foxlow Farm, on the southern edge of
Buxton, as part of the development of a new local centre to serve the Harpur Hill
area. The proposed new Aldi will be significantly larger than the company’s
existing store at Station Road, and therefore will operate with a higher turnover,
which is likely to be drawn from existing retail operators in the town, including the
in-centre Waitrose store.
From our review of the application, and in particular the supporting Retail
Assessment (March 2021) and Retail Assessment Addendum (May 2021), both
prepared by Pegasus Planning, we wish to object to the grounds that it is clearly
contrary to development plan policy and the parameters of the previouslyapproved application for a new local centre at Foxlow Farm. We also do not
consider that a sufficiently detailed assessment of the vitality and viability of
Buxton town centre has been undertaken, particularly in respect of the diversity of
uses and identification of ‘anchor’ stores. We also request that, if the Council is
ultimately minded to approve this application, that the Council gives consideration
to imposing restrictions that the current Aldi store on Station Road is not let/sold
to another convenience (food) retail operator, in order to protect Waitrose’s role
and function as a town centre anchor store.
Local centre planning consent and development plan policy
As you are aware, planning permission was originally granted for development of
a new local centre at Foxlow Farm under application HPK/2013/0603, approved
04/11/2014. The description of development was for an ‘Outline planning
application comprising mixed use development of up to 375 dwellings, residential
and/or retirement facility for up to 70 units, local centre containing A1-A4 uses,
business use and community uses and associated access, car parking, open
space and landscaping’. Condition 26 of the permission provides clear caps on
the quantum on the amount of floorspace at the local centre, as follows:
‘The total gross 2500sqm floorspace provided within the Local Centre of the
development hereby
permitted shall not exceed the following maximum floorspace to be used for
purposes of uses within
the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended):
a) Classes A1, A2 and A3 of the floorspace shall be limited to 600sqm of which
no more than 500sqm
(gross) shall be in A1 convenience use;
b) Class A4 floorspace shall be limited to 580sqm;
c) Class B1 floorspace shall be limited to 1,000sqm;
d) Class D1 floorspace shall be limited to 1,000sqm (excluding art galleries,
museums, and, leisure and
cultural uses including any other use constituting a 'main town centre use' as
defined by Annex 2 of
the National Planning Policy Framework).’

Page 40

The reason attached to condition 26 is ‘In the interests of proper planning and to
ensure the sustainability of the scheme’. Whilst clearly being contrary to the
thresholds set out in the wording of condition 26 itself, it is considered that the
proposed development is contrary to ‘proper planning’ as the scale of
development is not consummate with the development’s position in the district’s
spatial hierarchy as a local centre, and will not result in a sustainable scheme as
it has potential to draw significant vehicular movements to a location designed for
relatively small-scale residential development and commercial facilities.
The adopted High Peak Local Plan (2016), the adoption of which post-dates the
above decision, also establishes the principle of a new Local Centre but sets an
even lower threshold for a local centre. This is set out under policy S7 ‘Buxton
Sub-area Strategy’ which identifies the spatial planning requirement to designate
‘a new Local Centre at Harpur Hill to support the development of small scale
convenience retail (less than 200m2 net sales), business, non-residential
institutions and leisure’. Paragraph 4.127 of the Plan also states that ‘A new Local
Centre is proposed to serve new housing development and the existing Harpur
Hill community as set out in policies CF1 and DS20’. The supporting text to policy
CF1 adds that ‘the occupation of the retail element of the Local Centre will be
phased to ensure that it only supports the residential development that it is
intended to serve’. The Local Plan therefore is clear that any new commercial
development at Foxlow Farm should be of a scale which meets the existing
community and new residential growth expected to come forward in the area.
Accordingly, it is clear from both a development management and planning policy
perspective that the Council consider the development at Foxlow Farm to only be
suitable to support a limited quantum of commercial floorspace. At 1,804 sq.m
net, the proposed Aldi foodstore significantly exceeds both the Local Plan
threshold and that set by Condition 26 of permission HPK/2013/0603 and will
result in the development acting significantly in excess of its approved role and
function as a ‘local centre’. The scale of the proposed Aldi store means that it will
draw trade from across much of the Buxton urban area and surrounding rural
catchment, which is not in keeping with the intended role and function of the
commercial floorspace envisaged in either the Plan, and also does not represent
a sustainable pattern of shopping for residents in the town.
The Planning Portal glossary defines local centres as ‘A small group of shops and
perhaps limited service outlets of a local nature (for example, a suburban housing
estate) serving a small catchment’, whilst the glossary for Planning Policy
Statement 4 (PPS4) (which has subsequently been superseded by the NPPF),
provided the following more comprehensive definition: ‘Local centres include a
range of small shops of a local nature, serving a small catchment. Typically, local
centres might include, amongst other shops, a small supermarket, a newsagent,
a sub-post office and a pharmacy. Other facilities could include a hot-food
takeaway and launderette. In rural areas, large villages may perform the role of a
local centre.’ Both of these policy definitions confirm that local centres serve small
catchments and would therefore not be expected to attract trade from a wide
geographical area. The application scheme is clearly contrary to these policy
definitions.
Vitality and viability of Buxton town centre

Page 41

In order for a clear understanding of the impact of the proposal scheme to be
understood, it is necessary to have regard to the current state of ‘vitality and
viability’ of Buxton town centre. This exercise is undertaken in section 7 of the
Pegasus RA but the assessment is considered to be limited in scope. For
example, although the assessment notes that the proportion of retail uses in the
town centre has significantly dropped in recent years, it does not analyse the
implications of this on the overall vitality and viability of the town centre.
There is also no identification of the strengths and weaknesses of the retail / main
town centre uses offer – for example the proportion of convenience and
comparison retail against current UK averages, nor any identification of what the
‘anchor’ stores are within the town centre. These are important considerations
when assessing the extent to which a ‘significant adverse’ impact is likely to arise
on the town centre, particularly in the case of Buxton where convenience retail
plays an important role supporting the overall vitality and viability of the centre,
and the Waitrose store in particular clearly fulfils an ‘anchor’ retailer role to the
wider offer of the centre.
The loss of trade from the town centre as a consequence of the proposed
development is also regrettable given the recent confirmation of the town centre
securing £6.6m of Future High Street Funding, which will assist in the formulation
of a town centre masterplan to guide future development and investment in the
town centre. Waitrose welcome the awarding of this grant to the authority and
look forwarding to future collaboration in the development of the town centre
masterplan.
Occupation of former Aldi store
In the event that the Council are minded to grant permission for the relocation of
the Aldi store to Foxlow Farm, the company’s existing store on Station Road will
be vacated by the company, and likely either leased or sold to another operator.
Waitrose are concerned that if the former Aldi unit were to be reoccupied by
another convenience goods retailer, this would potentially have significant
implication for the trading performance of their Spring Gardens store, on account
of the cumulative trade draw from their in-centre store to the Foxlow Farm site
and also the Station Road site. Any negative impact on the trading performance
of the Waitrose store will have potential implications for the wider vitality and
viability of Buxton town centre to which, as noted above, the Waitrose store
performs a clear role as a retail ‘anchor’. Further diversion of spend away from
in-centre foodstores such as Waitrose reduces the potential for other retailers and
services to benefit from the linked shopping trips which are likely to currently take
place.
As the Pegasus RA identifies the Waitrose store in Buxton is currently trading at
below company average levels, and the additional trade diversion to the proposed
relocated Aldi store will, based on the figures set out in the impact assessment
within the RA, exacerbate this under-trading position further. Waitrose therefore
request that, if the Council is minded to grant permission for the relocated Aldi
store, consideration is given to ensuring appropriate conditions are attached to
the permission to ensure that the existing Aldi store is not occupied by a
convenience goods retailer following Aldi’s exiting of the premises.

Page 42

Contrary to the assertion made in the Pegasus RA, we do not consider the
existing Aldi unit is sufficiently constrained in terms of size/format that it would not
be attractive to another food operator – the site is well placed on a major
thoroughfare through the town, benefits from direct adjacent surface parking, and
has dedicated servicing available. In our view, there would remain a likelihood
that the site may be attractive to another convenience operator. Whilst it is noted
that Aldi own the site, it is not considered that this factor alone would prevent it
from being leased / sold to another convenience operator.
Neither:
4 representations of neither support or objection have been received,
summarised as follows:
Principle
 No objection to principle but disappointed that the application site is
greenfield land when there is a derelict site opposite;
Highway Safety






Highway safety concerns regarding speed of traffic on Ashbourne Road,
particularly from Brierlow Bar and over the brow of the hill;
Also junction at B&Q can be difficult to exit and the additional traffic will
exacerbate this if not adequately controlled and also the fire station access
should have priority;
Provision should be made for a signalised crossing;
Traffic congestion as a result of the lights at London Road which will be
exacerbated by the proposal;
Concerned by the relocation of a key food store like ALDI from the town
centre as it will undoubtedly encourage more travel by car on already busy
and roads that are perceived as dangerous

Noise Pollution






Broadly support the scheme but concerned about noise and pollution of
the retail site on the new residential estate;
Particularly regarding the arrival of articulated trucks at early / late hours
via the main access route from the residential development;
Therefore access should be directly from Ashbourne Road and it is queried
whether this has been considered as part of the application;
Mandate for electrical vehicles only or a staggered target and as a
minimum introduce speed restrictions including traffic claiming measures
to reduce the ability of trucks to accelerate to the supermarket site;
Specific noise mitigation measures are queried;

Sustainability



Key food store will also likely to be a loss of an amenity to people who do
not have access to a car;
Therefore there should be more efforts made to encourage and
accommodate increased travel by foot, public transport, and cycle.

Page 43





The NCN route 68 on-road route is no longer considered a suitable
standard for safe cycling and should be improved with relevant DfT
guidance and include walking provision if this is possible to provide a safe
route from the town centre, and,
Cycle parking location raises accessibility and security concerns.

Buxton Group
We understand the need for a bigger Aldi store and it will be good for Harpur Hill
and will cut out some car journeys to the town from Harpur Hill. However, it is not
good news for those who live in Fairfield and Buxton - particularly those with no
cars. It is also potentially taking the cheaper, more affordable shopping option
away from these people. May we suggest a bus stop outside this new
development and also a more frequent bus timetable. It could also lead to a
reduced footfall from the existing Aldi into Spring Gardens (and vice versa),
possible leading to more empty shops.
This site is also greenfield land, taking more of our countryside away.
There should be provision for electric car charging stations
No space heating should be from gas boilers due to climate change.
We are also concerned with the speed limit on the road where cars will be turning
in and out onto the Ashbourne Road, potentially leading to accidents. A lowering
of the speed limit may be appropriate and warning signs of vehicles pulling out
ahead onto the main road. Could a roundabout be put in covering Staden Lane
and the development?”
Councillor Savage
1] The energy efficiency targets don’t seem to be all that ambitious given current
expectations. I am certainly not an expert in these matters but has any
consideration been given to the use of, for example, solar panels or heat pumps
as a means of reducing the carbon costs?
2] The existing site is not all that rich in terms of biodiversity so there could be
real gains here. There is a rather vague promise about varied planting. Can that
be firmed up a bit? A more specific statement about insect-friendly planting, the
installation of nest boxes for swifts, the creation of a pond - for example - would
be more persuasive.
3] It would be nice to see a greater commitment to the idea of supporting and
strengthening the growing community in the area. Apart from the supermarket
there could be a nursery (is that to be sold to a provider?), perhaps a pub, maybe
a takeaway food outlet. It would be helpful if there was, perhaps a decent sized
hall for residents’ use which included a games room, for example. On the other
side of the A515 there is an apron of lightly wooded land in front of the industrial
estate - it might be owned by Selden - is there any way that that land could be
acquired by the developers and handed over for community use - perhaps as a
play area, cycle track? I would really like to see some attempt made to get
something for the community out of these developments.
4) Finally, do we have any inkling as to the future of the current Aldi site?”

Page 44

Consultees
Consultee

Comment

Officer response

AES Waste

No objection.

Refer
to
Section

Highways

25.08.21:
Note: Commercial collection arrangements
Buxton Mineral Water
(Nestle Ltd)

Refer to Water Quality
Section

16.08.21:
The EA permitting is separate to the planning application process, however Section
G of the EA Groundwater Protection Position Statement it states that “where
planning applications and permits are required, it is recommended that parallel
tracking is used”. I note that the EA have submitted a response to the planning
application for which they do not wish to make any comments.
With regards to the drainage strategy for the site, surface water run-off from the
car-parking area will be discharged to ground via oil-water separators. The risk to
groundwater from car-park drainage is referenced in the “Foxlow Site, Buxton:
Groundwater Assessment” dated February 2021, which refers to the EA
Groundwater Protection Position Statement G13, “Where infiltration SuDS are
proposed for anything other than clean roof drainage (see G12) in a SPZ1, a
hydrogeological risk assessment should be undertaken, to ensure that the system
does not pose an unacceptable risk to the source of supply." It concludes that a the
EA will require a hydrogeological risk assessment to support the application for an
Environmental Permit for the discharge of carpark run off passed through the oil
water separators.
A hydrogeological risk assessment for the discharge of run-off from roofs and carparking has subsequently been submitted as part of the planning application, report
reference “Foxlow Site, Buxton: Soakaway Risk Assessment” dated June 2021.
This concludes that there is negligible risk from the discharge to groundwater close
to the site and less risk to the natural mineral waters. It recommends that
behavioural measures are taken to minimise the risk of pollution including raising
awareness amongst operators and users that the drainage is to soakaway,
however it does not reference long-term maintenance of the oil-water separators to
minimise the risk of pollution entering groundwater.
Based on this we are satisfied that an appropriate hydrogeological risk assessment
has been undertaken as part of the planning application to assess the risk to the
mineral water sources. It is recommended that the production of a long-term
maintenance plan for the oil-water separators is included as a condition of the
planning application to ensure groundwater and the mineral water sources continue
to be protected.
County Archaeology

Conditional Response

Page 45

Refer

to

Heritage

/

Design Section
12.08.21 (revised):
Thanks for sending on the archaeological WSI in support of this application. I
confirmed approval of the document to the archaeological consultants this morning.
As we have this in place now I’d suggest the following condition be attached to
planning permission for the scheme:
"a) No development shall take place other than in accordance with the approved
archaeological Written Scheme of Investigation."
"b) The development shall not be occupied until the site investigation and post
investigation assessment has been completed in accordance with the programme
set out in the approved archaeological Written Scheme of Investigation and the
provision to be made for analysis, publication and dissemination of results and
archive deposition has been secured."
29.04.21:
Thank you for consulting on the above planning application. I provided preapplication comments on these proposals in May 2019 and have subsequently
provided informal advice via the applicant’s archaeological consultant.
The proposal site is adjacent to an area subject to previous archaeological
evaluation as part of the adjoining housing application at Foxlow Farm. The
evaluation found little of archaeological significance beyond the route of a bank and
wall boundary (Derbyshire HER MDR11318 and MDR351) previously thought to be
part of ‘The Street’ Roman road between Derby and Buxton. Investigations in the
adjoining area to the north identified a sequence of parallel boundary features
including ditches, walls and a gravel trackway, with OSL dating suggesting the
boundary sequence evolved over a long period of time between the 10th -11th
centuries through the medieval period and into the post-medieval period. Because
this is the historic parish boundary between King Sterndale and Hartington Upper
Quarter it appears likely that this sequence originated as a medieval manorial
boundary. There are however unresolved questions relating to the origin and
evolution of the boundary and its relationship with the Roman road.
The current proposals will involve removal of the sequence of boundary features
along a length of about 170m. I recommend that this loss of undesignated heritage
assets is addressed under the policies at NPPF para 199 by a conditioned scheme
of archaeological work. Because the housing scheme has seen a substantial open
area excavation along the boundary it will be unnecessary to repeat this scale of
work in the adjoining area. The work should instead comprise a series of sample
transects excavated across the boundary sequence to capture its form, variability
and sequence, and any relationship with or trace of the Roman road. The
applicant’s heritage statement reflects these concerns and proposes the
appropriate quantum of work.
The site is roughly 350m from the scheduled bowl barrow at Fox Low; with regard
to the setting of this monument the current proposals should be considered
alongside the surrounding housing development, its layout, materials and

Page 46

landscaping. I have previously provided (e.g. email 18/12/2017) some structuring
principles around which reduction of harms to setting might be achieved, and I have
seen similar comments and suggestions from OPUN. I suggest that the local
planning authority consider the current proposals within this wider background and
against the setting parameters previously established. Against this background I do
not have any specific or additional concerns over the local centre proposals with
regard to the setting of the Fox Low barrow.
The following conditions should therefore be attached to any planning consent:
"a) No development shall take place until a Written Scheme of Investigation for
archaeological work has been submitted to and approved by the local planning
authority in writing, and until any pre-start element of the approved scheme has
been completed to the written satisfaction of the local planning authority. The
scheme shall include an assessment of significance and research questions;
and
1. The programme and methodology of site investigation and recording
2. The programme for post investigation assessment
3. Provision to be made for analysis of the site investigation and recording
4. Provision to be made for publication and dissemination of the analysis
and records of the site investigation
5. Provision to be made for archive deposition of the analysis and records of
the site investigation
6. Nomination of a competent person or persons/organization to undertake
the works set out within the Written Scheme of Investigation"
"b) No development shall take place other than in accordance with the
archaeological Written Scheme of Investigation approved under condition (a)."
"c) The development shall not be occupied until the site investigation and post
investigation assessment has been completed in accordance with the
programme set out in the archaeological Written Scheme of Investigation
approved under condition (a) and the provision to be made for analysis,
publication and dissemination of results and archive deposition has been
secured."
County Flood Authority
Awaited.
LLFA: Lead Local Flood
Authority

Refer to Drainage
Flood Risk Section

/

26.08.21 (revised):
Derbyshire County Council as the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) has reviewed
the information submitted for this application, which was received on 17/08/2021.
The LLFA has no objection subject to the conditions below.
To ensure adherence to National Planning Policy Framework, DEFRAs Nonstatutory technical standards for sustainable drainage systems and local guidance,
these recommended conditions should not be altered without consulting the County
Council Flood Risk Management team.
1. “No development shall take place until a detailed design and associated

Page 47

management and maintenance plan of the surface water drainage and a long-term
maintenance of the proposed Oil-Water separators for the site to be submitted, in
accordance with the principles outlined within:
a. Flood Risk Assessment & Drainage Strategy, reference No: FWBN-BSP-ZZ-XXRP-C-0001-P03_Flood_Risk_Assessment dated 10th June 2021 “including any
subsequent amendments or updates to those documents as approved by the Flood
Risk Management Team”
b. And DEFRA’s Non-statutory technical standards for sustainable drainage
systems (March 2015),
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.”
Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not increase flood risk
and that the principles of sustainable drainage are incorporated into this proposal,
and sufficient detail of the construction, operation and maintenance/management of
the sustainable drainage systems are provided to the Local Planning Authority, in
advance of full planning consent being granted.
2. “Prior to commencement of the development, the applicant shall submit for
approval to the LPA details indicating how additional surface water run-off from the
site will be avoided during the construction phase. The applicant may be required to
provide collection, balancing and/or settlement systems for these flows. The
approved system shall be operating to the satisfaction of the LPA, before the
commencement of any works, which would lead to increased surface water run-off
from site during the construction phase.”
Reason: To ensure surface water is managed appropriately during the construction
phase of the development, so as not to increase the flood risk to adjacent
land/properties or occupied properties within the development.
3. “Prior to the first occupation of the development, a verification report carried out
by a qualified drainage engineer must be submitted to and approved by the Local
Planning Authority. This must demonstrate that the drainage system has been
constructed as per the agreed scheme (or detail any minor variations), provide the
details of any management company and state the national grid reference of any
key drainage elements (surface water attenuation devices/areas, flow restriction
devices and outfalls).
Reason: To ensure that the drainage system is constructed to the national Nonstatutory technical standards for sustainable drainage and CIRIA standards C753.
10.08.21:
Thank you for your email, I have reviewed the information submitted by the
applicant for this planning application, we have no objection to the infiltration
method for the disposal of surface water from the proposed development which can
be conditioned, however the proposed development is within a source protection
zone (SPZ) zone 1, therefore the site is in a sensitive location, we have noted that
this planning application has not been consulted with Environment Agency, the
applicant may need to provide a hydrological risk assessment to the EA for a permit
to discharge into the ground, we also asked if the applicant could consult with
Buxton Mineral water Ltd for their comments. Before we can condition this planning
application, we would like to have comments from EA and Mineral Water Ltd.
We can condition this planning application subject to the submission of hydrological
risk assessment and approval from EA and Mineral Water Ltd.

Page 48

05.05.21:










The proposed development site is located within a groundwater source
protection zone, the applicant need to consult with Environment Agency to
obtain Environment permit to discharge if needed, the LLFA requires
Environment Agency’s approval for discharge into the ground. The applicant
also need to consult with Buxton Mineral Water Ltd (Nestle Waters UK) and
provide to LLFA their comments.
Ground water levels records. Minimum 1m clearance from maximum
seasonal groundwater level to base of infiltration compound. This should
include assessment of relevant groundwater borehole records, maps and
on-site monitoring in wells.
Soil / rock descriptions in accordance with BS EN ISO 14688-1:2002 or BS
EN ISO 14689-1:2003.
Volume design calculations to 1% probability annual rainfall event + 40%
climate change standard. An appropriate factor of safety should be applied
to the design in accordance with CIRIA C753 – Table 25.2.
The applicant has included 20% climate change this need to be changed to
40%, the Flood Risk Assessment
to be resubmitted with the inclusion of 40% climate change.
The applicant should provide a ‘SuDS Audit’ and a maintenance plan for the
proposed drainage system and provide details of who will maintain the
proposed drainage system for the lifetime of the development.

County Highways

Refer
to
Section

Highways

29.07.21 (revised):
The Highway Authority has no objection on the above-referenced proposal subject
to the following conditions and notes/informative.
Conditions
1. Before any other operations are commenced a new vehicular access shall be
created to the proposed site according to plan 1240-CPP. The proposed site shall
be laid out, constructed and provided with visibility sightlines extending from a point
2.4m from the carriageway edge, measured along the centre line of the access, to
the extremities of the site frontage abutting the adopted highway in each direction.
The land in advance of the sightlines shall be maintained in perpetuity clear of any
object greater than 1m in height (0.6m in the case of vegetation) relative to the
adjoining nearside carriageway channel level.
2. The premises, the subject of the application, shall not be occupied until space
has been provided within the application site in accordance with the application
drawing 1240-CPP for the car parking and cycle parking, manoeuvring of residents/
visitors/ staff/ customers/ service and delivery vehicles, laid out, surfaced and
maintained throughout the life of the development free from any impediment to its
designated use.
3. The proposed units where possible should provide showers, changing areas and

Page 49

storage lockers to encourage walking and cycling.
4. The parking which would be shared in accordance with the plan 1240-CPP shall
be made available and retained for use by visitors to the Nursery, small units and
foodstore. These spaces shall not be divided, or restricted, in any way that prevents
their shared use by visitors to all of the proposed uses on the site. The monitoring
of shared spaces should be supported by a parking management plan.
5. Prior to any works exceeding demolition and site clearance, a construction
management plan or construction method statement shall be submitted to and be
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved plan/statement
shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. The statement shall provide
for:
• Parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors
• Routes for construction traffic, including abnormal loads/cranes etc
• Hours of operation
• Method of prevention of debris being carried onto highway
• Pedestrian and cyclist protection
• Proposed temporary traffic restrictions
6. Throughout the period of construction, wheel washing facilities shall be provided
within the site and used to prevent the deposition of mud and other extraneous
materials on the public highway.
Also recommend a number of informatives relating to a contribution towards
monitoring of parking, Travel Plan, Greenways / Key Cycle Network contribution,
notification of any works within the public highway, the need for a Section 278
Agreement, adoption of road, measures to control surface water run-off from onto
the highway, steps to prevent mud or other extraneous material onto the public
highway, highway surface water.
15.07.21:
Parking
To address issues raised in the context of the proposed parking, the applicant’s
transport consultant submitted a parking appraisal report referenced FOXBOXBSP-ZZ-XX-D-0001-PO3-Parking Appraisal. In the parking appraisal report, the
applicant has justified the provision of 158 car parking spaces which is 62% of the
maximum standard. Out of 158 car parking spaces, 120 spaces will be within
parking of Aldi food store, and the remaining 38 spaces will be for 5 retail units and
proposed Nursery. The parking appraisal report has concluded that the mix of uses
on the site will allow for car parking spaces to be shared between the different uses
due to the linked trips in the perception of visitors visiting more than one facility and
as peak periods would not coincide. Therefore based on the parking appraisal, the
proposed 158 car parking spaces for this proposal is acceptable; however, this
Authority would request a planning condition to any future planning consent to the
effect that the parking will be shared between all the proposed users and that no
single user will be seeking a dedicated parking area.
This Highway Authority also requires consideration for parking control in the
interest of road safety, such as installation of double yellow lines on to the access
road from A515, the entrance of the site and on A515 Ashbourne Road and

Page 50

associated traffic regulation orders (TROs) to avoid indiscriminate parking issues in
case if the parking area overflowed. Given that the local centre is intended to serve
the adjacent housing areas, provision of safe pedestrian permeability is a crucial
and important consideration to avoid any potential road safety issues which need to
be avoided at all the time. Therefore, the applicant is advised to liaise with Bridget
Gould of DCC (Bridget.Gould@derbyshire.gov.uk) in the DCC Traffic Management
section to seek advice on double yellow lines restrictions, TROs and associated
cost and agree on the scheme before the start of any operation at the proposed
site.
Access and Internal Site Layout
The comment about improvements on A515 which is shown on plan FOXBUXBSP-ZZ-DR-D-0001/PO1 and will be delivered as part of the planning consent
HPK/2013/0603 is noted.
The Highway Authority is satisfied that information regarding internal layout of the
site has been provided on plan FOXBUX-BSP-ZZ-DR-D-0001/PO2. The proposed
ramp from the southern edge to the proposed children’s day nursery is also
acceptable as shown on plan PO2.
The Highway Authority is satisfied that the SPA has now shown for 16.5m HGV.
Travel Plan
The comments on TP are acceptable and the Highway Authority has no further
comments on the TP.
The Highway Authority is satisfied that most of the outstanding issues have now
been resolved. The comments about parking and associated TRO scheme needs
to be agreed and a revised drawing to this effect be submitted before the Highway
Authority may be in a position to provide final comments on this planning
application.
10.06.21:
Parking
The transport scoping note dated Dec 2020 was submitted to Derbyshire County
Council (DCC) to discuss Transport and Highway matters. It was indicated that the
proposed level of parking would be assessed in the transport assessment (TA).
The Highway Authority note that a total of 158 car parking are proposed, which
includes 11 accessible spaces, 13 parent and child spaces and 5 electric vehicle
charging spaces. The car parking provision has been made in accordance with the
standards shown in The High Peak Local Plan (Adopted April 2016). In accordance
with the LPA parking standards, a maximum car parking provision of 256 will be
appropriate for the size and uses of the proposed development. The proposed 158
car parking provision is 62% of the maximum standard. It is stated that this level of
proposed parking is appropriate as the proposed mix uses of the site will allow car
parking spaces to be shared, and peak periods would not coincide. The proposed
158 car parking is 98 spaces below the maximum parking standards as per LPA
standards, and therefore this Authority considers that further justification is required
on the proposed parking.
The sharing of parking between different land uses will need further explanation.

Page 51

The land uses among which parking will be shared and the peak periods of
different land use needs to be explicitly mentioned. The discussion about parking
management and requirement of appropriate condition to the effect that the parking
will be shared and that no single user will be seeking a dedicated parking area. The
need for the staff car parking spaces at the site and how the staff parking will be
controlled.
The additional parking information/discussion should consider parking
strategies/management in situation if parking area overflowed and how the
indiscriminate parking issues on the surrounding highways will be
monitored/controlled to avoid implications on highway safety. The discussion is
particularly important in the context of potential stationary vehicles parking
immediate to the entrance of the site and on A515 Ashbourne Road. To avoid
indiscriminate parking issues on the surrounding highways, consideration for
parking control/traffic regulation orders (TROs) on the surrounding highways need
to be considered.
For the children’s day nursery element of the site, additional information about pickup, drop-off times, pick-up, drop-off areas, safe operation of parking and parking
control during the peak hours should be provided.
To address the issues raised above, the Highway Authority requests that further
information in support of the planning application should be provided for review.
Transport Assessment
A Transport Assessment (TA) has been prepared in support of the above
development. The TA refers to the scoping note prepared and issued to the Local
Highway Authority (LHA) for comment. The comments on the TA have been
provided by the Transport Strategy section below.
The transportation assessment has been prepared by BSP Consulting on behalf of
HDD Buxton Ltd, in support of a Planning Application for a proposed mixed-use
development at a site located off the A515 Ashbourne Road, in Foxlow, Buxton.
The site will operate as a local centre to a wider development area, including 375
new residential dwellings.
The transportation assessment observes that the site has an outline planning
consent, granted in November 2014. Condition 26 of the consent for the relates to
the quantum of permitted development for the mixed-use scheme, notably
residential and retail uses, the latter in the form of a local centre. The transportation
assessment considers the implications of substituting part of the consented
development for a discount retail store on the site of some 1,804 Square metres,
gross floor area together with retention of a number albeit similar ‘local
convenience’ type units occupying an (almost) identical floor area to that previously
agreed together with a nursery.
The transportation assessment calculates that the latest proposals, together with
the possible future care home included, would be expected to generate a net
increase of around 5 two way trips during the morning peak hour and a net
increase of some 42 two way trips during the evening peak hour when compared
with the consented scheme. The transport consultant has obviously had sight of the
transportation assessment, which supported the original application and taken the

Page 52

opportunity to re-visit the previously agreed trip rates and, where applicable, found
sites that have more intensive trip rates, thereby, ‘talking up’ the consented use. As
you are aware, the TRICS database, realistically, only provides a guide as to what
could happen. By my calculations, therefore, comparing what was previously
‘agreed’ against the latest trip predictions, and being mindful of the above caveat,
the latest transportation assessment perhaps underestimates the wider impacts of
the scheme by around 45 two-way trips for the respective peak hours.
The transportation assessment includes a capacity assessment of the proposed
access and two off-site junctions on the A 515 London Road downstream (i.e.
towards Buxton) of the site. The latest capacity assessment is based upon traffic
data observed in 2013, from which the original transportation assessment was
developed. Not ideal, although in view of current circumstances due to the
pandemic together with the challenges of collecting reliable traffic data and bearing
in mind the scale of the incremental changes of the development, on this occasion
is acceptable. The capacity assessment indicates that the access junction would
operate satisfactorily with all the (revised) proposed development in place, as
would the A515 at its junction with Dukes Drive. However, unsurprisingly, London
Road at its junction with Dale Road / West Road, a 5-arm traffic signal-controlled
junction, would operate overcapacity during each of the flow scenarios assessed.
I understand that Developer contributions were secured by the Highway Authority
to provide for improvements to the junction in order to mitigate the impact of the
development traffic. I assume that provision for these contributions would remain
and the highway improvements delivered in due course. Clearly, the proposed
discount retail scheme represents an intensification of the sites use over that
previously agreed and will result in an increase in congestion, queuing, and delay
at the junction.
The transport consultant’s analysis suggested that compared with the base and
consented development results, the additional impact of the current proposals
would be negligible during the morning peak hour and ‘very minor’ during the
evening peak hour. Bearing in mind the nature of the revised proposals, discount
retail, I suspect that in terms of the incremental increases in traffic through the
downstream junctions, a significant proportion of the development (retail) traffic will
‘already be on the network’, consequently, relatively little discount retail traffic
would be ‘new’, and therefore, its impacts upon the wider network will only be
marginal. On that basis, I am minded to agree with transport consultant’s
conclusions.
The TA looked at accidents obtained from the Derbyshire Constabulary database
over a 5-year period, albeit to mid-2020. The transport consultant concludes that
overall, the analysis of accident data has not revealed any trends or features of the
highway that are contributing to the accidents or that road safety will be affected by
the proposed development and the Highway Authority would not have any
evidence to dispute this view.
Access and Internal Site Layout
The access is from the A515 Ashbourne Road, leading to Foxlow Farm. The
proposed access road from A515 will lead to the wider residential development. I
am aware of a planning consent HPK/2013/0603 in relation to the residential
development.

Page 53

As per paragraph 3.2.2, the access will be upgraded to provide suitable access to
the site. The improvements on A515 has been shown on the plan FOXBUX-BSPZZ-DR-D-0001/PO1. I presume that works proposed on A515 Ashbourne Road as
shown on the plan FOXBUX-BSP-ZZ-DR-D-0001/PO1 will be delivered as part of
the planning consent HPK/2013/0603. However, confirmation in this regard will be
needed.
The dimension of the internal carriageway, footway, radii, parking bays (including
parent parking and accessible parking) and loading bays should be demonstrated
on plan FOXBUX-BSP-ZZ-DR-D-0001/PO.
I note that swept path analysis (SPA) has only been undertaken for 9.5m
Pantechnicon; however, the internal layout also needs to be checked for the largest
delivery vehicle, and in this context, the revised SPA should be submitted.
The waste collection strategy information should also be provided supported by
SPA.
The access to the proposed children’s day nursery via pedestrian ramp close to the
nursery to enable easy access to this facility by visitors from the neighbouring
housing development need to be considered.
Travel Plan
Design considerations:
The following should be provided at each employment unit:
facilities, including showers, changing areas and storage lockers to
encourage walking and cycling.
age
should be made up of a number of Sheffield type stands sufficient to cater for likely
demand, and sited to enable expansion should demand arise. See note 6.4.3
below.
Those on site layout are noted.
d broadband connection to each employment
unit. As a minimum the development should provide the necessary ducting within
the
site
to
facilitate
FTTP.
(Fibre
to
the
Premises).
https://www.openreach.com/fibre-broadband/fibre-for-developers.
FTTP
connectivity should be designed into the development at the masterplan stage.
Pedestrian walkways at all proposed access points should be provided to relevant
standards to match into existing provision, complete with lighting, surfacing and
dropped tactile kerbs as appropriate.
Consideration should be given to the provision of a pedestrian ramp close to the
proposed nursery, to enable step free access to the nursery for staff and visitors
direct from the adjoining residential development.
4.0 Travel Plan Administration
4.5 Noted. The duties of the Travel Plan coordinator should include:
n of the Travel Plan, complete with features and benefits, in the
induction process for all new employees at each unit. This should include the

Page 54

provision of personalised travel planning.
a item on any employee
forum / staff meeting or equivalent for each employment unit at least twice per year.
5.3 Walking
5.3.5 and 5.3.6. Noted. Proposed walkways should be provided to approved
standards and be in place and fit for purpose prior to first commercial occupation.
5.5. Public transport
5.5.4. Noted. The proposed bus stops on the A515 Ashbourne Road should include
lighting, raised kerbs, shelters, timetable cases, bus stop markings and real time
information. The laybys and pedestrian crossing points should be in place and fit for
purpose prior to first commercial occupation.
6.4 Cycle parking provision
6.4.3 & 6.4.4. Noted. The site layout shows five Sheffield stands for ten bicycles,
close to the small retail units. It is unclear from the site layout where the additional
cycle storage is proposed. Please clarify.
8.4 Soft/marketing measures
Note: An additional section for Public transport should be included. The developer
is encouraged to negotiate with local bus operators to offer ‘taster tickets’ or similar
discounts for public transport use. Operators of services in the vicinity of Harpur Hill
include High Peak Buses and Stagecoach Yorkshire. Contact:
High Peak
Buses. Keith Myatt, Head of Business Development.
keith.myatt@centrebus.co.uk. 07720 088 675.
Stagecoach Yorkshire. John Young, Commercial Director Stagecoach Yorkshire.
John.young@stagecoachbus.com 01226 346721.
Taster tickets should be available to all employees as part of induction, and should
be valid for a minimum of four week’s commuter journeys on the selected
operator’s services. A suitable budget should be set aside for this purpose.
For this development, the amount set aside for bus taster tickets should be
calculated as follows: No. of employees ‘Peak Plus’ month ticket @1 no. per
employee Total 30 (estimate)
£95.00
£2,850.00
See: https://www.highpeakbuses.com/tickets-fares/ nb. This is intended as a
budget guideline only, and should not preclude the provision of ‘taster tickets’ on
other operator’s services, according to demand.
Travel information
8.4.1 Noted. The development website should also include a dedicated travel page
or pages, to inform staff, visitors and other users of all available travel options.
Travel information available should include, but not be limited to:
Public transport
Derbyshire.
Journey Planning
www.traveline.info/ for all mode journey planning.
Cycle information

Page 55

w.derbyshire.gov.uk/leisure/countryside/access/cycling/default.asp for cycling
information throughout Derbyshire, including the Cycle Derbyshire map.
Other useful cycle related websites:
ovetoride.net for cycling rewards and incentives.
cus week.
Walking
/access/walking/default.asp

for

walking information throughout Derbyshire.
Car Share
/get.faxi.co.uk/derbyshire for details of the free of charge journey matching
service throughout Derbyshire.
Walking and cycling
8.4.2 Noted. Dependent upon interest and demand, consideration should be given
to the establishment of any or all of: (i) a walking group, (ii) a BUG (bicycle user
group) or (iii) a dedicated travel plan group amongst employees. Should such a
group not be established, the travel plan should remain as an agenda item on any
site- wide forum (eg. Tenants group or similar) at least twice per year.
Car sharing
8.4.4. Noted. Add https://get.faxi.co.uk/derbyshire for details of the free of charge
journey matching service throughout Derbyshire.
Consideration should be given to the establishment of a site based car share
scheme, with journey matches facilitated by the TPC.
Additional comments:
(i) Communication and marketing
Consideration should be given to the establishment of a social media presence, eg.
facebook page or twitter account, to facilitate prompt communication between the
Travel Plan coordinator, employees and visitors.
(ii) Travel Plan status
The Travel Plan is a working document, and should not be seen as exhaustive. It
will be subject to change in the light of progression and completion of the
development, results of actions undertaken, and responsive to results of future
travel surveys.
Supplementary comment - Travel Plan Monitoring
Derbyshire County Council is now able to offer an online toolkit known as
STARSFor, https://starsfor.org/ for the purposes of Travel Plan monitoring. This is
available for a fee payable to Derbyshire County Council, and enables the user to
input monitoring data and track modal shift. This replaces any other travel plan
monitoring fee that may be charged. Should this be of interest, please contact the
Derbyshire
County
Council
Sustainable
Travel
Team:
sustainable.travel@derbyshire.gov.uk .
Other means of monitoring travel plans exist. There is no obligation to use
STARSFor.
Informative
In the light of any S106, the following contributions should be considered:

Page 56

Travel Plan monitoring fee: £1,05.00 pa x 5 years, total £5,075.00.
Greenways / Key Cycle Network contribution. The site is close to existing and
proposed sections of the White Peak Loop and Harpur Hill Greenway, which have
the potential to take trips off the highway. Consult Anna Chapman or Gill Millward
for current funding requirements.
There are a number of issues highlighted in my response above which will need
further consideration and revised information to be submitted before the Highway
Authority may be in a position to provide further comments or be in a position to
sanction any full planning application proposal. I would be grateful if these
comments could be brought to the applicant’s attention so that they may be given
the opportunity of addressing the identified issues; in the meantime, the application
should be held in abeyance. However, if your Authority wishes to determine the
application ‘as submitted’ I would be grateful for the opportunity to discuss the
highway Authority’s position further.
County
Policy
Monitoring

& Retail and town centre, Refer to
landscape impacts and Layout
County
Councillor Sections
Grooby’s
County
commentary

Policy and
/
Design

14.05.21:
The comments below are DCC’s Member and Officer technical comments relating
to the strategic planning policy implications of the proposed development that are
submitted under the County Council’s Delegated Procedures. These comments
particularly relate to the retail and town centre impacts, landscape impacts and
design and layout aspects of the planning application proposals.
Member Comments
Councillor Linda Grooby, County Council Member for Buxton North and East
Electoral Division, has been consulted on the planning application and has made
the following comments:
I fully support the application. I do however have serious concerns about the
junction. This road is the busy A515.
The housing development site close to this consists of 395 new houses. Opposite
this is an industrial estate with a B n Q and a good number of other businesses of
varying sizes. It also contains the fire station.
The speed limit is currently 40 miles per hour. It does not change to 30 until further
down the road towards the town centre. It should be moved prior to these junctions.
There also needs to be some control of traffic either in the form of a roundabout or
traffic lights.
There is a bus stop close by which is really good. It may be possible to create a pull
in. Can we also look to getting a bus shelter, which should be put to the developer
as a proposal.
Officer Comments

Page 57

The planning application proposals are for the development of a Local Centre
comprising an Aldi foodstore (Use Class E (a)), children’s day nursery (Use Class E
(f)) and flexible commercial/retail units (Use Class E and Sui Generis (hot food
takeaway, veterinary surgery, public house/drinking establishment)) along with
parking, access and other associated works on Land at Foxlow Farm, Harpur Hill
Road / Ashbourne Road, Harpur Hill, Buxton.
The site is bounded to the north-east by Ashbourne Road; open fields to the southeast; new housing development to the south-west; and a new estate road to the
north-west. Access to the site would be provided from the new estate road serving
the proposed housing development. The new Local Centre would primarily serve
the residents of the new housing development to the south-west. This is a
prominent site on Ashbourne Road and it is noted that the design and layout of the
scheme has been subject to significant pre-application discussions between the
applicant and High Peak Borough Council (HPBC).
It is also noted that the planning application is supported by a range of studies and
reports including a Planning Statement; Design and Access Statement; Heritage
Statement; Ecological Appraisal; Retail Statement; and Transport Assessment.
Reference is made to these studies, where appropriate, in the comments below.
Planning History
The most relevant planning history to the site and its proposals is planning
application HPK/2013/0603 – Outline permission for a mixed-use development
comprising residential development of up to 375 dwellings, a residential care and/or
retirement facility comprising up to 70 units, Local Centre containing A1/A4 uses,
business use and community uses and associated access, car parking, open space
and landscaping. The application was approved by HPBC on 4th November 2014.
Condition 26 of the above planning permission sets the specific floorspaces
requirements for the Local Centre, in line with the requirements set out in Policy
DM20 of the Adopted High Peak Local Plan (HPLP) (as set out in next section
below)
“The total gross 2500sqm floorspace provided within the Local Centre of the
development hereby permitted shall not exceed the following maximum floorspace
to be used for purposes of uses within the Town and Country Planning (Use
Classes) Order 1987 (as amended):
a) Classes A1, A2 and A3 of the floorspace shall be limited to 600sqm of which no
more than 500sqm (gross) shall be in A1 convenience use;
National and Local Planning Policy Context
National Planning Policy Framework
Chapter 7 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out policies
relating to town centres and main town centre uses.
Paragraph 86 requires proposals for main town centre uses to demonstrate
accordance with the sequential test where they are located in an out-of-centre
location and are not in accordance with an up-to-date plan (i.e. not allocated for

Page 58

such uses). In applying the sequential test, paragraph 86 confirms that main town
centre uses should be located in town centres then in edge of centre locations, and
only if suitable sites are not available (or not expected to become available within a
‘reasonable period’) should out of centre locations be considered.
Paragraph 87 goes on to confirm that when considering edge and out of centre
proposals, preference should be given to accessible sites which are well connected
to the town centre. Paragraph 87 also requires applicants to demonstrate flexibility
on issues such as format and scale through the application of the test.
Paragraph 89 requires the preparation of an impact assessment when assessing
applications for retail and leisure development outside town centres where they are
not in accordance with an up-to-date plan, considering the impact of the proposal
on planned public and private investment in centres and on town centre vitality and
viability. An impact assessment is only required where the proposals exceed a
locally set threshold or, in the absence of any such threshold, for proposals over
2,500m2 of gross floorspace.
Paragraph 90 confirms that where an application fails the sequential test or is likely
to have a significant adverse impact on one or more of the impact considerations
set out at paragraph 89, it should be refused.
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
The NPPG provides guidance relating to the application of the sequential test
highlighting the need for any assessments to be proportionate and appropriate to
the proposed development and reiterating the need to demonstrate flexibility in the
format and scale of the proposed development.
The PPG also provides advice as to the application of the impact test confirming
that:
• Impact should be tested over an appropriate period of up to 5 years from
application submission (or up to 10 years for major/complex schemes).
Local Policy
The adopted Development Plan for High Peak Borough comprises the HPLP, which
was adopted in April 2016.
Of particular direct relevance to the application site is Policy DS20 of the HPLP
which allocates land at Foxlow Farm for residential development of approximately
440 dwellings and a Local Centre. This application relates to the Local Centre.
In terms of the Local Centre, the policy confirms that this should comprise of:
• Small scale A1 retail convenience development (less than 200 m2 net sales) and
wider uses including business, non-residential institutions and leisure;
• The total floorspace for the Local Centre shall be less than 2,500 m2; and
• Town centre proposals above these thresholds must be supported by an
appropriate impact and sequential site assessment that considers Buxton Town
Centre.

Page 59

Policy DS20 also requires that the development of the site must include a
comprehensive landscape masterplan, to include new planting and retention of
existing planting, new open space and consideration of the setting of the National
Park and mitigating any impact on the scheduled ancient monument (see more
detailed officer comments below).
Policy CF1 of the HPLP also sets out the local retail hierarchy and confirms that
proposals for major town centre use developments, defined as 200m2 or more of
retail (A1) net sales, will be required to submit and demonstrate accordance with
the impact and sequential test.
A range of other national policies in the NPPF are relevant to consideration of the
planning application proposals particularly those in Chapters 12: Achieving WellDesigned Places and 15: Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment.
Assessment
In the context of the above, it is clear that the principle of the proposed Local
Centre development has been established through the site’s allocation under Policy
DS20 of the HPLP, to deliver a new Local Centre including retail and commercial
uses to serve the day to day needs of the new Foxlow Farm development and the
surrounding residential and employment areas. The principle of this is further
established through the extant outline planning consent (HPK/2013/0603) on the
site referenced above.
However, the planning application proposals are not wholly in accordance with the
requirements of Policy DS20. Whilst the overall floorspace of the proposed Local
Centre totals 2,361 sqm which is below the threshold of 2,500 sqm set within DS20,
the convenience retail element of the scheme for the proposed Aldi foodstore totals
1,804 sqm, which considerably exceeds the threshold also set out in Policy DS20
of 200sq m of convenience floorspace development. Furthermore, the amount of
convenience floorspace considerably exceeds the threshold in Condition 26 of
planning permission HPK/2013/0603 that stipulates a restriction of 600 sqm of A1A3 floorspace of which no more than 500 sqm shall be in A1 convenience use.
In the context of the above, there is the requirement in Policy DS20 to demonstrate
that the retail element of the proposals meets the requirement of the NPPF relating
to the sequential and impact tests, which are considered in more detail below.
Town Centre and Retail Impact Considerations
It is noted that the planning application is supported by a detailed Retail Statement
(RS). The County Council’s Officer comments below on the potential retail impacts
of the planning application proposals are based on information contained in the RS.
Having assessed the RS, its methodology, data assumptions and data sources are
considered to be robust and a sound basis on which to assess the sequential test
and retail impacts of the application proposals.
From a strategic planning point of view the key element of concern with the
planning application proposals is the proposed Aldi foodstore, which has a
proposed total floorspace on 1,804 sqm. The other element of the Local Centre
proposals comprising 5 retail units totalling 557 m2 of floorspace (Use Class E and
Sui Generis (hot food takeaway, veterinary surgery and public house/drinking

Page 60

establishment) is not considered to raise any significant issues from a strategic
planning perspective.
In terms of the sequential and retail impact tests of the NPPF, an important
consideration in assessing the application proposals is that the proposed Aldi
foodstore would be a replacement for an existing Aldi foodstore located at Station
Road close to the town centre of Buxton, which would be closed if the proposed
store was granted permission. Details set out in the applicant’s Planning Statement
indicate in this regard that the operator (Aldi) would not permit the re-use of the
existing unit for new convenience retail use (see further comments below).
There is no doubt that the proposed new Aldi store as part of the proposed Local
Centre would primarily serve the new Foxlow Farm residential development and the
existing residential and employment development in the surrounding area. In this
context, the Aldi store could have significant sustainability benefits in meeting both
the main shopping and top up convenience shopping needs of the new residents of
the Foxlow Farm development and nearby residential employment development
avoiding the need to travel further afield for such shopping needs and which is
likely to be accessible to many of the residents on foot.
However, the loss of the existing Aldi retail unit from its current Station Road site
close to the town centre and the potential impact on the vitality and viability of the
town centre overall is a key concern for the County Council as set out in more detail
below.
Sequential test
In terms of the sequential test, it is clear that there is no policy requirement to
consider the disaggregation of retail schemes within the NPPF or NPPG to assess
if a scheme could be located within a town centre location and this should only be
considered where there are specific circumstances which require it. In addition,
case law and Secretary of State decisions have also confirmed that there is no
requirement to consider the disaggregation of any of the floorspace from the
proposed development. As such, when considering suitable sites, they must be
able to accommodate the whole of the proposed development, allowing for an
appropriate degree of flexibility.
In this context, it is only the proposed Aldi store which would serve a larger
catchment and falls outside the uses expressly supported through Local Plan Policy
DS 20 or permitted through the extant outline consent, which needs to be subject to
the sequential search to consider sites based on their ability to accommodate the
proposed Aldi store alone for robustness. This approach is appropriately adopted in
the applicant’s RS.
Furthermore, the NPPF requires the consideration of ‘suitability’ through the
sequential test. The consideration of whether or not a site is suitable relates, in
part, to whether or not a sequentially preferable site would be able to meet and
serve the same market as the application proposals which will therefore influence
the area of search for any sequential assessment. As appropriately noted in the
RS, therefore, the Aldi store will have a much greater trade draw and will act as a
main food shopping destination for Buxton and the surrounding rural area; and that
as the store is a replacement store to the existing edge of centre Aldi store in
Buxton, there is clearly a need for the new store to be located within or close to

Page 61

Buxton in order to retain its existing customer base. Locating the store within
another town, some distance from Buxton would clearly fail to serve the same
market.
In the context of the above, it is considered that the methodology adopted in the
applicant’s site search is robust and justified in that the only defined centre within
this area is Buxton town centre which is located around 1.5 miles to the north of the
application site. As such, the sequential search appropriately focuses on sites
located within the defined primary shopping area of Buxton town centre, before
then considering sites that are located on the edge of (up to 300m from) and well
connected to the primary shopping area boundary. The search then considers
whether there are any out-of-centre sites (i.e. beyond 300m of the primary
shopping area) that are accessible and well connected to the centre.
Additionally, in the context of the NPPF, NPPG and case law referred to above, it is
agreed that the sequential site search in the RS should focus on those sites which
could accommodate the proposed Aldi store of 1,804m2 (gross internal) floorspace
with around 148 car parking spaces to serve the store and that a development of
this scale would need a site of around 0.95 hectares. It is also considered that the
applicant has appropriately adopted a flexible approach required by the NPPF in
the site search by considering sites which are capable of accommodating a
development 15% larger and 15% smaller than that proposed. In terms of car
parking, it is noted from the RS that the Aldi foodstore model requires an absolute
minimum of 100 spaces. As such, the sequential site search considers sites that
could accommodate a new foodstore of between 1,533m2 and 2,075m2 which
would require a site of between 0.81 hectares and 1.09 hectares.
Sites Assessed
In the context of the above, it is noted that the RS concludes that there are 4 sites
within and on the edge of Buxton town centre that could potentially accommodate
the Aldi foodstore development as below:
• Site 1 –
• Site 2 –
• Site 3 –
• Site 4 –

The Springs Shopping Centre Car Park;
Former Marks and Spencer store, Spring Gardens;
Existing Aldi Store at Station Road; and,
Former Buxton Water Bottling Plant.

It is noted that a detailed assessment is carried out in the RS of each of the 4 sites
in terms of their suitability and availability to accommodate the proposed Aldi
foodstore. Having reviewed the applicant’s assessment, DCC’s Officers consider
that the 4 sites indicated would appear to be the only ones with any realistic
potential to accommodate the Aldi foodstore; and that the sites at Spring Gardens,
Former Marks and Spencers store and Former Buxton Water Bottling Plant have
appropriately been ruled out as not being either suitable or available to
accommodate the Aldi foodstore development for the reasons set out in the RS.
Notwithstanding the above, DCC’s Officers would consider that the existing Aldi
foodstore site at Station Road on the edge of Buxton town centre is the key and
fundamental consideration in the sequential test assessment and has the most
potential to accommodate the proposed replacement foodstore. In this respect, it is
noted from the applicant’s RS that HPBC’s officers have requested that the
sequential assessment considers the potential to deliver a decked parking solution

Page 62

and store extension to determine whether the existing store could be extended and
a decked parking solution introduced to deliver a store of the required size and
sufficient car parking spaces. DCC’s Officers would fully support and endorse the
Borough Council’s requirements in this regard.
In the County Council’s Officer’s opinion, the existing Aldi foodstore at Station
Road, although technically located in an edge-of-centre location, nevertheless
performs an important role in contributing positively to the vitality and viability of
Buxton town centre, given its close proximity to the primary retail core of the town
centre. Details provided within the applicant’s Town Centre Health Check
Assessment, indicates that the existing convenience retail offer of the town centre
is already limited to relatively small existing Waitrose and Iceland stores together
with a small number of independent food retailers. The existing Aldi store,
however, is the largest convenience retail unit closest to the town centre serving
both a main food and top-up shopping function. It is the only ‘discount foodstore’ in
the town and the applicant’s RS clearly notes that given the significant increases in
the popularity of the discount foodstores since the store was built, it is unsurprising
that the existing Aldi store trades well over its benchmark trading position, with the
store currently estimated to be trading at around 281% of its benchmark turnover.
Further evidence provided in the applicant’s RS indicates that shoppers undertake
a significant amount of linked shopping trips between the store and other retail and
service functions within the town centre. Overall, therefore, the existing Aldi store is
considered to be a very important part of the town centre’s wider convenience retail
offer.
In the context of the above, it is noted that this issue is considered in significant
detail within Appendix 3 of the applicant’s RS, which highlights how even putting
aside the operational requirements of foodstore operators, a decked parking
solution and store extension is not feasible given the significant site constraints
even before any consideration of the design/visual impact such an approach would
have on a highly visible site located adjacent to and overlooking Buxton
Conservation Area.
DCC’s Officer’s consider that the robustness of this assessment is absolutely key to
the determination of the acceptability of the application proposals for the
replacement Aldi foodstore and compliance with national policies in the NPPF and
Local Plan Policy DS20. If HPBC does not accept the applicant’s assessment and
considers that the replacement foodstore could realistically be accommodated on
the existing Station Road site as they have suggested above, then DCC’s Officers
would consider that the planning application should be refused on grounds of
conflict with paragraph 86, 87 and 90 of the NPPF and the requirements of policy
DS20 of the Local Plan.
Retail Impact
In terms of the proposed Aldi store, as the proposal is for a replacement store, the
applicant’s approach in the RS is justified in that it is only the increase in turnover
associated with the replacement store that is relevant to the impact assessment.
This approach is taken as it is appropriately expected that the vast majority of the
existing store’s trade/custom is expected to be retained by the replacement store
as it will still be easily accessible to its existing customer base and that there is no
other discounter foodstore provision within Buxton.

Page 63

In terms of trade draw, it is noted and accepted that the existing Aldi store draws
the vast majority of its convenience goods turnover (85%) from the Buxton area
and that it is expected that this pattern of trade draw will continue for the
replacement store and that Zone 5 will be the primary catchment area for the
proposed development as set out in Table 12 of the applicant’s RS. The broad
pattern of trade draw anticipated is considered to be robust given the size and
nature of convenience retailers represented in Zone 5.
Table 12: Main trade Draw
Town centre
Waitrose 15%
Iceland 2%
Out of centre
Morrisons 55%
Sainsburys local 3%
Teso Express 4%
Zone 4 Aldi Bakewell 10%
Based on the predicted trade draw rates above, it is noted that Table 8 of Appendix
5 sets out both the trade diversion and impact of the proposed development from
Buxton town centre at the proposed design year of 2022. As can be seen in this
table, a total of £2.1million is expected to be diverted from Buxton town centre, of
which £0.7million would be convenience goods expenditure, with the remaining
£1.4million being comparison goods expenditure. This represents a combined
impact of 3.1% on the existing town centre turnover which is estimated at around
£67.4million per annum.
A further key consideration in addition to the actual diversion of £2.1 million of trade
from the town centre is the impact on linked trips between the existing Aldi store on
Station Road and other retail and service businesses in Buxton town centre, which
would be lost as a result of the relocation of the Aldi store to the application site.
Evidence regarding linked trips between the existing Aldi store and the town centre
is provided in the applicant’s RS based on the results of a Household Shopping
Survey. This survey indicates that 43% of respondents said that they carried out a
linked shopping trip when visiting the existing Aldi store and 61% of those
respondents indicated that they undertook a linked shopping trip to ether the town
centre (52%) or the Waitrose retail unit at Spring gardens (9%). It is particularly
noted that the applicant in the RS does not seek to quantify the potential loss of
additional trade to the town centre as a result of the loss of these linked trips mainly
concluding that this will be limited. It is considered, however, that the applicant’s
assessment and conclusions are likely to understate the potential impact on the
town centre of the loss of these linked shopping trips.
In addition, DCC’s Officers would disagree with the applicant’s conclusions in the
RS at paragraph 8.74 which states that:
‘8.74 Finally, in terms of the impact on consumer choice within the town centre, this
will be unaffected by the proposed development noting that the impact on individual
stores will be limited and is not expected to harm the ongoing viability of any
individual retailer. Whilst the proposal will result in the relocation of an existing
edge of centre store, the store will still be accessible by a range of means of

Page 64

transport with the larger store improving overall consumer choice in Buxton’.
Whilst it is accepted that the level of trade diversion from individual convenience
stores within the town centre, primarily Waitrose and Iceland, would not be likely to
threaten the trading viability of these stores, as noted above, in DCC’s Officer’s
opinion, the existing Aldi store (given its close proximity to the town centre of
Buxton) performs an important role as the largest convenience retail unit closest to
and accessible from the town centre and so it could be argued that the store
contributes positively to the overall convenience retail off of the town centre and the
overall vitality and viability of the town centre, particularly given the evidenced level
of linked trips between the store and town centre. Evidence in the applicant’s Town
Centre Health Check Assessment clearly indicates that the existing convenience
offer of the town centre is relatively limited and so the loss of the Aldi store from the
Station Road site would be likely to result in a worsening convenience offer within
the wider town centre area and a loss of significant levels of linked trips and
associated spin off expenditure with the centre, which would be an additional
impact on top of the predicted £2.1m loss of trade from the town centre overall.
In this respect, these potential impacts are compounded by the applicant’s
indication that, if planning permission is secured for the relocation of the Aldi store
to the application site at Ashbourne Road, they would not accept re-use of the
Station Road site or store by another convenience retailer (see further comments
below).
Impact on Planned Investment: Future High Streets Fund
An important consideration in the assessment of the potential impacts of the
application proposals is that HPBC has applied for a Future High Street Fund from
the Government to help transform the town centre. A draft masterplan has been
prepared to show the Council’s vision for the town centre, which was consulted on
in early 2020. HPBC is to present the masterplan and a business case to the
Government shortly to apply for funding.
In this context, it is considered that the significant concerns that are highlighted
above about the potential adverse impacts of the relocation and loss of the Aldi
foodstore from Station Road to the application site, would not sit well with proposals
for the Town Centre Masterplan and bid for Future High Streets Funding. In
addition, the Covid-19 pandemic is widely regarded as having had a major adverse
impact on the health of town centres across the Country from which recovery to
pre-Covid levels may take some time to achieve. Again, the potential loss of the
Aldi store from the Station Road site would not sit well with any potential future
recovery of Buxton town centre post Covid-19.
Overall Conclusions on Retail Impact
On the basis of the assessment above, the proposed Aldi foodstore within the
application proposals raises significant concerns in the context of national policies
for town centres and retailing in the NPPF and local development plan policies in
the Adopted HPLP, particularly Policy DS20.
Paragraph 11 of the NPPF requires that plans and decisions should apply a
presumption in favour of sustainable development and that for decision making this
means approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date
development plan without delay.

Page 65

It is clear that the foodstore element of the planning application proposals does not
conform with the requirements of the Policy DS20 of the HPLP, which allocates the
site for a local centre to include ‘Small scale A1 retail convenience development
(less than 200 m2 net sales)’. The proposed foodstore would have a retail
floorspace of 1,804 sqm, which considerably exceeds what is required under Policy
DS20. Furthermore, extant planning permission for the site and Local centre
includes a condition (26) that states that Classes A1, A2 and A3 of the floorspace
shall be limited to 600sqm of which no more than 500sqm (gross) shall be in A1
convenience use. Again, the floorspace proposed for the foodstore considerably
exceeds this requirement.
Whilst the new foodstore development as part of the Local Centre scheme could
have significant sustainability benefits when considered on its own merits by
providing a retail facility that could meet both the main food shopping and top-up
shopping needs of the large number of residents who will occupy the new
residential development at Foxlow Farm, there are significant concerns with the
potential impact on Buxton town centre as a result of the associated closure of the
existing Aldi store at Station Road on a site close to the town centre. Although the
existing Aldi store at Station Road is technically defined as an edge of centre
location in the context of the NPPF, the proximity of the site to the main town centre
shopping core means that the store plays an important role in the convenience
retailing offer of the wider town centre area and is the largest convenience retail
unit that is closest to and accessible from the town centre. From the assessment
above, it is clear that evidence indicates that there is currently a significant level of
linked shopping trips made by customers of the store with other retail and service
businesses within the town centre, with associated spin-off expenditure.
In the context of the above, the closure of the existing Aldi store and its proposed
relocation to the application site could have significant adverse impacts on Buxton
town centre due to the significant reduction of the convenience retail offer of the
wider town centre area and loss of associated linked shopping trips and associated
spin-off expenditure within the town centre. In addition, the opening of the new
foodstore and local centre is predicted to result in a trade diversion of over
£2million from the town centre, which would exacerbate the likely impacts on the
vitality and viability of the town centre. In terms of timing, the loss of the Aldi store
would be unfortunate given the ongoing impacts of Covid-19 on Buxton town centre
and uncertainty of the longer term impacts and prospects of recovery; and the High
Streets Funds bid by the Borough Council which has produced a draft masterplan
for the town centre as part of the bid.
The applicant has carried out a sequential site search to assess if there are any
sites within or on the edge of the town centre that could accommodate the
proposed new foodstore. DCC’s Officers agree that the only site with significant
potential to accommodate the new store is the existing site of the Aldi store at
Station Road. In this context, it is noted that HPBC considers that with flexibility a
scheme could be designed to accommodate the new store incorporating an
extension to the store and a decked parking solution and has asked the applicant
to explore this potential solution. DCC’s Officers fully support and endorse the
Borough Council’s requirements in this regard.
DCC’s Officers consider that the robustness of this assessment by the applicant is

Page 66

key to the determination of the acceptability of the application proposals for the
replacement Aldi foodstore and compliance with national policies in the NPPF and
Local Plan Policy DS20. If HPBC does not accept the applicant’s assessment and
considers that the replacement foodstore could realistically be accommodated on
the existing Station Road site as they have suggested above, then DCC’s Officers
would consider that the planning application should be refused on grounds of
conflict with paragraph 86, 87 and 90 of the NPPF and the requirements of policy
DS20 of the Local Plan.
DCC’s Officers would welcome the opportunity to comment further when the
Borough Council has agreed its formal position with regard to the availability of the
Station Road site. DCC’s Officers also consider that the Borough Council should
explore with the applicant the potential for re-use of the existing store or site at
Station Road for new convenience retailing, should it be minded to grant
permission for the replacement store. It is noted that the applicant has indicated
that they would not be willing re-let or market the store or site for new convenience
retail floorspace. This is considered to be an unreasonable approach given the
significant concerns set out above regarding the loss of the existing Aldi facility
from the site and its potential adverse impacts on Buxton town centre and the
convenience offer generally of the wider town centre area.
In this regard, all of the major food retailers in the Country including Asda,
Morrison’s, Sainbury’s and Tesco now have smaller town centre local formats that
may be suitable on the site. Other food discount retailers that currently do not have
representation in the Buxton area may also have a potential interest in the site such
as Lidl.
It is considered therefore that the re-use of the Station Road site for new
convenience retailing could be secured through an appropriate legal agreement
with the applicant.
Landscape and Visual Effects
The site occupies a prominent location adjacent to the A515, Ashbourne Road
approaching Buxton from the south-east. Opposite the site is the Staden Business
Park comprising various industrial units, retail (B&Q) and a fire station. The
surrounding landscape is defined and described as White Peak; Plateau Pastures
which transitions towards White Peak; Upland Limestone Pastures as it extends
towards Fox Low summit and Harpur Hill. Plateau Pastures is a simple limestone
landscape defined by regular shaped pastoral fields enclosed by limestone walls
with occasional plantation woodlands but retaining a generally open character with
extensive views. The site is consistent with those key characteristics being a
greenfield site of agricultural fields enclosed by limestone walls. The proposed
development would clearly see a distinct change of character from open farmland
to an urbanised local centre.
Visually the site is well contained primarily as a result of landform although some
localised tree groups and the existing settlement edge also assist in screening
views towards the site. However, the site occupies a visually prominent and open
frontage with the A515, which is an important gateway into the town and
connection to the Peak District National Park. The main views will be from road
users as there are currently few residential properties overlooking the site and a
single footpath that extends from the A515 to Foxlow Farm before connecting with

Page 67

Harpur Hill.
Design, Landscaping and Materials
Design - The overall approach of creating a courtyard development is supported in
principle and provides some containment (physically and visually) to the requisite
car parking. Unfortunately the central area is dominated by parking and a key
pedestrian spine connecting across the area between the supermarket and the
other retail units is not as strong as it could be through, for example, a more central
location within the square, a stronger continuation of pedestrian related materials or
landscaping. Furthermore the proposed location of the smaller retail parade at the
main entrance to the wider development, presents the rear of the buildings to this
important entry point, which would be dominated by high walls and service areas.
Whilst the courtyard would have strong containment to the north, west and south
the frontage along Ashbourne Road remains too open with the proposed landscape
strip comprising a few scattered trees and bulb planting. Containment and visual
mitigation along this frontage, including the main entrance area, might be achieved
through the creation of a more continuous belt of woodland planting or at least
strategically placed woodland blocks. The proposed dry stone wall located adjacent
to the car park is supported as a locally distinct feature and this, at least internally,
will add to that containment and local distinctiveness.
Landscaping - The overall approach to landscaping is acceptable although the
applicant should be urged to consider the tree and planting guidance in the relevant
section
of
the
‘Landscape
Character
of
Derbyshire’
publication
(www.derbyshire.gov.uk/landscape ), which provides the basis for landscape policy
across the county. The use of species such as beech and hornbeam are supported
although there are other species proposed that are not typically found in this
landscape such as birch and oak. Other species that might be considered include
sycamore, which is commonly occurring across the White Peak and is a very
effective screening tree. It is strongly urged that the landscape proposals present a
naturalistic approach to all outward facing aspects and ornamental planting is
restricted to the courtyard areas to help protect the transition between the urban
area and open countryside to the south/south-west of the site. In this regard
ornamental bulb planting along the A515 is inappropriate in this context and might
be better replaced with native wildflower plugs such as cowslips, meadow
cranesbill and harebells. Overall, Officers would recommend a simpler planting
palate to all ornamental areas reflecting the simplicity of the White Peak landscape
again perhaps with a greater emphasis on native wildflowers. Although some
planting is shown to the rear of the Aldi store, it is suggested that given the
landform at this location, a more appropriate landscape treatment would be to
construct a dry stone wall to the top of the embankment to provide the additional
screening along this elevation and create a sharper urban/rural interface. The use
of wildflower grassland on the embankment slope is supported.
Materials – the proposed materials for the local centre comprise a mix of artificial
stone, modern cladding, timber and glazed elevations to shop frontages. Given the
prominence of this site adjacent to the A515, Officers would much prefer to see the
use of natural limestone in the detailing of the most visually exposed elevations and
particularly where walling will be needed to retain quite pronounced level changes
such as around the main entrance to the site. Images in the Design and Access
Statement show the recently constructed Premier Inn in the town as a design
precedent when a better recent building would be the Buxton Water (Nestle)

Page 68

building at Waterswallows that has a similarly prominent position within the same
landscape character type. If it is determined that an artificial stone material is
acceptable then it is suggested that it should be a grey product that reflects the
colour of the natural limestone in the locality rather than the gritstone of the town
centre. The colour of the proposed cladding (RAL7012 and 7016) and the use of
timber that naturally greys would both be complimentary materials in this location.
Although not proposed, given that there are potential views from Fox Low hill
(Scheduled Monument) into the development the use of green roofing products
should be considered to help mitigate this visual effect and at the same time
increase the biodiversity credentials of the development; the mono-pitch roof
proposal is an ideal design detail for achieving this.
Derbyshire
Trust

Wildlife Conditional Response

Refer
Section

to

Ecology

11.08.21 (revised):
Biodiversity losses and gains have now been quantified for the above application
through the use of the DEFRA metric 2.0, in line with best practice guidance
(CIRIA, 2019). We have reviewed the copy of the metric and the Proposed Habitat
Map, which the metric is based on. We are satisfied with the information inputted
into the metric.
Replacing the existing habitats with those in the proposals will result in a net loss of
0.17 biodiversity units. This is minimal but still a net loss and therefore contradictory
to local and national planning policies, which aim for no net loss and strive for net
gain. The proposed landscaping does appear to maximise the biodiversity value
within the current layout and we cannot suggest any further amendments to further
reduce the loss without altering the layout.
It is for the LPA to decide whether they consider this loss acceptable to secure the
benefits of the scheme. We would note that no irreplaceable habitats are being lost
and that “habitats within the application site were of limited nature conservation
value being dominated by intensively managed agricultural land and of
correspondingly low species diversity and richness” (taken from the Ecological
Appraisal report, FPCR, 2021).
If the LPA is unable to accept a biodiversity loss, options include alterations to the
scheme layout to enable larger area(s) of landscaping or a payment based on the
residual loss of biodiversity units which could be spent on biodiversity/habitat
projects in the local area.
11.05.21:
We are pleased to see the detailed soft landscaping drawings and note the
inclusion of native plant and grassland mixes. Appropriate management for these
should be specified in any maintenance plan. The landscaping could be further
improved to maximise biodiversity value by utilising a flowering lawn mixture (e.g.
EL1) for the areas of amenity grassland, in place of the A22 mix proposed. In
addition, the planting mix to the rear of the large retail unit in the south-east should
be clarified. We suggest that this should comprise the native shrub mix B but it
appears to be labelled as mix I on the Landscape Sheet 3. We also advise that bat

Page 69

and bird boxes should be incorporated within the fabric of the new buildings and
the simplest way to do this would be to add them to the proposed drawings at this
stage e.g. Drawing 2703BOL-104. Rev. A to avoid a further condition. Alternatively
a condition could be attached. Should the LPA be minded to approve the
application, the following conditions are recommended:
Badgers
All excavations shall be covered overnight or else have an escape ramp to prevent
entrapment of badgers, hedgehogs and other wildlife. All pipework greater than 150
mm shall be blanked off at the end of the day and chemicals shall be stored
securely. Topsoil mounds shall be checked for badger activity prior to removal or
re-use. An ecologist shall be contacted if any evidence of badger activity is found
within the application area during development.
Nesting Birds
Site clearance (including arable land, vegetation and stone walls) shall take place
outside the bird breeding season, which falls between 1st March and 31st August
inclusive, unless preceded by a nesting bird survey undertaken by a competent
ecologist. If nesting birds are present, an appropriate exclusion zone will be
implemented and monitored until the chicks have fledged. No works shall be
undertaken within exclusion zones whilst nesting birds are present.
Bat and Bird Boxes (if details not provided at this stage)
Prior to building works commencing above foundation level, a bat and bird box plan
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA to provide a net
biodiversity gain (NPPF 2019). Such approved measures shall be implemented in
full and maintained thereafter, with photographs of the measures in situ submitted
to the LPA.
Environment Agency

No comments.

Refer to Drainage
Flood Risk Section

/

Refer to Heritage
Design Section

/

HPBC
Officer

Aboricultural Awaited (revised)

28.04.21:
Existing trees
There are no mature trees on site which are impacted on by the proposals. There
are some self-set trees in the highway verge but these areas not of any particular
significance. However where appropriate these should be retained.
On this basis there is no objection on arboricultural grounds. However I would like
to make some comments on the soft landscaping.
Landscaping
The landscaping should complement the landscaping of the adjacent residential
development. I recommend that the trees selected should be the same pallet of
species and the tree stock should be of the same size and quality of trees specified
for the adjacent site

Page 70

In terms of tree species Betula Jacquemontii is not appropriate and could be
replaced with other species from the selection. The elm species included (Ulmus
Procea) is suspectable to Dutch elm disease and should be replaced with a
resistant variety such as Ulmus ‘accolade’.
The local centre retail units back on to the entrance, which is not ideal from a
design perspective but this is compounded by the use of a block of shrubbery to
screen it from the gateway entrance to the site. It is a similar situation with the
electricity substation. Both these elements ideally should located further from the
key access to the site but where this is not possible a better soft/ hard landscaping
design solution should be proposed
There is some standard ornamental shrubbery along the frontage of the site to
screen the car park. The drystone wall should be the key feature here and where
some higher level green screen is required this should be a native hedgerow either mixed or possibly a single species such as hawthorn.
HPBC
Health

Environmental Conditional Response

Refer
Section

to

Amenity

06.08.21:
COMMENTS: Land Contamination
The contaminated land assessment reports submitted in support of the application
may be accepted BSP Consulting, “Phase II Exploratory Investigation Report” (ref:
FWBN‐BSP‐ZZ‐XX‐RP‐X‐001‐PO1), dated 28th August 2020.
AECOM
Environmental, “Foxlow Farm, Buxton Phase 1 Geo-Environmental Desk Study
Report” (ref: 60286491), dated June 2013. The reports indicate that contamination
remediation works will not be required. It should be noted that the site is within a
radon action area, and this is outside the scope of land contamination assessment.
Basic radon protection measures are likely required for the site.
COMMENTS: Artificial Lighting
The submitted lighting impact assessment (Loveday, “External Lighting Impact
Assessment” (ref: LL1260 revA), dated 2 nd March 2021) identifies the site as
Environmental Zone E3

To protect local amenity the site should more properly be assessed against the E2
Environmental Zone, that borders it. Condition 1 is therefore recommended.
Noise
The submitted noise impact assessment (Sharps Redmore, “Environmental Noise
Assessment for mixed use development”, (ref: 2120139), dated 14 th July 2021) may
be accepted. In light of the report and to protect public amenity the following

Page 71

conditions 2 and 3 are recommended.
Construction
The construction/demolition stage of the development could lead to an increase of
noise and dust etc. experienced at sensitive premises and subsequent loss of
amenity, for this reason the following conditions suggested:
1.

Artificial lighting (external)

2.

Noise rating level: industrial premises

3.

Acoustic screen to the children’s nursery.

4.

Construction and demolition – dust

5.

Construction & demolition: waste disposal

6.

Best practical means

7.

Construction & demolition works: time of operations

8.

On site radio

07.07.21:
The above application has been considered in relation to air quality impacts.
The application is accompanied by an air quality assessment undertaken by
Redmore Environmental (reference: 4302r2, 1st March 2021). Air quality impacts
can occur during both the construction and operational phases of the development.
The conclusions of the assessment are that air quality impacts are not significant
for both phases. As a result, Environmental Health has no objections to the
proposals in terms of air quality impacts. However, it is appropriate for
developments to minimise the impacts.
The conclusion for construction phase is based on good practice and the
implementation of the control measures through a construction environmental
management plan or similar. It is recommended that this is included as a condition
of development.
For the operational phase of development a number of measures are provided by
the applicant, including, provision of electric vehicle charging points, provision of
cycling parking, implementation of a travel plan, improvements to footpaths from
the development site. The requirement for the travel plan should be included as a
condition of development, in addition, to the provision of electric vehicle charging
points. It is noted that the proposals include five EV charging points. This
Department recommends a provision of 2.5% of total parking spaces are
designated for EV initially on the first day of the development opening, increasing to
5% within an agreed time period. 158 parking spaces are proposed, equating to
four spaces (rounded up) per 2.5%, eight in total. The developer may also wish to
identify spaces and include appropriate infrastructure for any future expansion of
the EV provision.

Page 72

Conditions are recommended for the following:






Submission to, and approval by, the LPA prior to development commencing
(including site preperation and clearance works) of a construction dust
management plan (this can be incorporated of a wider environmental
construction management plan). The plan shall be fully adhered to during
construction.
The provision of a minimum 2.5% of EV charing points at the opening of the
development, and provision of a further 2.5% within an agreed time period,
to be maintained (including replacement of equivalent or improved
performance charge points) for the life of the development.
Submission and agreement of a Travel Plan in conjunction with Derbyshire
County Council.

6. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION
High Peak Local Plan Adopted April 2016
Policy S1
Policy S1a
Policy S2
Policy S7
Policy EQ1
Policy EQ5
Policy EQ6
Policy EQ7
Policy EQ9
Policy EQ10
Policy EQ11
Policy CF1
Policy CF3
Policy CF6
Policy CF7
Policy DS20

Sustainable Development Principles
Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
Settlement Hierarchy
Buxton Sub-area Strategy
Climate Change
Biodiversity
Design and Place Making
Built and Historic Environment
Trees, Woodlands and hedgerows
Pollution Control and Unstable Land
Flood Risk Management
Retail and Town Centres
Local Infrastructure Provision
Accessibility and Transport
Planning Obligations and Community Infrastructure Levy
Land off Ashbourne Road and Foxlow Farm, Buxton

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2021 (as revised)
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
High Peak Design Guide 2018 SPD (Supplementary Planning Document)
Landscape Character SPD 2006
7. POLICY AND MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS
Planning Policy Context
7.1 The determination of a planning application should be made pursuant to
section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which is to be
read in conjunction with section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act

Page 73

1990. Section 38(6) requires the Local Planning Authority to determine planning
applications in accordance with the development plan, unless there are material
considerations which 'indicate otherwise'.
Section 70(2) provides that in
determining applications the Local Planning Authority "shall have regard to the
provisions of the Development Plan, so far as material to the application and to
any other material considerations”. The Development Plan currently consists of
the Adopted High Peak Local Plan 2016.
7.2 The NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework) was revised in July 2021
and is a mandatory material consideration in decision making. For sustainable
development Paragraph 8 of the NPPF states: “Achieving sustainable
development means that the planning system has three overarching objectives,
which are interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually supportive ways
(so that opportunities can be taken to secure net gains across each of the
different objectives):
a) an economic objective – to help build a strong, responsive and competitive
economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is available in the right
places and at the right time to support growth, innovation and improved
productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure;
b) a social objective – to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by
ensuring that a sufficient number and range of homes can be provided to meet
the needs of present and future generations; and by fostering a well-designed,
beautiful and safe places, with accessible services and open spaces that reflect
current and future needs and support communities’ health, social and cultural
well-being; and
c) an environmental objective – to protect and enhance our natural, built and
historic environment; including making effective use of land, improving
biodiversity, using natural resources prudently, minimising waste and pollution,
and mitigating and adapting to climate change, including moving to a low carbon
economy.
7.3 LP (Local Plan) Policy S1a ‘Presumption in Favour of Sustainable
Development’ establishes a presumption in favour of sustainable development as
contained within paragraph 11 of the NPPF. For decision taking with the
Borough, NPPF Paragraph 11 requires:
c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development
plan without delay;
Principle of Development
7.4 Full planning permission is sought for the provision of a local centre, including
an Aldi supermarket. It is pursuant to the commercial element of the extant
outline consent ref. HPK/2013/0603 dated 4th November 2014, which established
the principle of development for a mixed use scheme comprising of: up to 375
dwellings; up to 70 residential and / or retirement facility; local centre containing
A1-A4 uses and business / community use; public open space, including NEAP
(Neighbourhood Equipped Play Area), MUGA (Multi-use Games Area) and
allotments as per the illustrative masterplan.

Page 74

7.5 Strategic matters were assessed in relation to impacts of: landscape,
including the Peak District National Park; heritage in relation to Fox Low Bowl
Barrow Scheduled Ancient Monument; below ground archaeology; drainage /
local flood risk; water quality in relation to both water extraction and discharge to
the River Wye; ecology; trees; road pollution; contamination; the provision of a
local centre including specified use classes; affordable housing and infrastructure
provision. These matters were found to be acceptable for the quantum of
development as proposed, subject to the planning conditions / obligations as
secured by the outline consent, including a requirement for development to be
undertaken in broad accordance with the illustrative masterplan. The approved
local centre is shown as a rectangular area of frontage land to the southeast of
the approved access point and 2.0ha secured within legal agreement for this
purpose.
7.6 As well, there was an inherent expectation of the delivery of a landscape-led
and high quality scheme at the reserved matters stage in relation to matters of
layout, design and landscaping for both aspects of the mixed use scheme.
7.7 In terms of highway safety considerations, the outline consent secured the
proposed main site access arrangements off the Ashbourne Road, as well as the
other access points as shown on the illustrative masterplan. In these regards,
access matters were found to be acceptable in terms of proposed access points.
The scheme’s impact was also judged as acceptable on the wider local highway
network, subject to achieving offsite junction improvements were secured.
7.8 Reserved matters planning permission ref. HPK/2017/0590 has also been
granted for the residential aspect of the outline approval comprising a total of 395
dwellings. It is currently being built out as a single phase with some dwellings
now occupied.
7.9 Importantly, the extant outline consent has established the principle of
development with site access matters and represents the planning fallback
position. Condition 26 restricts gross floorspace for the delivery of a small scale
convenience retail alongside wider business, non-residential institutions and
leisure uses to ensure compliance with Policy Allocation DS20 as follows:





600 sqm of Use Class A1-A3 floorspace, or which no more than 500sqm
(gross) shall be in A1 convenience use;
Class A4 floorspace limited to 580sqm;
Class B1 floorspace limited to 1,000sqm; and,
Class D1 floorspace limited to 1,000sqm excluding art galleries, museums,
and, leisure and cultural uses including any other use constituting a 'main
town centre use' as defined by Annex 2 of the National Planning Policy
Framework.

7.10 The application scheme seeks a local centre within a 1.56 ha site area,
however, the legal agreement for the outline scheme secured a minimum of 2.0ha
for this purpose. Any change would be subject to a written agreement with the
Council. The remaining site area shown as local centre for the purposes of the
outline indicative masterplan is excluded from the red edge location plan.

Page 75

7.11 The applicant seeks to deliver a mix of uses and variety of local services /
facilities as follows:




1,804sqm – Aldi Foodstore (Use Class E ‘Commercial Business &
Service’)
557sqm – Retail Parade (Use Class E / Sui Generis e.g. hot food
takeaway and public house / drinking establishment).
557sqm - Nursery (Use Class E)

7.12 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) glossary defines main
town centre uses as: “Retail development (including warehouse clubs and factory
outlet centres); leisure, entertainment facilities the more intensive sport and
recreation uses (including cinemas, restaurants, drive-through restaurants, bars
and pubs, night-clubs, casinos, health and fitness centres, indoor bowling
centres, and bingo halls); offices; and arts, culture and tourism development
(including theatres, museums, galleries and concert halls, hotels and conference
facilities)”.
7.13 The proposed nursery use falls outside the definition of main town centre
uses and no objections are raised to its principle inclusion within the Foxlow Farm
Local Centre. The convenience retail element of the scheme for the proposed
Aldi foodstore totals 1,804 sqm, which considerably exceeds the 200sqm
convenience floorspace threshold set out DS20 and Condition 26 of planning
permission HPK/2013/0603, which stipulates a restriction of 600sqm of A1- A3
floorspace of which no more than 500 sqm shall be in A1 convenience use. As
such, there is a requirement in DS20 for the applicant to demonstrate that the
retail element of the proposals meets the requirement of the NPPF relating to the
sequential and impact tests first and foremost as well as the other relevant
policies of the LP as will be discussed below.
7.14 Development will be directed towards the most sustainable locations in
accordance with the settlement hierarchy set out at LP Policy S2 ‘Settlement
Hierarchy’. In accordance with the settlement hierarchy, Buxton is regarded as a
‘Market town’ where a moderate scale of development may be acceptable,
consistent with meeting local rural needs and maintaining or enhancing their role,
distinctive character or appearance whilst also maintaining existing facilities and
services.
7.15 LP Policy S7 ‘Buxton Sub-area Strategy’ states: “The Council and its
partners will seek to establish Buxton as England’s leading spa town and
consolidate its role as the principal service centre for the Peak District. This will
be achieved by: (3) Encouraging the growth of local employment opportunities
and supporting the diversification and growth of the local economy by: allocating
suitable, deliverable sites for industrial and business use sufficient to meet the
economic needs of the area … supporting the needs of local businesses and
employers … (4) Supporting enhancements to key community services,
infrastructure and connectivity to allow Buxton to consolidate its role as a selfcontained service centre and supporting growth by: … 4th Bullet designating a
new Local Centre at Harpur Hill to support the development of small scale
convenience retail (less than 200sqm net sales), business, non-residential
institutions and leisure …”. LP Policy CF1 also sets out the local retail hierarchy
and confirms that proposals for major town centre use developments, defined as

Page 76

200sqm or more of retail (A1) net sales, will be required to submit and
demonstrate accordance with the impact and sequential test.
7.16 Since the adoption of the Local Plan, the Council has sought to facilitate the
regeneration of the town centre. To this end, the Council has successfully
secured £6.6m from the Government’s Future High Street Fund. The aim of the
Future High Streets Fund is to renew and reshape town centres and high streets
in a way that drives growth, improves experience and ensures future economic
sustainability which means that they are not fully reliant on retail. The funding
provides financial support for transformative and structural changes to overcome
local and national challenges and diversify town centre uses. An indicative
Masterplan for the Town Centre has been developed and subject to public
consultation with the focus now on the delivery of the project.
7.17 Chapter 7 ‘Ensuring the vitality of town centres’ sets out policies relating to
town centres and main town centre uses.
7.18 Paragraph 87 of the NPPF requires proposals for main town centre uses to
demonstrate accordance with the sequential test where they are located in an
out-of-centre location and are not in accordance with an up-to-date plan (i.e. not
allocated for such uses). In applying the sequential test, paragraph 87 confirms
that main town centre uses should be located in town centres then in edge of
centre locations, and only if suitable sites are not available (or not expected to
become available within a ‘reasonable period’) should out of centre locations be
considered.
7.19 Paragraph 88 goes on to confirm that when considering edge and out of
centre proposals, preference should be given to accessible sites which are well
connected to the town centre. It also requires applicants to demonstrate flexibility
on issues such as format and scale through the application of the test.
7.20 Paragraph 90 requires the preparation of an impact assessment when
assessing applications for retail and leisure development outside town centres
where they are not in accordance with an up-to-date plan, considering the impact
of the proposal on planned public and private investment in centres and on town
centre vitality and viability. An impact assessment is only required where the
proposals exceed a locally set threshold or, in the absence of any such threshold,
for proposals over 2,500sqm of gross floorspace.
7.21 Paragraph 91 confirms that where an application fails the sequential test or
is likely to have a significant adverse impact on one or more of the impact
considerations set out at paragraph 90, it should be refused.
7.22 As the scale of development proposed is beyond that allocated for the Local
Centre in Policies CF1 and DS20, a retail impact assessment and sequential site
assessment are required. The planning application is supported by a detailed
RAA (Retail Assessment Addendum) further to the submission of the applicant’s
RA (Retail Assessment) dated June 2020 submitted at the pre-application stage.
In addition, the applicant has provided a sensitivity assessment relating to the
potential re-occupation of the existing Aldi unit (L008) dated 12th August 2021.

Page 77

7.23 In order to ensure that the technical retail planning assumptions and
conclusions made by the applicant were robust, the Council appointed its own
retail planning consultants to advise it. This work began with consideration of the
scope of the necessary assessments.
The applicant’s subsequent Retail
Assessment (June 2020) concluded:


Sequential assessment – no suitable and available sites were identified
with the following sites being considered and ruled out; The Springs
Shopping Centre Car Park, Former Marks and Spencer store, Spring
Gardens, existing Aldi Store; and the former Buxton Water Bottling Plant.



Impact assessment – the assessment considered existing provision, trade
draw, trade diversion and impact on; linked trips, planned investment,
Town Centre investment and vitality and viability.

7.24 In terms of existing provision, both the existing Aldi and Morrison foodstores
are found to be overtrading against company turnover benchmarks (edge of
centre and out of centre respectively). The in-centre stores of Iceland and
Waitrose were broadly at and below benchmarks respectively.
7.25 With the new store in place, the majority of convenience trade was projected
to be diverted from Morrisions (55%) with 15% from Waitrose. 10% would come
from the Aldi store in Bakewell with more modest diversions from stores
elsewhere. Comparison goods trade to both the small units and the ancillary
trade at the new Aldi would largely be drawn from the town centre and the
adjacent B&Q. The overall impact in terms of the loss of potential linked trips
between Aldi customers and the town centre was deemed to be limited.
7.26 In relation to the impact on planned investment in the town centre, no
relevant commitments with planning consent were identified. Nevertheless,
officers advised the applicant to consider the Future High Street Fund proposals.
However, the applicant did not deem this necessary as the “masterplan is at a
very early stage and there is no final scheme, no development partner, and no
funding arrangements yet secured. In any case, whilst the current masterplan
suggests a potential extension to the existing Waitrose store, it is not a retail led
masterplan and specifically aims to create a broader mix of uses and attract new
leisure, office, and commercial uses…”. The applicant cites the guidance and a
decision made by the Secretary of State on a scheme at Cribbs Causeway as
being justification for this position.
7.27 In terms of the impact on the vitality and viability of the town centre, a limited
trade diversion from town centre convenience stores was deemed not to make
any existing stores unviable with a 4.1% turnover impact on Waitrose and 2.9%
on Iceland with a 3.3% impact on the town centre as a whole. In relation to
comparison goods, a 2.4% impact on the town centre was identified (assuming all
of the small retail units are occupied by comparison goods retailers) with limited
impacts on individual retailers.
7.28 Overall, the scheme was considered by the applicant not to have a
significant adverse impact on the town centre.

Page 78

7.29 The Council and its retail consultants considered the Retail Assessment and
concluded the following:


Sequential assessments – the applicant’s conclusions that The Springs
Car Park, former M&S store, and former bottling plant were not suitable
and available were accepted. However, in relation to the suitability of the
existing Aldi site to accommodate, the applicant was asked to explore the
scope to provide a decked car park to accommodate the expansion of the
store.



Impact assessment – overall, it was considered the retail impact test has
been passed and that there would not be a significant adverse impact on
the town centre. However, the Council’s own retail consultants advised that
the applicant’s assessment had underestimated the impact on the town
centre and on Waitrose in particular. However, even with more realistic
assumptions regarding trade diversion away from Waitrose, impact levels
arising from the proposed development are unlikely to reach significant
adverse’ levels on the town centre as whole.

7.30 Conditions should be imposed on the new development to ensure that it
trades in line with the assumptions made in the impact assessment. This would
ensure that the impacts are in line with those considered by the Council and
deemed policy compliant. The consultant advised that these conditions should
include a limitation on the proposed foodstore to “limited product line deep
discount retailing” (the sale of no more than 2,000 individual product lines).
7.31 At the request of the Council, an Addendum to the Retail Assessment (May
2021) was submitted by the applicant after the submission of the application
proposal. This highlighted updates to the Retail Assessment (March 2021) as
submitted and provided further commentary on the impact of the Future High
Street Fund which has progressed since June 2020 when originally considered
with Government funding being confirmed. In summary, they concluded:


Sequential assessment – in response to the Council’s request that the
scope for a decked car park and store expansion on the existing Aldi site
was considered, an assessment of this was put forward. This concluded
that such an arrangement would not be feasible due to site constraints
(e.g. HGV access). The visual impact such an approach would have on a
highly visible site located adjacent to and overlooking Buxton Conservation
Area. The arrangement would also fail to provide a sufficient number of
parking spaces.



Impact assessment – updates the the assessment were made to apply the
latest expenditure growth projections, floorspace efficiencies and special
forms of trading rates (Experian, October 2020) as well as updated
(higher) sales density assumptions for the new store. This resulted in a
3.3% impact on the convenience goods turnover of the town centre as a
whole and an increased impact on Waitrose of 4.5% and on Iceland
(3.2%). The overall impact on comparison goods was deemed to be 3.1%.
In relation to the impact on planned investment in the town centre in the
form of the FHSF (Future High Streets Fund), the applicant again
discounts full consideration of the impact as, in spite of the confirmation of

Page 79

Government funding, the project remains at an early stage and therefore
the previous conclusion in light of the Cribbs Causeway decision are
applicable. Nevertheless, the applicant goes on to state that even if the
Future High Streets Fund was considered as a planned investment in the
town centre, there would not be a significant adverse impact on the town
centre in light of the application. Justification for this position includes the
point that the FHSF masterplan is not retail led.
7.32 Having reviewed the Retail Statement Addeundum with the Council’s retail
consultant, Officer’s views are that:


The applicant’s conclusions that the provision of a decked car park at the
existing Aldi site are not feasible and would not provide a sufficient number
of spaces are credible.



In relation to the latest conclusion on impact on planned investment, we
concur that due to case law, the FHSF cannot be deemed to have
progressed to stage at which it can be considered as planned investment
as there is not a final scheme or development partner.

7.33 In relation to the new conclusions on the impact on vitality and viability, the
increase in impact is noted. Our retail consultants conclude that the applicant
“has under-estimated the potential trade likely to be diverted from the Waitrose
store at 15% (and similarly overstated that from Morrison at 55%). This means
that Waitrose is likely to be left trading lower than 90% of its benchmark and the
impact on the town centre convenience goods sector is anticipated to be higher
than -3.7%. However, even if sensitivity tests are run at e.g. 20% or 25% trade
diverted from Waitrose the impact levels generated either on the convenience
goods sector and the town centre as a whole (which is the test) still remain low;
below levels where significant adverse impact is likely to arise. In terms of
Waitrose, which is a key attractor in the centre in our view, officers agree it is
likely to continue trading despite the increased competition from the larger Aldi
and, in the end, would benefit from the planned longer term investment at Springs
Garden for which it is an integral part. Impact on the comparison goods sector
remains not at a significant level and is likely to be spread amongst stores
depending, in part, on the eventual make-up of the unit shops. Even with more
robust sensitivity assumptions, impact levels arising from the proposed
development are unlikely to reach ‘significant adverse’ levels on the town centre
as whole”.
7.34 In response to consultation feedback, the officers asked the applicant to
consider sensitivity testing to help determine the impacts of the future re-use of
the existing Aldi store on Station Road. The applicant duly undertook sensitivity
testing of two potential future scenarios for the re-use of the existing store: Reoccupation of the existing store by a mixed-goods retailer – this assumed a
format similar to B&M Bargains, Home Bargains or Quality Save with up to 40%
of net floorspace being used for convenience goods sales (429sqm net in this
instance). When compared to the previous assessment, the cumulative impact
would rise slightly to a total impact on the convenience goods turnover in the town
centre of 5.5%. When impact is assessed on the town centre as a whole (the
retail test) cumulative impact is assessed at -4.4% on town centre turnover. Reoccupation of the existing store by a comparison retailer - when compared to the

Page 80

previous assessment the sensitivity analysis finds a cumulative impact on Buxton
town centre would rise slightly, to a total impact of -5.6%.
7.35 The Council’s retail consultant concurred with the findings of the sensitivity
assessment as provided and concluded that the scenarios tested were not likely
to give rise to a significant adverse impact on town centre turnover. However,
they also suggested that the Council may chose to impose a restriction on the
amount of floorspace given over the convenience goods trading by any future
occupant to the level assessed i.e. 429sqm net. This would ensure no greater
impact on the town centre than that assessed and deemed not to be significantly
adverse. The consultant also questioned the absence of a scenario to test the
impact of the re-occupation of the store for a convenience retail i.e. another
supermarket. As such, the impact of more than 429sqm net of the existing store
being used for convenience goods is unknown.
7.36 In light of the above, officers are of the view that there are no sequentially
preferrable sites to accommodate the development and the scheme will not result
in a significant adverse impact on the town centre. However, in order to ensure
that there is no greater impact on the town centre than that assessed, conditions
could be attached to limit the size of the store (gross and sales area), amount of
comparison goods floorspace, sub-division and insertion of mezzanine, to restrict
use to a ‘limited assortment discounter’ and limit the number units and amount of
floorspace used as part of the remainder of the local centre for retail uses in line
with the assumptions made in the impact assessment. The applicant has
questioned the validity of the limited assortment discounter condition on the basis
that it is outdated and difficult to enforce. Instead, they have proposed an
alternative planning condition, which would limit the trading characteristics of the
new discounter store as considered by the retail impact assessment. This would
prevent the sale of prescription pharmaceutical products, post office services, dry
cleaning, financial services, fresh fish, hot food, cheese and meat counter(s),
photographic / mobile phone shop or café / restaurant provision and to effectively
restrict the operation of the foodstore to a discounter model. The applicant has
also agreed to those recommended conditions that serve to limit: the size of the
Aldi foodstore (gross and sales area); amount of comparison goods floorspace
within the foodstore; sub-division and insertion of mezzanine floor and limit the
number units and amount of floorspace used as part of the remainder of the local
centre for retail uses. Precise condition wording would need to ensure future
enforceability in relation to ensuring town centre vitality and viability.
7.37 Whilst a convenience goods retailer scenario has not been assessed at the
Station Road site, a proposed restriction to limit the future convenience good
floorspace of the existing Aldi Station Road store to 429.0sqm would in effect rule
out the possibility of this coming forward. This would be deemed appropriate
given that even the limited additional convenience floorspace associated with the
mixed-good scenario indicates a greater impact on the town centre. The
Council’s consultant therefore advises that the applicant should enter into a legal
agreement to limit the future convenience goods floorspace of the existing Aldi
Station Road store to 429.0sqm which has been accepted by the applicant in
principle.
7.38 The new foodstore development as part of the Local Centre scheme would
have significant sustainability benefits when considered on its own merits by

Page 81

providing a retail facility that could meet both the main food shopping and top-up
shopping needs of the large number of residents who will occupy the new
residential development at Foxlow Farm. Together, the scheme would also
provide further community service and facility delivery with associated economic
growth including notable job creation. Furthermore, there are no significant
concerns with the potential impact on Buxton town centre as a result of the
associated closure of the existing Aldi store at Station Road on a site close to the
town centre.
7.39 In conclusion, whilst the application proposes a greater amount of
convenience retail floorspace than that envisaged by the Adopted Local Plan for
the Foxlow Farm Local Centre and fallback position. The scheme, however, is
considered to be compliant with Local Plan policies in relation to the principle of
the uses proposed to achieve compliance with the requirements of LP Policies
CF1 ‘Retail and Town Centres’ and DS20 ‘Land off Ashbourne Road and Foxlow
Farm’ in particular and the NPPF regarding retail impact assessment in relation to
town centre vitality and viability. This approach therefore would be subject to the
imposition of suitably worded planning conditions including a limitation on the
proposed foodstore to effectively restrict the operation of the foodstore to a
discounter model as well as legal agreement restricing the future convenience
good floorspace of the existing Aldi Station Road store to 429.0sqm going
forward.
Character and Appearance
7.40 LP Policies S1 ‘Sustainable Development Principles and EQ6 ‘Design
Place Making’ seek to secure high quality design in all developments
responds positively to its environment and contributes to local distinctiveness
a sense of place by taking account of the distinct character, townscape
setting of the area.

and
that
and
and

7.41 Paragraph 134 of the NPPF states: “Development that is not well designed
should be refused, especially where it fails to reflect local design policies and
government guidance on design (Contained in the National Design Guide and
National Model Design Code), taking into account any local design guidance and
supplementary planning documents such as design guides and codes.
Conversely, significant weight should be given to:
a) development which reflects local design policies and government guidance on
design, taking into account any local design guidance and supplementary
planning documents such as design guides and codes; and/or
b) outstanding or innovative designs which promote high levels of sustainability,
or help raise the standard of design more generally in an area, so long as they fit
in with the overall form and layout of their surroundings”.
7.42 In view of the site’s peripheral location adjoining open countryside, LP Policy
EQ2 ‘Landscape Character’ requires development to be informed by and be
sympathetic to the distinctive landscape White Peak character as identified in the
High Peak Landscape Character SPD (Supplementary Planning Document).
7.43 At the outline planning application stage, it was acknowledged that the
development of a greenfield site with few detracting features would have a

Page 82

substantial adverse effect on the character of the area, which would be
completely changed as a result of built development. It was accepted, however,
that an appropriately designed residential scheme, utilising key characteristics
from the surrounding landscape could be made to appear acceptable in both
townscape, heritage and landscape character terms. As with all developments of
this type, the appropriate detail and its overall effect on landscape character
would be dependant on design quality relating to matters of: layout, scale,
materials and building styles and importantly the scheme’s relationship with the
surrounding countryside and ‘Foxlow Bowl Barrow’ SAM (Scheduled Ancient
Monument) setting.
7.44 In respect of the pre-application OPUN Design (Architecture and Design
Centre for the East Midlands) assessment undertaken by Keepmoat for the
reserved matters residential consent, to a degree, remains applicable to the
proposed Local Centre scheme.
7.45 The Panel considered that the existing landscaping features within the site
provided for both a strong green character and sense of identity. The
incorporation of these key aspects of the site was considered by OPUN to be
critical in creating a landscape-led and successful development scheme.
Accessible green routes / fingers leading to and connecting the landscape were
recommended to aid both site legibility / identity and in visually connecting the
application site with the SAM setting and open countryside beyond. It was
considered that they could also form part of the informal open space onsite
provision. Other OPUN commentary referred to maximising opportunities for rural
/ informal play to strengthen the rural character of the site, utlising the existing
landscape to soften the newly created built edge of the scheme and creating a
strong green gateway into the site from the Ashbourne Road frontage.
7.46 The Local Centre scheme proposes 2919sqm GIA within a 1.56ha site area.
It therefore represents a more intensive form of development with regard to both
the fallback position and policy context restricting the Local Centre to 2500sqm
within a 2.0ha site area. It excludes higher ground to the southeast of the
application site secured as local centre within the outline consent, which is not
within the applicant’s control.
7.47 The schematic Local Centre as shown on the approved masterplan showed:
an enclosed courtyard typology demonstrating a rural character and domestic
scale; enclosure for privacy and placemaking; related to the housing road
frontage and orientated to residential areas; retained green buffer to the main
road and entrance road into the estate and related to landform.
7.48 The scheme has been subject to preapplication advice and officers have
sought expert commentary on design / layout matters from County Urban Design
and Landscape Officers. They have advised that the scheme should respect the
sensitivity of the context, including the approach into Buxton along the A515 from
the Peak District. This is viewed as critical to the impression of the town as a
whole, for local visitors and tourists also. The industry opposite is well screened
and viewed as lower from the road and therefore is not considered to be
disruptive to wider views in the landscape.

Page 83

7.49 Some concern has been raised that the scale and form of the Local Centre
scheme would give a commercial character reflective of an out of town Retail
Park rather than a domestic centre. It is acknowledged that the location of small
retail units of 1000sqm would provide for a sense of both attachment and
relationship to the adjoining residential element of the wider scheme. The revised
orientation of the Aldi perpendicular to the A515 is considered to be more
responsive to the housing areas and Aldi frontage would be less dominant to the
main road. The Aldi side elevations have been well designed not be an unsightly
service area from the main road.
7.50 It has been advised that the wide landscaped verge of grass and scattered
trees along the A515 buffering existing housing as far into the town as the Harpur
Hill Road should be maintained as a distinct transition between the rural and the
town. The proposed scheme buffer is less than the suggested buffer as
envisaged by the fallback position and DS20 policy requirements. Nevertheless,
the 15.0m tree planted buffer width with rough grass below the Ashbourne Road
frontage alongside the additional block planting to the northeast ‘side’ of the Aldi
store will assist in softening the supermarket’s built form. It has been advised that
the existing stone wall bordering the A515 is retained, together with the second
stonewall beyond as is shown on the proposed site plan.
7.51 The proposed footpath link across the carpark would not provide for strong
pedestrian linkages between the units. Whilst public space would be limited to
the forecourt areas of the retail units, given the dominance of car parking
proposed, within the layout the scheme lacks place making qualities.
Nevertheless, hard landscaping needs to be high quality to reinforce public
approaches from housing areas into scheme, especially in front of the crèche and
public areas.
7.52 Revisions, however, have achieved increased frontage landscaping to the
northwest entrance to be more characterful. In addition, the proposed nursery
has been located to the southwest corner of the site to be more integral with the
estate. Pedestrian movement to the nursery is not ideal via the adjacent stepped
access from the site’s southwest boundary, however, the nearby ramp by Aldi has
been considered as acceptable by County Highways.
7.53 Drystone walls have been included within the retail element fronting both
Ashbourne Road and previously the boundary facing the new Keepmoat
residential development, which should be reinstated. These are considered to
add rural character to the scheme being reminiscent of traditional field
boundaries. It is further advised that gateways can be simple gaps in the wall
without any need for over fussy stone pillars or gateways.
7.54 The layout and design of some parts of the Local Centre scheme fail to
respect the Ancient Monument setting and Harpur Hill site gateway into Buxton
with particular regard to the more intensive form of development and reduced site
area over and above the fallback position. In particular, the Local Centre scheme
would be more commercial in nature with the addition of the large footprint food
store and associated car parking. Whilst the development form would be
presented as a loose courtyard arrangement, the central area would be
dominated by substantial car parking and together with the large footprint Aldi
store would seek to urbanise this aspect of the site.

Page 84

7.55 On matters of appearance in relation to elevational treatment, the OPUN
panel further recognised the impact of the development on longer range views
with a need for the development scheme to be sensitive to its site context, which
requires a material palette to be muted in tone and in particular employ a
sensitive material for the roofs.
7.56 The materials palette for the nursery would consist of reconstituted stone
walling with elements of sage green render to the elevations. The individual retail
units substitute the render for composite and timber cladding combined with
reconstituted stone walling for the elevational treatment. The Aldi food store
combines composite cladding with reconstituted stone walling to its facing walls.
All the roofs, soffits and eaves would comprise of powder coated aluminium and
would achieve a recessive appearance in longer distance views. The artificial
stone material is deemed to be acceptable, however it should be a grey product
that reflects the colour of the natural limestone in the locality rather than the
gritstone of the town centre. Also, the colour of the proposed cladding (RAL7012
and 7016) and the use of timber that naturally greys would both be complimentary
materials in this location. In addition, given that there are potential views from
Fox Low hill (Scheduled Monument) into the development, the use of green
roofing products should be considered by the applicant to help mitigate this visual
effect, which at the same time would increase the biodiversity credentials of the
development. The County consider the mono-pitch roof proposals to be an ideal
design detail for achieving this. The applicant’s comments have been sought in
these regards and will be reported via the Update Sheet.
7.57 Positively, the section information provided demonstrates limited cut and fill
to accommodate the Local cente scheme. Sections of limestone gabion walling
would address levels change to the south of the Aldi store and fronatage
landscape buffer raised. The nursery parking areas would be retained by
reconstituted stone walling. Drystone walling should be introduced to the
southwest boundary of the Local Centre scheme as was envisaged by the preapplication scheme and a further planning condition is recommended to secure
such contextual improvements. The recommended 2.0 metre acoustic fencing to
the nursery boundary may have the potential to cause character and appearance
concerns. Clarification has been sought from the applicant in these regards an
update will be provided via the Update Sheet.
7.58 The principles of the landscaping scheme have deemed to be acceptable by
the County Landscape Officer and Council’s Aboricultural Officer who have
recommended a planning condition to agree detail and implementation, including
hard surfacing which are key to assisting in mitigating harm as a result of layout
and scale concerns and providing for a locally contextual scheme in this edge of
settlement location and gateway into Buxton.
7.59 As a result, there are some concerns that the Local Centre would not deliver
a development which overall responds positively to its environment or would fully
contribute towards local distinctiveness and this matter will be returned to in the
concluding section below.
Heritage

Page 85

7.60 LP Policy EQ7 further seeks to conserve heritage assets in a manner
appropriate to their significance and echoes the advice of the Framework in these
respects. The thrust of the Framework is that ‘sustainable development’ seeks to
conserve and enhance the significance of heritage assets.
7.61 At the outline planning application stage, the Council determined that the
proposed ‘less than substantial’ harm to the significance of the SAM through its
setting were justified in terms of the public benefits of the scheme as required by
the Framework. As a result, it is necessary to consider whether the proposed
development seeks to conserve the SAMs significance and minimise any harmful
impacts associated with the scheme for a local centre over and above the fallback
position.
7.62 The application submission has been accompanied by a Heritage Statement
dated February 2021. It identifies three heritage assets potentially affected by the
development as follows:





Boundary Earthwork, Ashbourne Rd Buxton: a Medieval and PostMedieval estate boundary earthwork. A non-designated heritage asset,
surviving as a low earthwork running through the site,
The line of a Roman Road (“The Street”), a non-designated heritage asset,
part of which possibly runs through the site – although this is conjectural
and previous archaeological investigations in the vicinity of the site have
found no surviving physical evidence for the road, and,
Fox Low bowl barrow, a Scheduled Monument on Harpur Hill 390m southsouth-west of the study site, whose setting may be affected.

7.63 It confirms that the archaeological potential of the development site has
previously been evaluated through programmes of geophysical survey and handdug test pitting, and two phases of archaeological trial trenching. Also, additional
corroborating evidence has been provided through evaluation of the surrounding
residential development area confirm a low potential for the presence of any other
or as yet undiscovered archaeological heritage assets. The Statement further
establishes that the proposed development will result in the loss of surviving
archaeological evidence for the part of the boundary earthwork within the study
site. Furthermore, any archaeological evidence for the Roman road line, should it
be present, would similarly be lost. The Statement outlines a strategy to mitigate
these adverse effects within the study site through a programme of post-consent
archaeological investigation and recording. These mitigation measures could be
secured by a planning condition and County Archaelogy have agreed to this
approach.
7.64 The applicant’s Heritage Statement further considers that there would be
less than substantial harm at the lower end of the spectrum to the Scheduled
Monument as a result of the proposed Local Centre against the fallback position.
This has considered the impact of the residential development at Foxlow Farm,
which would result in a change to a part of the barrow’s setting to the northeast
and the north of Harpur Hill and how the barrow can be experienced from
locations on the summit of Harpur Hill and from elsewhere.
7.65 Paragraph 197 of the NPPF states that in determining applications, local
planning authorities should take account of:

Page 86

“a) the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets
and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;
b) the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to
sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and
c) the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local
character and distinctiveness”.
7.66 In detail, LP Policy EQ7 seeks to protect the historic environment and
conserve heritage assets in a manner appropriate to their significance with
particular protection being given to Listed Buildings, Conservation Areas, Historic
Parks and Gardens etc. It requires authorities to prevent the loss of buildings and
features which make a positive contribution to the character or heritage of an area
through preservation or appropriate reuse and sensitive development, including
enabling development, unless it can be demonstrated that the substantial harm or
loss is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm or
loss or other relevant provisions of the NPPF apply.
7.67 Paragraph 199 of the NPPF states that in determining applications, local
planning authorities should take account of:
“When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a
designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s
conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should
be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial
harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance”.
7.68 Paragraph 200 of the NPPF states:
“Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset (from its
alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting), should require
clear and convincing justification”.
7.69 Paragraph 202 of the NPPF is therefore triggered which states:
“Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the
significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against
the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its
optimum viable use”.
7.70 The Council is required to assess whether the harm to heritage assets is
outweighed by any ‘public benefits’ deriving from the scheme, including where
appropriate, securing its optimum viable use. The heritage assets should be
given their proper weight and special regard in accordance with the 1990 Act
when weighing up all planning considerations for this scheme.
7.71 County Archaeology have confirmed that the proposed Local Centre site is
approximately 350.0m from the scheduled bowl barrow at Fox Low. With regard
to the setting of Foxlow Bowl Barrow, they advise that the scheme should be
considered alongside the surrounding Foxlow Farm housing development,
specifically with regard to its layout, materials and landscaping.

Page 87

7.72 Previously, County Archaeology acknowledged that there was little direct
intervisibility between the SAM itself and the application site, although the
experience of the monument is tied up with the experience and perception of the
hilltop as a whole. In these circumstances, the impact of the development from
Fox Low as a whole should be considered, rather than a restriction to the limits of
the SAM area itself in respect of the views from and towards the monument /
hilltop.
7.73 As discussed above, the layout and design of some parts of the Local
Centre scheme fail to respect the Ancient Monument setting and Harpur Hill site
gateway into Buxton with particular regard to the more intensive form of
development and reduced site area over and above the fallback position. As a
result, there are some concerns that the Local Centre would not deliver a
development which overall responds positively to its environment or would fully
contribute towards local distinctiveness.
7.74 In these circumstances, there may be considered to be harm the setting of
the Scheduled Monument. It is therefore necessary for the Council to consider
whether this is outweighed by the public benefits of the Local Centre. This aspect
of the scheme constitutes less than substantial harm in heritage terms as per the
Framework and will be returned to in the planning balance below.
Highway Safety
7.75 LP Policy CF6 ‘Accessibility and Transport’ seeks to ensure that
development can be safely accessed in a sustainable manner. The policy
requires new development to be integrated within existing or proposed
infrastructure, to ensure that there wil not be an increase in on street parking to
the detriment of the free and safe flow of traffic, and to provide details of
proposed parking provision based on an assessment of parking need and the
impact on the surrounding road network.
7.76 NPPF para 110 states that in assessing applications for development, it
should be ensured that safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for
all users. Paragraph 111 goes onto state that development should only be
prevented or refused on highway grounds if there would be an unacceptable
impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network
would be severe.
7.77 Matters of sustainable patterns of transport concerning site location and the
means of site access were established and approved at the outline stage for the
mixed use scheme ref. HPK/2013/0603, which broadly defined the Local Centre
area within the wider site. The outline consent secured a single point of vehicular
access into the site from the Ashbourne Road (A515) with an emergency access
via the existing reservoir access route to the south (latterly omitted) and to the
southeast of the site off the Harpur Hill Road as acceptable subject to further
detail to be agreed at the road construction design stage. The s106 legal
agreement (highways) as attached to the outline consent secured a financial sum
for undertaking off-site highway improvement works at the junction of High
Street, London Road, Dale Road, West Road and Green Lane, Buxton.

Page 88

7.78 Access to the proposed Local Centre would be via the main A515
Ashbourne Road entrance as established by the outline permission. This access
has been confirmed as acceptable for the proposed Local Centre by County
Highways provided that the upgrading works have been secured by this consent,
as is confirmed by Condition 07. It requires the approved estate street junction to
be formed to Ashbourne Road prior to the occupation of any plot / subdivision of
the site as has been implemented.
7.79 A TA (Transport Assessment) has been submitted to support the application
as has been commented upon by County Highways. It notes the extant consent
position for a local centre to a wider development area and particularly Condition
26 restricting the quantum of permitted development for the commercial element
of the scheme. The TA considers the implications of substituting the Local Centre
fallback position for the scheme as sought, including Aldi discount retail store and
possible future care home by comparing trip generations as originally calculated
for the extant scheme with the latest position. County Highways consider that the
latest transportation assessment possibly underestimates the wider impacts of
the scheme by around 45 two-way trips for the respective peak hours. The TA
also includes a capacity assessment of the proposed access and two off-site
junctions on the A515 London Road downstream (i.e. towards Buxton) of the site,
however, the latest capacity assessment is based upon traffic data observed in
2013 from which the original TA was developed. This position has been accepted
by County Highways given accurate data collection issues during the pandemic
and the scale of the incremental changes of the scheme.
7.80 The capacity assessment states that the site access junction off the A515
Ashbourne Road, together with the A515 junction with Dukes Drive would operate
satisfactorily. However, London Road at its junction with Dale Road / West Road,
(5-arm traffic signal-controlled junction) would operate at overcapacity during
each of the flow scenarios assessed all as noted by County Highways.
7.81 Developer financial contributions (£175,000 index linked) were previously
secured by County Highways as attached to the original mixed use consent
scheme. They would provide for improvements to the junction in order to mitigate
the impact of the development traffic and remain in place until delivered by the
County. County Highways state that the proposed Aldi store scheme represents
an intensification of the site above the extant position and therefore would result
in an increase in congestion, queuing, and delay at the London road junction.
The applicant’s TA notes the impact would be negligible during the morning peak
hour and ‘very minor’ during the evening peak hour over and above the planning
fallback position. County Highways agree with the TA conclusions in view of the
discount retailer use and incremental increases in traffic through the downstream
junctions whereby a significant proportion of the development retail traffic would
already be on the network, with relatively little discount retail traffic being ‘new
traffic’ to result in only marginal impacts upon the wider network.
7.82 In addition, County Highways do not dispute the TAs analysis of accident
data, which has not revealed any trends or features of the assessed highway
network that are contributing to the accidents or that road safety would be
affected by the proposed development.

Page 89

7.83 County Highways have confirmed their satisfaction with the revised swept
path analysis, which demonstrates that the site layout can accommodate a 16.5m
HGV and largest veichle.
7.84 Pedestrian, including disabled access would be provided from the main
access into the Local Centre whilst a ramp would also be positioned to the
southwest boundary in close proximity to the Aldi foodstore. A stepped
pedestrian link would also provide access from the southwest boundary to the
nursery unit and beyond. County Highways have accepted the applicant’s
justification for the proposed ramp siting away from the southern edge of the
proposed children’s nursery unit given the nearby location of the proposed ramp
in closer proximity to the Aldi foodstore as well as potential harm to landscaping
as well as parking provision.
7.85 The applicant has responded to County Highways comments on the
submitted Travel Plan, setting out that Aldi are agreeable to the provision of staff
facilities, including a shower, changing area, staff lockers etc. to encourage
walking and cycling, but only locker provision would be envisaged within the
individual units owing to size limilations. The applicant further wishes to clarify
that bus stop provision along the A515 does not form part of the application. This
justification is confirmed as acceptable by County Highway who wish to add no
further comments in these regards.
7.86 The parking area at the centre of the site provides: 158 car parking spaces,
including 11 wheelchair accessible spaces (7 to the Aldi frontage) and 13 family
spaces (11 to the Aldi frontage). In addition, a total of 26 cycle hoops would be
installed to unit frontages (13 cycle hoops to the Aldi frontage).
7.87 LP Policy CF6 also requires applicants to provide an assessment of parking
needs of the development and the impact on the surrounding road network. In
accordance with Local Plan car parking guidance (LP Appendix 1), a maximum
car parking provision of 256 spaces would be appropriate for the size and uses of
the proposed Local Centre. The proposed 158 car parking provision, however, is
62% of the maximum standard. The applicant has stated that this level of
proposed parking is appropriate as the proposed mix uses of the site would allow
car parking spaces to be shared and peak periods would not coincide. Given the
significant shortfall of car parking below recommended standards, however,
County Highways advised that further justification is required from the applicant in
the interests of avoiding parking near the access junction and surrounding
adopted highways, including adjacent residential estate if the parking area from
the Local Centre overflowed.
7.88 The latterly submitted parking appraisal report from the applicant has
concluded that the mix of uses on the site would allow for car parking spaces to
be shared between the different uses due to the linked trips in the perception of
visitors visiting more than one facility and as peak periods would not coincide. In
response, County Highways confirm that the proposed 158 car parking spaces for
this scheme is acceptable, however, based on shared car parking between all the
proposed users to be secured by a planning condition.
7.89 In response, the applicant does not consider it either necessary or
reasonable for a shared parking restriction to be applied to the entire Local

Page 90

Centre scheme. Instead, they have offered a condition securing 55 spaces to be
shared between all Local Centre uses with the remaining spaces being available
to Aldi only. County Highways have accepted this approach subject to securing a
financial contribution of £5,000 to monitor off-street parking related to the
proposed site over a 10-year period. This would enable Derbyshire County
Council to address any indiscriminate parking issues that may arise and
implement any TRO (Traffic Regulation Order) / parking control in the vicinity of
the site in the interest of road safety, including provision of safe pedestrian
permeability. In addition, a condition has also been recommended to secure a
parking management plan for the Local Centre site.
7.90 Whilst not anticipating a parking capacity issue at the Local Centre, the
applicant has submitted Heads of Terms to secure the recommended Travel Plan
financial contribution of £5,075 and TRO scheme monitoring / implementation
contribution of £5,000 intended to be secured as a unilateral undertaking.
7.91 Subject to the imposition of recommended highway conditions and a legal
mechanism securing relevant financial contributions, the new development
scheme can be integrated within the proposed junction from the main A515 as
secured by the outline consent ensuring that a safe and suitable access to the
site can be achieved by all users. The proposed parking provision is considered
to be acceptable. In addition, the scheme would not create an unacceptable
impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network
would be severe in view of the scale of the scheme against the fallback position
and secured off-site junction improvements to accord with LP Policy CF6
Accessibility and Transport’ and the NPPF in these regards.
Environmental Matters
7.92 LP Policy EQ6 ‘Design and Place Making’ stipulates that development
should achieve a satisfactory relationship to adjacent development and should
not cause unacceptable effects by reason of visual intrusion, overlooking,
shadowing, overbearing or other adverse impacts on local character and amenity.
Furthermore, LP Policy EQ10 Pollution Control and Unstable Land seeks to
protect people and the environment from unsafe and polluted environments,
requiring mitigation if necessary.
7.93 Similarly, NPPF para 185 advises that “Planning policies and decisions
should also ensure that new development is appropriate for its location taking into
account the likely effects (including cumulative effects) of pollution on health,
living conditions and the natural environment, as well as the potential sensitivity of
the site or the wider area to impacts that could arise from the development”.
7.94 The applicant’s contaminated land assessment reports (dated 2013 and
2020) indicate that contamination remediation works would not be required and
these conclusions have been accepted by the Council’s Environmental Health
section. Regarding lighting impacts, it is noted that the submitted External
Lighting Impact Assessment identifies the site as Environmental Zone E3. Given
that the site borders open countryside, Environmental Health advise that the site
should be assessed against the E2 Environmental Zone to be secured by means
of a planning condition in order to protect local amenity.

Page 91

7.95 The applicant’s latterly submitted “Environmental Noise Assessment for
mixed use development” dated July 2021 advises that the impact of noise from
car parking activity would be below the day time and night time WHO Guidelines
Values and therefore there is no technical reason to restrict trading hours stating:
plant noise will be below existing background noise levels; the location of the
loading bay at the Aldi store is in the optimum position and is screened from
residential properties by the store building; the impact of delivery vehicles arriving
has been considered and taking into account the mitigation measures that are
required to be designed in to the new residential properties it is concluded that
deliveries could be received at any time without causing significant adverse
impact to local residents and noise from use of the nursery garden has been
assessed and will be below the recommended guidelines and also existing noise
levels. The report has been considered as acceptable by Environmental Health
subject to conditions securing maximum noise levels within specified time periods
from commercial premises and the implementation of a 2.0m timber acoustic
screen to protect future residents of the adjoining residential estate despite the
intervening separatation distance. Furthermore, it is also recommended that
operational / delivery hours for the units secured by means of a condition given
the nature of the Local Centre.
7.96 A CEMP (Construction and Environmental Management Plan) condition is
also recommended to ensure acceptable amenity and highway safety standards
during the construction stage of the scheme.
7.97 The application submission is also accompanied by an Air Quality
Assessment dated 1st March 2021 which considers air quality impacts during both
the construction and operational phases of the development. The conclusions of
the assessment are that air quality impacts are not significant for both phases and
has been accepted by Environmental Health. Appropriate measures to minimise
such impacts are advised with regard to the CEMP as referred to above.
7.98 For the operational phase of development, a number of measures are
detailed by the applicant, including provision of electric vehicle charging points,
provision of cycling parking, implementation of a travel plan and improvements to
footpaths from the development site. The requirement for the travel plan has
been recommended to be secured by means of a planning condition (and
monitoring financial sum via a legal agreement) within the Highways Section of
the report above. The scheme would provide five EV (Electric Vehicle) charging
points, however, it is recommended that a provision of 2.5% (4 spaces) of the
total parking provision of 158 spaces are designated for EV usage prior to use,
increasing to 5% (plus 4 spaces) within an agreed time period. The developer
should also identify spaces and include appropriate infrastructure for any future
expansion of the EV provision and these matters are recommended to be
secured via a suitably worded planning condition.
7.99 It is noted that some objectors raise concerns about the loss of the existing
Aldi store and the ability of local residents on the northern side of Buxton to reach
this site. Whilst these concerns are noted, this application has to be assessed on
its own merits and the location of the site, as set out above has been found to
comply with the relevant Local Plan policies for retail development. No objections
are raised to the scheme subject to planning conditions intended to protect local
amenity with regard to potential air, noise and light pollution impacts of the

Page 92

scheme and to control the construction stage of the build. Accordingly the
scheme meets with LP Policies EQ6 ‘Design and Place Making’ and EQ10
Pollution Control and Unstable Land and the NPPF in these regards.
Buxton Thermal Springs
7.100 The application site lies within Source Protection Zone 1 for Buxton. LP
Policy S7 ‘Buxton Sub-Area Strategy’ amongst other matters seeks to protect the
quality and supply of mineral water. The site also falls within a more recently
defined special protection area for the Buxton Thermal Springs as set out in ‘The
Buxton Water’ SPD (Supplementary Planning Document), which is only an
emerging draft and is not yet published. The document, however, outlines the
vital need to protect the quality and quantity of mineral water. The document
expands LP Policy S7 ‘Buxton Sub-Area Strategy recognising the need to protect
the water supply and providing further guidance to ensure development preserves
the quality and supply of the water.
7.101 A Groundwater Assessment dated February 2021 submitted for the
scheme confirms that surface water run-off from the car-parking area would be
discharged to ground via oil-water separators. It concludes that there is negligible
risk from the discharge to groundwater close to the site and less risk to the
natural mineral waters. Whilst the Soakaway Risk Assessment” dated June 2021
includes a hydrogeological risk assessment for the discharge of run-off from roofs
and car-parking. These documents have been reviewed by Nestle Waters Ltd
who confirm that an appropriate hydrogeological risk assessment has been
undertaken as part of the planning application to assess the risk to mineral water
sources.
Nestle Waters Ltd recommend the production of a long-term
maintenance plan for the oil-water separators to be secured as a planning
condition to ensure groundwater and the mineral water sources continue to be
protected.
7.102 The LLFA and Buxton Water comment that the Environment Agency may
require a hydrogeological risk assessment to support the application for an
Environmental Permit for the discharge of carpark run off passed through the oil
water separators given the site’s location within Source Protection Zone 1.
7.103 Accordingly, on this basis satisfactory mitigating measures can be secured
by means of a planning condition in relation to protecting and conserving the
thermal springs and Source Protection Zone 1 to achieve compliance with LP
Policies S7 and EQ10 as well as the NPPF.
Local Flood Risk / Drainage
7.104 LP Policy EQ11 ‘Flood Risk Management’ states that the Council will
support development proposals that avoid areas of current or future flood risk and
which do not increase the risk of flooding elsewhere, where this is viable and
compatible with other policies aimed at achieving sustainable patterns of
development.
7.105 NPPF para 166 requires that “When determining any planning applications,
local planning authorities should ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere.
Where appropriate, applications should be supported by a site-specific flood-risk

Page 93

assessment”. In addition, NPPF para 168 also states that: “Major developments
should incorporate sustainable drainage systems unless there is clear evidence
that this would be inappropriate”. Accordingly, an FRA (Flood Risk Assessment)
& Drainage Strategy has been submitted to support the Local Centre scheme as
the application site falls within Flood Zone 1 and exceeds 1.0ha.
7.106 The FRA / drainage document has been subsequently revised to respond
to those comments of the LLFA (Lead Local Flood Authority). In order to reduce
flood risk and promote a sustainable and practicable drainage strategy at the
proposed development, the FRA has recommended:







Foul flows from the proposed development will discharge via a new
connection to the wider network being constructed as part of the Foxlow
Farm residential development;
The proposed surface water drainage system should be designed to
accommodate the 1 in 30-year rainfall event without any surface water
flooding and should be capable of retaining the 1 in 100-year plus climate
change (40%) storm event on site without flooding any buildings;
Surface water runoff from the proposed development will discharge by
infiltration via two soakaways to be located within the car park. In order to
accommodate surface water runoff from the proposed development for all
storms up to and including the 1 in 100-year plus 40% climate change
event, the soakaways will need to provide attenuation in the order of
400.2sqm, and,
Ground falls on the proposed development should be set to fall away from
the proposed buildings to minimise the risk of internal surface water
flooding.

7.107 In addition, the applicant has confirmed that the site drainage system and
SuDS elements maintenance would be covered by a Management Company.
7.108 The LLFA have reviewed the revised information as submitted by the
applicant and confirm no objection to the scheme subject to conditions securing:
(1) a detailed design and associated management and maintenance plan of the
surface water drainage and a long-term maintenance of the proposed Oil-Water
separators for the site, (2) details indicating how additional surface water run-off
from the site will be avoided during the construction phase and (3) a verification
report carried out by a qualified drainage engineer to demonstrate that the
drainage system has been constructed as per the agreed scheme as well as
providing the details of any management company. The comments of Severn
Trent Water are awaited and any comments will be reported via the Update
Sheet.
7.109 Subject to such recommendations being secured through suitably worded
planning conditions, the scheme would accord with LP Policy EQ11 and the
NPPF.
Ecology
7.110 LP Policy EQ5 ‘Biodiversity’ advises that biodiversity and ecological
resources should be conserved. It states that development will not be permitted
which would have an adverse impact upon protected species.

Page 94

7.111 NPPF para 180 (a) states if significant harm to biodiversity resulting from a
development cannot be avoided (through locating on an alternative site with less
harmful impacts), adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, compensated for,
then planning permission should be refused”… and … (c) development whose
primary objective is to conserve or enhance biodiversity should be supported;
while opportunities to improve biodiversity in and around developments should be
integrated as part of their design, especially where this can secure measurable
net gains for biodiversity or enhance public access to nature where this is
appropriate”.
7.112 The EC Habitats Directive 1992 requires the UK to maintain a system of
strict protection for protected species and their habitats. The Directive only allows
disturbance, or deterioration or destruction of breeding sites or resting places in
the interests of public health and public safety, or for other imperative reasons of
overriding public interest, including those of a social or economic nature and
beneficial consequences of primary importance for the environment. This is
provided that there is no satisfactory alternative and no detriment to the
maintenance of the species population at favourable conservation status in their
natural range.
7.113 The application site does not fall within or lie adjacent to any site of
international, national, regional nature conservation importance or non-statutory
Local Wildlife Site.
7.114 An Ecological Appraisal accompanies the planning application submission
and in summary confirms that the application site is supported arable habitat and
dry-stone walls with limited opportunities for protected species. Furthermore, no
impacts are anticipated to nature conservation designations or the presence of
Great Crested Newt within the site’s vicinity. Whilst the removal of limited
suitability for breeding birds has been identified, best practice recommendations
are detailed.
Overall, habitat enhancement recommendations have been
provided to inform the green infrastructure scheme as well as provide net benefits
to wildlife in the context of the stated limited losses as a result of the Local Centre
scheme.
7.115 The Ecological Appraisal has been reviewed by DWT (Derbyshire Wildlife
Trust) alongside the proposed scheme layout and landscape drawings. In detail,
DWT welcome the detailed soft landscaping drawings, which include native plant
and grassland mixes requiring appropriate management to be specified. The
applicant has addressed earlier DWT commentary by utilising a flowering lawn
mixture for the areas of amenity grassland therefore improving maximise
biodiversity value. Whilst the planting to the rear of the Aldi unit to the southeast
of the site would include native shrub mix and boundary hedgerow to each side of
the Aldi unit. DWT also advise planning conditions to secure: (1) bat and bird
boxes to be incorporated within the fabric of the buildings, (2) badgers to be
protected during construction and no site clearance to be undertaken during the
bird nesting season.
7.116 The Framework considers that opportunities to improve biodiversity in and
around developments should be integrated as part of their design, particularly
where measurable gains for net biodiversity can be secured. As requested by

Page 95

DWT, the applicant has submitted the DEFRA metric calculation (Biodiversity
Calculation – Version 2) and confirms that the revised landscape scheme would
deliver 3.10 habitat units as follows:







Ornamental Shrub – 0.15 units
Amenity Grassland of flowering lawn – 0.11 units
Street Trees (52 trees) - 0.34 units
Neutral Grassland (wildflower mix) – 1.85 units
Heathland and Native Scrub Mix – 0.65 units
Hedgerow – 0.31 units

7.117 In these regards, DWT confirm that the local centre scheme would result in
a small net habitat loss of 1.27% causing some conflict with relevant planning
policy. Whilst the existing habitats are not of high conservation and opportunities
to improve biodiversity in the development have been taken into account, DWT
recommend that such a minor loss could be offset by a financial contribution
based on the residual biodiversity unit for a relevant site to be secured by means
of a legal agreement. This matter has been accepted by the applicant in principle
subject to confirmation of further detail, which will be reported in the Update
Sheet.
7.118 Subject to recommendations being secured through suitably worded
planning conditions with appropriate management to optimise biodiversity value
of the habitats created and a legal agreement to secure the residual biodiversity
unit loss, the scheme would accord with LP Policy EQ5 and the NPPF.
8. PLANNING BALANCE & CONCLUSIONS
8.1 The starting point for the determination of any planning application is section
38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which is to be read
in conjunction with section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
Section 38(6) states that planning applications should be determined in
accordance with the development plan, unless there are material considerations
which indicate otherwise.
8.2 Whilst the application proposes a greater amount of convenience retail
floorspace than that envisaged by the Adopted Local Plan for the Foxlow Farm
Local Centre and fallback position; the scheme, however, is considered to be
compliant with Local Plan policies in relation to the principle of the uses proposed
to achieve compliance with the requirements of LP Policies CF1 ‘Retail and Town
Centres’ and DS20 ‘Land off Ashbourne Road and Foxlow Farm’ in particular and
the NPPF regarding retail impact assessment in relation to town centre vitality
and viability. This approach therefore would be subject to the imposition of
suitably worded planning conditions including a limitation on the proposed
foodstore to effectively restrict the operation of the foodstore to a discounter
model as well as legal agreement restricing the agreement limiting the future
convenience good floorspace of the existing Aldi Station Road store to 429.0sqm
going forward.
8.3 The scheme raises no adverse impacts in terms of amenity, drainage,
underground archaeology, ecology / biodiversity and highway safety matters as a
result of the proposed Local Centre scheme.

Page 96

8.4 Set against this, the layout and design of some parts of the Local Centre
scheme fail to respect the Ancient Monument setting and Harpur Hill site gateway
into Buxton with particular regard to the more intensive form of development and
reduced site area over and above the fallback position. As a result, there are
some concerns that the Local Centre would not deliver a development which
overall responds positively to its environment or would fully contribute towards
local distinctiveness.
8.5 In terms of resultant heritage harm, the NPPF requires the public benefits of
the scheme to be weighed against any resultant harm, which in this case would
be less than substantial.
8.6 With this in mind, the new foodstore development as part of the Local Centre
scheme would have significant sustainability benefits when considered on its own
merits by providing a retail facility that could meet both the main food shopping
and top-up shopping needs of the large number of residents who would occupy
the new residential development at Foxlow Farm. Together, the scheme would
also provide further community service and facility delivery with associated
economic growth including job creation. It is esticmated that the new Aldi store
would provide between 40-50 new jobs with the other elements providing
approximately 50 jobs. Taking all of these matters into account it is considered
that the public benefits associated with the development would outweigh the less
than substantial harm to the heritage asset.
8.7 The application scheme, whilst it is considered to be more balanced in
respect of layout and design matters, nevertheless represents sustainable
development under the terms of the Adopted Local Plan and NPPF. Accordingly,
the Local Centre scheme is therefore recommended for approval.
9. RECOMMENDATIONS
A. APPROVE, subject to conditions and legal agreement(s) to secure
financial contributions towards offsite ecology mitigation, highway
monitoring / TRO and travel plan as well as the restriction of convenience
floorspace regarding the existing Aldi Foodstore, Station Road and
conditions as follows:
1. Standard 3-year time limit;
2. Approved plans (TBC);
3. Development Phasing
Foodstore Restrictions
4. Limit amount for food store floorspace to 1,804m2 (1,315m2 sales area)
with no more than 20% comparison goods
5. Limit the amount of retail floorspace (557m2 GIA) within the 5 proposed
retail units (uses as applied for)
6. No additional floor area within the food store through the installation of a
mezzanine
7. Restriction of foodstore to discounter store

Page 97

Nursery & Retail Restrictions
8. Removal of use class permitted development in relation to the nursery and
retail units
Character and Appearance
9. Facing / Hard surfacing Materials
10. Boundary treatment, including retaining walls
11. Scheme of Repair, Maintenance and retention of dry stone walls.
12. Levels
13. Detailed landscaping, phasing and implementation, including LEMP
Ecology
14. Bat and Bird Boxes
15. Badger Protection during construction
16. No ground clearance during bird nesting season unless otherwise
approved
Highways
17. New vehicular access prior to any other operation
18. Parking etc. to be provided prior to occupation
19. 55 spaces to be made available to all Local Centre Users
20. Aldi store to provide showers, lockers etc (revised floorplan TBC)
Environmental Health
21. CEMP
22. Noise Source Protection
23. Artificial Lighting
24. Acoustic fencing to nursery
25. Control of operational, including delivery times
26. Securing X Electrical Vehicle Charging Points and future infrastructure
Drainage / Flood Risk
27. Design and associated management and maintenance plan of the surface
water drainage
28. Details of how additional surface water run-off from the site will be avoided
during the construction phase
29. Verification Report to demonstrate construction of approved drainage
system and management company
Mineral Water Quality
30. Oil receptors and maintenance plan
Archaeology
31. Development in accordance with approved WSI

Page 98

B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the
Committee’s
decision
(such
as
to
delete,
vary
or
add
conditions/informatives/planning
obligations
or
reasons
for
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Head of
Development Services has delegated authority to do so in consultation
with the Chairman of the Development Control Committee, provided that
the changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s
decision.
Site Plan

Page 99

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE
Date: 4th October 2021
Application No:
Location
Proposal

HPK/2021/0234
Former Forge Works, Forge Road, Chinley, High Peak.
Variation of section 106 planning obligation to reduce
affordable housing provision relating to HPK/2012/0323
(appeal ref. APP/H1033/A/13/2189819).
Applicant
Wainhomes North West Ltd
Agent
Hourigan Connolly
Parish/Ward
Date registered: 07/04/2021
Chinley
If you have a question about this report please contact: Rachael Simpkin
rachael.simpkin@highpeak.gov.uk 01538 395400 extension 4122
REFERRAL
This scheme has been referred as relates to a major development.
1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

APPROVE

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS
2.1 The application relates to the former Forge Mill premises, more recently
known as the Dorma Works, which is located off Forge Road, Chinley. The
whole site covers a total of 12.44 ha (hectares) and lies in a dip between the
villages of Chinley and Whitehough. The site is nestled between Black Brook
to the north and the Peak Forest Tramway to the south. It is located
immediately to the south of the village of Chinley and north of the hamlet of
Whitehough.
The Peak Forest Tramway runs alongside the southern
boundary of the site and the Black Brook watercourse borders and crosses
the site on its northern side. Aligning the western boundary of the site is
footpath 124, which links Forge Road to the Tramway. There are some
habitats of local value within the site, as well as tree cover to the boundaries
of the site.
3. THE APPLICATION PROPOSAL
3.1 A further application under Section 106A of the Town & Country Planning
Act 1990 (as amended) has been received by the Council to modify the
affordable housing provisions of the original Section 106 Agreement in
relation to original the outline planning permission ref. HPK/2012/0323
allowed at appeal in May 2013 ref. APP/H1033/A/13/2189819. It follows the
refusal of a similar scheme ref. HPK/2020/0517 ‘Variation of section 106

Page 101

planning obligation to reduce affordable housing provision relating to
HPK/2012/0323 (appeal ref. APP/H1033/A/13/2189819)’ refused at the May
2021 committee meeting.
3.2 The original Section 106 Agreement requires inter alia for the
development to provide 30% of the total number of dwellings to be erected on
the site to be affordable units (60% as Social Rented and 40% as Shared
Ownership).
3.3 A Supplementary Legal Agreement was entered into on the 20th
November 2017 with revised clauses ensuring the provision of good quality
affordable housing and facilitating a balance between securing the delivery of
affordable housing in relation to the development of this part of the site,
construction of a bridge and the commercial dwellings. There were also other
amendments reflecting a phased approach such as the timing of agreeing a
site management company for onsite private roads and any unsold areas of
open space on the site. In relation to the onsite roads, it was noted that the
Phase 1 roads were to be adopted and this also required a minor amendment.
In addition, the Parish Council requested that offsite highways contribution be
amended to better reflect need in the village and this was applied to improving
accessibility to the railway station.
3.4 The first reserved matters approval ref. HPK/2013/0577 issued in January
2014 consisted of 91 dwellings and provided 27 affordable homes. The
applicant has confirmed that the scheme has been developed and all
commercial dwellings sold. As well, the 27 affordable homes secured as part
of the original permission for this phase of development have all been
transferred to a Registered Provider.
3.5 Reserved Matters approval ref. HPK/2016/0313 provides a further 62
dwellings of which 18 are to be affordable homes. The applicant states that
the proposed number of affordable dwellings is slightly less than the policy
compliant position of 19 units (due to rounding), but this position was agreed
with the Council at the time of the reserved matters application on a tenure
basis.
The applicant confirms that 28 of these dwellings have been
developed and sold. This includes 3 properties which have been transferred
to the Registered Provider. Accordingly, a total of 15 affordable dwellings are
required to be delivered under the provisions of the original Section 106
Agreement for this phase of the development. In total, the legal agreement
requires a total of 42 affordable dwellings on site, of which 30 have been
delivered. A total of 12 affordable onsite units therefore remain to be
delivered within Phase 2.
3.6 The now applicant seeks the following amendments to the original Section
106 Agreement:
3.7 The Definitions Section provides that:
“Affordable Unit or Units means subsidised housing that will be available to
persons who cannot afford to rent or buy housing generally available at the

Page 102

open market and which comprise 30% of the total number of Dwellings to be
erected on the Site and shall comprise 60% Social Rented Housing and 40%
Shared Ownership Housing”.
3.8 Clause 2.5 further provides that:
“Subject to clauses 2.1 to 2.4 above 30% of the Dwellings which are
constructed on the Site shall be Affordable Units (in accordance with current
Homes and Communities Agency Standards) to be provided in accordance
with each and every Reserved Matters Approval”.
3.9 The applicant proposes that the Definitions Section of the original Section
106 Agreement be amended to:
“Affordable Unit or Units means subsidised housing that will be
available to persons who cannot afford to rent or buy housing generally
available at the open market and which comprise 30 of the total number
of Dwellings to be erected on the Site and shall comprise 16 Social
Rented Dwellings and 14 Shared Ownership Dwellings”.
3.10 The applicant further proposes that Clause 2.5 of the original Section
106 Agreement be amended to:
“Subject to clauses 2.1 to 2.4 above 30 of the Dwellings which are
constructed on the Site shall be Affordable Units (in accordance with
current Homes and Communities Agency Standards)”.
3.11 The application to vary the legal agreement would deliver 30 (19.6%)
affordable units on the site rather than 42 (30%) units secured by the legal
agreement. It is based on the justification that it is no longer viable to deliver
the amount of housing as required by the planning obligation.
The
submission is supported by the submitted Grasscroft Residential Viability
Report dated November 2020 (the FVA) to support the submission.
3.12 The applicant’s intended planning appeal for ref. HPK/2020/0517
‘Variation of section 106 planning obligation to reduce affordable housing
provision relating to HPK/2012/0323 (appeal ref. APP/H1033/A/13/2189819)
as refused does not yet appear to have been validated by the Planning
Inspectorate.
4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
HPK/2020/0517 Variation of section 106 planning obligation to reduce
affordable housing provision relating to HPK/2012/0323
(appeal ref. APP/H1033/A/13/2189819). Refused May 2021.
HPK/2018/0143 Residential development comprising 12 dwellings (open
market and affordable), public open space and associated
infrastructure together with a new car park for 1st Chinley
Scout Group. Approved 26th March 2021.

Page 103

HPK/2016/0313

Reserved Matters application with details of the
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale for Phase 2 of
the residential development comprising of 62 dwellings and
associated works pursuant to planning appeal reference
APP/H1033/A/13/21898819 (HPK/2012/0312). Approved
November 2017.

HPK/2014/0582

Erection of a building to accommodate a D1 day nursery
with ancillary worker accommodation and construction of a
bin store – Approved February 2015.

HPK/2013/0577

Application for Approval of Reserved Matters following
Outline Approval For Phase 1 - Construction Of 91 No.
Dwellings, 1no. B1 Office Unit And 1no.D1 Creche Unit
Including Access From Green Lane / Whitehough Head
Lane and Associated Works (Reserved Matters - LargeScale Major) – Approved January 2014.

HPK/2012/0323

Demolition of remaining structures & redevelopment for up
to 182 dwellings, up to 1,672 sqm business floorspace (use
class B1), up to 279sqm of non residential institution
floorspace (use class D1), community facilities &
associated infrastructure – Allowed at appeal May 2013.

HPK/2011/0683

Outline application for the redevelopment of the site –
Withdrawn February 2012.

5. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION
Adopted High Peak Local Plan 2016
Policy S1
Policy S1a
Policy H4
Policy CF7

Sustainable Development Principles
Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
Affordable Housing
Planning Obligations and Community Infrastructure Levy

Supplementary Planning Guidance



Housing Needs Survey
Planning Obligations

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) July 2018
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
6. CONSULTATIONS
Council’s Independent Financial Viability Consultant:

Page 104

Viability Assessment Review Report, Forge Works, Forge Road, Chinley
ref. HPK/2020/0518 and HPK/2021/0234
In preparing the FVA review, it confirmed that the Residential Viability Report:
Former Forge Works, Chinley (November 2020) prepared by Grasscroft has
been relied upon, together with the documentation listed from page 9 onwards
of their Quantity Surveyor report.
Summary Conclusions:
“7.6 The outcome of our assessment and the financial appraisal results
illustrate that the development at present is not sufficiently viable to support
30% affordable housing. With the 30 affordable dwellings already constructed
and sold, then the development is viable. The residual land value is slightly
higher than our assessed benchmark land value by £8,524. This sum is not
sufficient to support additional affordable dwellings. However if there were
further house price increases over and above build cost increases then this
might be sufficient to support some additional affordable housing.
7.7 To demonstrate the position we have prepared some sensitivity testing
which models 5% and 10% price increases for those remaining dwellings that
have not yet sold. The testing assumes that all other costs remain the same.
With 5% price increases across these dwellings the testing shows that the
development could support a further 7 affordable dwellings – 4 rent and 3
shared ownership. Assuming 10% price increases then the development
could support the remaining affordable dwellings up to 30%.
7.8 Realistically however such price increases are now likely to be offset to
some degree by forecast build cost increases, so in reality we would not
expect the application proposals to be able to support substantive additional
affordable units over the period, other than those that have been provided to
date.
7.9 As noted previously the Council has refused application ref
HPK/2019/0561 which amongst other matters seeks approval for revised
dwelling types for plots 110 – 114. Table 7.2 contains details of the revised
dwellings types for these plots.
7.10 We have been asked by the Council to consider whether these changes
have any impact on the overall viability of the scheme consented under the
original outline application. Reflecting these changes we have adjusted the
sales revenues and construction costs associated with the phase 2
development. We have also adjusted the benchmark land value to reflect the
slightly greater net developable area.
7.11 With these changes made our conclusion remains the same in that the
development would still not be able to support 30% affordable housing
provision. Based on the 30 affordable dwellings already provided, the
development is viable and again provides a small surplus over the benchmark

Page 105

land value. As with the appraisal based on the consented scheme, this
surplus is not sufficient to support further affordable housing”.
HPBC Regeneration Officer (Affordable Housing): As requested I have
fact checked the information regarding the affordable housing within the KM
report. To the best of my knowledge, the information on s106 contributions
and completions is correct.
7. OFFICER COMMENTS
7.1 Planning obligations under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990 (as amended) are a mechanism which makes a development
proposal acceptable in planning terms, which would not otherwise be
acceptable. In this case, the planning obligations, amongst other matters,
secured onsite affordable housing provision and specified the type and timing
of this housing.
7.2 If the s106 is not complied with, it is enforceable against the person whom
entered into the obligation and any subsequent owner. The legal tests for a
s106 agreement are: (i) necessary to make the development acceptable in
planning terms, (ii) directly related to the development, and, (iii) fairly and
reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. Under the Planning
Act s106 (A) a person bound by the obligation can seek to have the obligation
modified or discharged after five years. The principles for modifying an
obligation are to consider whether the agreement continues to serve a useful
purpose and should remain; that it no longer serves a useful purpose and
should be discharged; or that it continues to serve a useful purpose, but would
serve the purpose equally well if the modification proposed took effect.
7.3 When a developer makes an application under Section 106A to vary an
affordable housing obligation, the Council must assess the affordable housing
obligation and decide whether it prevents the development from being
economically viable (i.e. when assessed together with all the other
contributions due, the costs of development, for example abnormal costs
associated with remediating contaminated land and expected profits) and if it
does prevent the development from being completed whether that means the
obligation no longer continues to serve a useful purpose.
7.4 If the Council finds that the obligation prevents the development from
being economically viable, then the application should be dealt with in a way
that safeguards and promotes the economic viability of the permitted scheme
to which it relates balanced against a reduced affordable housing provision.
In order to achieve this, the Council has two options:
(1) it can modify the obligation either in the way the application suggests
(or in another way if the applicant agrees), or,
(2) it can remove the obligation altogether.
7.5 The applicant states that the submitted FVA (Financial Viability
Assessment) provides a justification for not delivering the final 12 affordable

Page 106

dwellings on the site as required by the planning obligation. Although, the
applicant states that all other financial obligations have been paid relating to
off-site highway works, open space, play space and primary school
improvements and has established a site wide management company all as
required by the original Section 106 Agreement and subsequent
Supplementary Agreement.
7.5 In addition, the applicant further considers that it is a material
consideration that the reserved matters approval has been granted for 153
dwellings rather than the 125 dwellings anticipated at the outline planning
application stage. In response to this point, the original planning permission
description included “up to” 182 dwellings rather than a fixed quantum of
development and is material in these regards. The subsequent reserved
matters schemes have delivered a total of 153 dwellings in accordance with
Adopted Local Plan policy. The applicant does not envisage any more than
153 dwellings on the site through any subsequent planning applications.
However, ref. HPK/2018/0143 has secured a scheme of 12 mostly executive
dwellings on land adjoining the nursery.
7.6 In consideration of the above, LP (Local Plan) policy H4 ‘Affordable
Housing’ includes a financial viability test to justify any reduced provision of
affordable housing below the required 30% onsite provision policy level
equating to 46 onsite affordable dwellings – the s106 agreement and fallback
position requires a total of 42 affordable dwellings to be delivered.
7.7 The Council’s Independent Financial Viability Consultant considers that
the submission is currently sufficient to properly support the viability
justification to omit 12 onsite affordable dwellings.
7.8 Accordingly Officers consider that the modification of the agreement would
serve a useful purpose by facilitating the completion of the development which
would otherwise be rendered unviable and is therefore recommended for
approval.
8. RECOMMENDATIONS

A. APPROVE, subject to legal agreement(s) to vary onsite affordable
housing provision.
B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add
conditions/informatives/planning obligations or reasons for
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Head of
Development Services has delegated authority to do so in
consultation with the Chairman of the Development Control
Committee, provided that the changes do not exceed the
substantive nature of the Committee’s decision.

Page 107

Site Plan

Page 108

Agenda Item 8
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE
Date 4th October 2021
Application
No:
Location
Proposal

HPK/2021/0055

22 Bowden Lane, Chapel-En-Le-Frith, Derbyshire, SK23 0JQ
Removal of existing front boundary wall and new boundary wall
and associated landscaping
Applicant
Michelle Rogers
Agent
Mr Simon Jones, SJ Design Ltd
Parish/ward
Date registered 9th February 2021
Chapel East
If you have a question about this report please contact: Tom Hiles, Tel. 01298
28400 extension 5430, tom.hiles@highpeak.gov.uk
1.

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

Approve with conditions

2.

REASON FOR COMMITTEE DETERMINATION

2.1 This application has been brought before the Development Control
Committee because it is an application for retrospective planning
permission and is of interest to the local community, and at the request of
Cllr Jim Perkins, due to concerns over highway implications, design and
land stability.
2.2 The application was deferred at the previous meeting
 To enable members to undertake a site visit if they wish
 To enable investigations to be undertaken to establish if the area can
be made wider so as to avoid potential obstruction of the highway
should it be used for parking
 For the DCC Highways Authority comments to be clarified
3.

DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

3.1 The application site is a terraced house located on Bowden Lane, a
residential street within the built-up area boundary for Chapel and within
the Town End Conservation Area.
3.2 Bowden Lane is a narrow, winding lane, closed to through traffic further to
the north of the application site, with limited turning opportunities and
limited forward visibility at some points. A number of properties do not
have off-street car parking and there is some on-street parking along the
lane.

Page 109

1

3.3 The property including its front garden is elevated above the lane, in
common with the neighbouring houses. Property frontages along the lane
are characterised by traditional natural stone walls.
3.4 A narrow space has been formed at the front of the property by removing
the stone boundary wall and excavating approximately 1m depth of the
elevated front garden.
3.5 Initially, a retaining wall was constructed of reconstituted or artificial
stone, with the excavated area surfaced with tarmac and enclosed with a
concrete kerb. The ground level of the space was slightly elevated above
the level of the adjacent carriageway.
3.6 Following feedback providing during determination, revised plans were
submitted indicating the replacement of the retaining wall (already
implanted without permission) with natural stone.
3.7 The committee considered these revised proposed plans at their
September 2021 meeting and determined to defer a decision to allow for
consideration to be given to the possibility of the space being made
deeper to allow for vehicles parking it to be parked fully off the space.
3.8 Subsequently to the September meeting it has been observed by officers
that the reconstituted stone wall originally implemented has been replaced
with natural stone, in accordance with the revised plans previously
submitted. The development appears to have largely been reworked in
accordance with the revised plans.
4.

DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL

4.1 Retrospective permission is sought for the works undertaken without
planning permission.
4.2 The following plans have been submitted with the application:
-

Location Plan
Site Plan
Proposed Plans

4.3 The application, the details attached to it including the plans, comments
made by residents and the responses of the consultees can be found on
the
Council’s
website
at:
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?
PKID=245650
5.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

5.1 There are no previous planning applications relating to the site.

Page 110

2

6.

PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION

High Peak Local Plan 2016
S 1 Sustainable Development Principles
S 1a Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
CF 6 Accessibility and Transport
EQ 6 Design and Place Making
EQ 7 Built and Historic Environment
Supplementary Planning Documents
High Peak Design Guide
Chapel-en-le-Frith Neighbourhood Plan
No policies relevant to householder applications
National Planning Policy Framework (2021)
Paragraph 11
Chapter 2
Chapter 4
Chapter 9
Chapter 12
Chapter 16
7.

The Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
Achieving Sustainable Development
Decision-making
Promoting Sustainable Transport
Achieving Well Designed Places
Conserving and Enhancing the Historic Environment

CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT
Site notice
Neighbour letters
Press Notice

Expiry date for comments: 16th March 2021
Expiry date for comments: 16th March 2021
None

Neighbours
7.1 Neighbours were contacted by way of written letters.
7.2 Comments were received from eleven addresses. These comprised one
letter of support and ten letters of objection.
7.3 The objections mainly relate to concerns over highways safety and the
effects of the works upon the Conservation Area. In particular, objections
noted that:




A car parked in the space will obstruct other vehicles using the lane,
including emergency vehicles, as the space is not wide enough to fully
accommodate a car
A long-based van parked in the space has already caused this problem
for a refuse lorry
The site is near a blind bend

Page 111

3









Owners of 27 Hayfield Road opposite the site will have access
problems
Traffic accidents have already taken place on the lane
The property already includes a garage and off-road parking space
The works are not in keeping with the Conservation Area
Parking in the space would cause a highway obstruction which is an
offence and would therefore waste police time
That the works were undertaken without permission
Issues with bins being stored in the parking space

7.4 Comments also noted:




Concerns about the stability of the house and neighbouring properties
as a result of the excavation undertaken to form the space
Issues arising during construction
That the works have been badly undertaken and had partially already
collapsed

7.5 These latter comments do not relate to material planning considerations
Consultee

Comment

Chapel-en-le-Frith Parish Council - Strongly object. The property lies
within the conservation area, the property should be reinstated to its original
condition using the original materials and following the original boundary.
DCC Highways Authority
Initial comments
All Works demonstrated on the proposed plan are located outside of the
existing public highway.
The plan isn't dimensioned although it's stated in the Design & Access
statement that the proposals will improve on-street parking. Whilst the
Works may result in an effective increase in width of Bowden Lane, and it's
appreciated that the widening will basically extend the existing line of the
boundary wall of the adjacent property, the 'New Tarmac as Road Surface'
will remain private and the existing highway boundary will need to be clearly
defined on site e.g. kerb with 25mm upstand immediately adjacent to the
existing boundary that would also prevent surface water run-off from the
highway entering the site. Measures should also be demonstrated to prevent
surface water run-off from the site from entering the highway.
The 'widening' does not appear to be of adequate width to accommodate a
vehicle and the applicant should be aware that any vehicle parked in the
vicinity in a manner causing obstruction of the highway would be a matter for
the police.

Page 112

4

Therefore, it's recommended that the applicant is requested to submit details
of measures to satisfactorily address the above issues.
Further comments
I've reviewed the photo's you attached and I have some issues / concerns
with the works that have been undertaken - there are no drainage provisions
to prevent surface water run-off from the new impermeable area flowing onto
the adjacent highway, and, due to the raising of the levels (to meet the step
level into the property) at the northern end, this results in an abrupt 'step' in
levels within public highway limits, which could be a trip risk for pedestrians
(especially during the hours of darkness given the limited street lighting on
Bowden Lane). The works constructed also do not appear to resemble the
proposals shown on the application drawings - the drawings show a 'flush'
surface with Bowden Lane and the initial step into the property and gate also
being set-back to enable a 'flush' surface to be achieved across the whole
frontage.
It is likely, with some minor modifications to accommodate drainage, that the
proposals shown on the application drawing may be tolerable from a
highways perspective, however, this does not appear to be what has been
constructed (which is not acceptable).

Derbyshire Building Control
Building control officer visited on 17th Feb.
Arrived on at the property at 12.10pm - Spoke with property owner.
Retaining wall to the front of the property is a newly built wall retaining
approx. 1.6-1.7m of ground behind. The wall appears substantial and is
showing no signs of failure or movement. A small dwarf wall has been
removed or taken down at the top of the main retaining wall which was
retaining approx, 200mm of ground. The small wall has been removed as
the owner now wants to make a planting area at the front and so will gently
slope the ground to the top of the main retaining wall. The small dwarf wall
has no relevance to the main retaining wall. Case closed as not dangerous.

HPBC Conservation Officer
Initial comments
The property is in the Town End Chapel Conservation Area and there is a
duty to preserve or enhance the character of appearance of the area. Whilst
there is no character appraisal for this part of the Conservation Area it is
clear that in this area the gritstone stone walls and high banks are a strongly
defining feature, providing an attractive setting to the buildings and
channelling northerly views out to the countryside beyond. The walls are
predominantly coursed rubble with copings of either flat stone or larger
blocks on edge.

Page 113

5

The application seeks to regularise the demolition of the front boundary wall,
cutting back of the bankside and erecting a new retaining wall in
reconstituted stone to allow roadside parking.
Photos of the frontage walling prior to the demolition show that is was
coarsed gritstone with a flat coping and of similar height to surrounding
walls. It is of note that the wall shared the same alignment facing the road as
No.24 and this alignment continues around the bend in the road. To the
south-east in the opposite direction all the boundaries are slightly set back
but this appears to be the historic alignment and is consistent.
The work is now completed and the impact of the works can now be
assessed. It is evident that the artificial stone is clearly different to the
historic gritstone (colour, dressing, uniformity of block size and coursing), the
retention of the party boundary wall between Nos 20 & 22 emphasises the
cut-out in the road frontage and the disruption to the generally consistent
roadside boundary is evident. The roadside storage of bins is a further
detrimental change and this could not be controlled. It is a wall of modern
appearance which looks out of place in an area of traditional walling. It may
set a precedent for other roadside walls to receive the same treatment.
Less than substantial harm to character or appearance

Further comments
They would need to build an outer face in natural stone to match the
adjoining property - full courses of stone rather than stone facing so they can
replicate the finish of the adjacent wall and flat, heavy stone copings to
match. It would be better to trim back the dividing wall so that you get a
continuous frontage rather than a wall jutting out (which would be liable to be
damaged anyway). We would be looking for the detailing to match.

8.

POLICY AND PLANNING BALANCE

Planning Policies
8.1

The determination of a planning application is to be made pursuant to
section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which
is to be read in conjunction with section 70(2) of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990.

8.2

Section 38(6) requires the local planning authority to determine planning
applications in accordance with the development plan, unless there are
material circumstances which 'indicate otherwise'. Section 70(2)
provides that in determining applications the local planning authority
"shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far as
material to the application and to any other material considerations." The

Page 114

6

Development Plan consists of the High Peak Local Plan Policies
Adopted April 2016.
8.3

Other material considerations include the National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF), Supplementary Design Guidance, and National
Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG). Paragraph 11 of the NPPF explains
that at the heart of the Framework is the presumption in favour of
sustainable development. For decision makers this means that when
considering development proposals which accord with the development
plan, they should be approved without delay, but where the development
plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out of date, grant planning
permission unless any adverse impacts would significantly and
demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the policies
in the NPPF taken as a whole.

Principle of Development
8.4

The application seeks retrospective planning permission for an alteration
to an existing residential property that lies within the built-up area
boundary of Chapel-en-le-Firth. Policy S2 sets out that new development
will be directed towards the most sustainable locations. Chapel-en-leFrith is identified as a one of the borough’s “market towns”, which will be
the main focus for housing, employment and service growth.

8.5

As such, the principle of development is considered acceptable, subject
to all relevant material considerations. In this case, it is considered that
the relevant planning matters are effects on the Conservation Area,
highways safety, design and residential amenity.

Key Material Considerations




Effect on the Conservation Area / Design
Public and Residential Amenity
Access and Highway Safety

Effect on the Conservation Area / Design
8.6 Local Plan Policy EQ7 states that the Council will conserve heritage
assets in a manner appropriate to their significance. This will take into
account the desirability of sustaining and enhancing their significance and
will ensure that development proposals contribute positively to the
character of the built and historic environment. Particular protection will be
given to designated and non-designated heritage assets and their
settings, including listed buildings.
8.7 NPPF paragraph 199 states that when considering the impact of a
proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset,
great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation (and the more
important the asset, the greater the weight should be). This is irrespective
of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or

Page 115

7

less than substantial harm to its significance. Paragraph 200 states that
any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset
(from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting),
should require clear and convincing justification.
8.8 LP Policy EQ6 states that all development should be well designed to
respect and contribute positively to the character, identity and context of
High Peak’s townscapes, in terms of scale, height, density, and layout.
8.9 NPPF paragraph 130 states amongst other matters that new
developments should add to the overall quality of the area, be visually
attractive as a result of good architecture and sympathetic to the
surrounding built environment.
8.10 The comments from the heritage officer are noted. It is considered that
the scheme as previously proposed and implemented was harmful to
the character and significance of the Conservation Area and that
granting retrospective permission for the works previously completed
would therefore have been contrary to policy EQ7 and the NPPF.
8.11 The revised proposals were submitted during the course of the
application in response to the comments from the heritage officer. The
revised plans indicated the replacement of the existing retaining wall with
natural stone to match the existing walls at neighbouring properties, to
be capped with flat, heavy natural stone coping, and indicate the
removal of the nib wall referred to by the heritage officer.
8.12 It is considered that the amended scheme, would avoid the harm to the
Conservation Area which has resulted from the previous works. A further
site visit since the deferral of the item noted that the wall has now been
rebuilt in natural stone in accordance with the revised plans. Previously it
was recommended that approval be subject to the approval of specific
materials samples to be used for the facing wall and coping stones.
However, the materials used in reworking the development are, on
balance, considered to be acceptable and no further approval of these
details is considered to be necessary.
8.13 With regard to the question of whether the area could be made wider
and the wall rebuilt again further back from the highway, the heritage
officer has advised that increasing the size of the proposal beyond what
has already been undertaken would be undesirable in terms of a change
to the character of the Conservation Area and would make the visual
impact worse. In its current position the wall reflects similar
developments alongside and further down the street.
8.14 It is therefore considered that the amended scheme sustains the
significance of the Conservation Area, and is acceptable in general
design terms, and therefore accords with local plan policies EQ6, EQ7,
and NPPF paragraphs 199 and 130.

Page 116

8

Public and Residential Amenity
8.15 LP Policy EQ6 requires all new development to have a satisfactory
relationship with existing land and buildings to protects the amenity of
the area. Aspects of residential amenity include impacts such as a loss
of sunlight, overshadowing and overbearing impacts, loss of outlook, and
loss of privacy.
8.16 Paragraph 130 of the NPPF states that planning should create places
with a high standard of amenity for all existing and future users.
8.17 The nearest neighbouring buildings are the adjoining dwellings on either
side of the application site and those on the opposite side of Bowden
Lane.
8.18 Given the nature and scale of the works, it is not considered that they
have harmed to the amenity of the occupants of these neighbouring
buildings, including in terms of noise impact and other nuisance effects.
The works therefore would comply with the objectives of policies EQ6
and E10 and paragraphs 130 and 185 of the NPPF.
Access, Parking Provision and Highway Safety
8.19 LP Policy CF6 seeks to ensure that development can be safely
accessed in a sustainable manner. The policy requires new development
can be integrated within existing or proposed infrastructure, does not
lead to an increase in on street parking to the detriment of the free and
safe flow of traffic, and provides details of proposed parking provision
based on an assessment of parking need and the impact on the
surrounding road network.
8.20 Paragraph 110 of the NPPF states that in assessing applications for
development, a safe and suitable access to the site should be achieved
for all users. Paragraph 111 goes on to state that development should
only be prevented or refused on highway grounds if there would be an
unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative
impacts on the road network would be severe.
8.21 The updated comments from the DCC Highways officer are noted. The
main concerns relate to the prospect of surface water draining from the
parking space onto the road, due to the slightly higher level of the
parking space above the carriageway.
8.22 The submitted plans indicate the parking space as being flush with the
carriageway, which would limit the risk of surface water draining onto the
road. The completed works observed in September appear to have
involved reworking the surface of the space such that it is flush with the
carriageway, in accordance with the amended plans. Approval of the
revised plans would require that the works be fully completed to accord

Page 117

9

with these plans. This would also resolve the concern regarding the
existing situation presenting a trip hazard to pedestrians.
8.23 Subject to the works being completed in accordance with the revised
plans within a set timescale and permanently retained, it is considered
that the concerns noted by the highways officer would be satisfactorily
addressed and therefore that the application would accord with local
policy CF6 and NPPF paragraphs 110 and 111.
8.24 Public comments relating to the effects on other users of the lane,
including emergency vehicles, are noted. As noted by the highways
officer, any obstruction of the highway resulting from the use of the
parking space would be a police matter.
8.25 Effects on vehicular access to other properties are a civil matter,
separate to material planning considerations.
8.26 In any case, it is noted that at several points along the lane, residents’
cars are parked fully within the carriageway. It does not appear that the
use of the parking space for a passenger car would reduce the width of
the available carriageway significantly more than at a number of other
locations elsewhere along the lane.
8.27 Without a direct objection from the highways officer in relation to this
particular matter, it is not considered that refusal on the grounds of
highway safety could be sustained.
8.28 Given that partly retrospective permission is being sought, it is
considered necessary and appropriate to impose a condition that the
works be completed in accordance with the details shown on the revised
plans within a set time from the date of approval.
8.29 Following the deferral at the last committee, further comments from the
highways officer are awaited and will be provided in the update report.
Other matters
8.30 Public comments relating to the safety of the completed works and
effects on structural stability are noted but do not relate to a material
planning consideration. The comments from the building control officer
confirm that the works undertaken to create the retaining wall do not
comprise a dangerous structure.
Planning Balance & Conclusion
8.31 LP Policy S1a reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable
development set out within paragraph 11 of the NPPF. For decision
taking this means approving development proposals that accord with an
up-to-date development without delay; or where there are no relevant
development plan policies, or the policies which are most important for

Page 118

10

determining the application
permission, unless:

are

out-of-date,

granting

planning

-

the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets
of particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the
development proposed; or

-

any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this
Framework taken as a whole.

8.32 The application site lies within the built-up area boundary for Chapel and
as such any alterations to existing residential buildings are considered to
be appropriate in principle, subject to their acceptability in terms of all
other relevant material planning considerations.
8.33 The implemented works, as indicated on the revised submitted plans,
are acceptable in terms of residential amenity and would be acceptable
in terms of effects on the Conservation Area, design and effects on
highways safety. It is considered that the development would sustain the
heritage asset.
8.34 Following the deferral by members consideration has been given to the
proposal to set the wall back further and to provide a full width parking
space to the front. Whilst comments on this are awaited from the
highway officer, in the light of his previous advice and the subsequent
objection to this suggestion from the Conservation Officer, it is not
considered that the further harm to the character and significance of the
Conservation Area would be justified by any likely further benefits in
terms of highways safety, and as such it is not considered that it would
be appropriate to seek such an alteration to the amended proposed
scheme.
8.35 For these reasons it is recommended that permission should be
approved without further amendment and as presented to the previous
committee, subject to the following condition.
9.

RECOMMENDATIONS
A. It is recommended that planning permission be APPROVED,
subject to the following conditions.

Condition ref number
NTSD

Brief description
Development to be
completed in accordance
with approved revised
plans with three months of
approval and retained

Page 119

Comment

11

thereafter
B. RECOMMENDATION NO.2: In the event of any changes being needed
to the wording of the Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or
add conditions/informatives/planning obligations or reasons for
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Head of
Development Services has delegated authority to do so in consultation
with the Chairman of the Planning Applications Committee, provided
that the changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the
Committee’s decision.

This recommendation is made following careful consideration of all the issues
raised through the application process. Given that the application is
retrospective and an acceptable solution is now proposed and shown on the
revised plans, the Council has acted in accordance with Paragraph 38 of the
NPPF, which requires Local Planning Authorities to positively engage with
planning applicants.

Page 120

12

Site plan

Page 121

13

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE
Date 4th October 2021
Application
HPK/2021/0387
No:
Location
Lowfoot Farm, Redgap Lane, Buxton
Proposal
Variation of Condition 2 relating to HPK/2020/0388
Applicant
Laura Perkins
Agent
Andy Smith, AJS Architecture
Parish/ward
Date registered 6th July 2021
N/A/Stone Bench
If you have a question about this report please contact: James Stannard, Tel.
01298 28400 extension 4298, james.stannard@highpeak.gov.uk
1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION
Approve – subject to all conditions associated with HPK/2020/0388

1. REASON FOR COMMITTEE DETERMINATION
1.1

This application has been brought before the Development Control
Committee because the applicant is related to a High Peak Councillor
and because the applicant relates to a previous application determined
contrary to Officer recommendation under HPK/2020/0388.

2.

DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

2.1

The application site relates to a cluster of building and surrounding land
that form Lowfoot Farm. The site is accessed via a poorly maintained
agricultural track which extends some 300m south west from the public
highway, which is a defined public right of way, and serves the
farmhouse building, and a larger agricultural building to the rear of the
site that has consent for the storage of 6 x Heavy Good Vehicles
(HGV’s) and 2 x trailers.

2.2

The site access forms a junction with Redgap Lane, a poorly
maintained adopted but un-classified single track rural lane that has an
average width of approximately 4.2m and provides access to the site
from the nearest classified road Waterswallows Road, that lies
approximately 1km to the north. The built-up area boundary of Buxton
stands approximately 1.5km to the west at its nearest point.

2.3

The cluster of buildings that complete the Lowfoot Farm complex is a
detached residential dwelling at top of the access track, an ancillary
detached garage, a single storey stable block, an adjacent agricultural

Page 123

1

building, and a larger more substantial agricultural building beyond
referenced above.
2.4

The application relates specifically to the existing stable block and the
wider area of hard standing that surrounds it. The stable block is
constructed of stone with a tiled roof that contains eight individual
stables in a rectangular form, spanning a width of approximately 5.2m
and a length of approximately 32.5m, reaching a height of 3.2m.

2.5

For the purposes of the Local Plan, the site lies outside of the built-up
area boundary in the open countryside and in the Plateau Pastures
Landscape Character Area (LCA).

2.6

The site has been previously subject to an application which was
approved by Members contrary to Officer recommendation
(HPK/202/0388) for the retention of 4 x stable compartments within the
existing stable block building and to change the use of the remaining
part of the existing structure, together with creating a new adjoining
structure, to house a cattery business (i.e. a place for members of the
public to accommodate their cats for varying periods of time).

3.

DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL

3.1

The application seeks to vary Condition 2 associated with
HPK/2020/0388 which stipulates the plans that should be followed
when implementing the permission.

3.2

The variation seeks to alter the Proposed Block Plan, Floor Plans and
Elevation Plans which shows the retention of the stable block which
has a long rectangular form south-east of the proposed building
adjacent to the garden area associated with the main farmhouse.

3.3

The newly proposed Block Plan shows a reduction in the length of the
building and an increase in the width, showing the cattery to be
separated from the existing stable block. The revised scheme shows
the cattery building to have a increased depth of 9.5m (as opposed to
approximately 5.5m within the original scheme) and a reduced length
of approximately 18.8m (comparable to some 27m originally proposed).

3.4

The eastern elevation of the newly created building is shown to
incorporate a ‘curved’ elevation which has been shown by the
applicant’s agent in a 3D visual image which accompanies the
application submission.

3.8

The application can be viewed online using the following link
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServle
t?PKID=248970

Page 124

2

4.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

4.1

The site has been subject to the following planning history:

HPK/0002/5491

7 x Holiday Cottages (Approved 26/08/1987)

HPK/0003/1972

Renewal consent for HPK/0002/5491
(Approved 28/10/1992)

HPK/2001/0590

Conversion of redundant farm house and diary buildings
to form 7 x Holiday Cottages (Refused 07/02/2002)

HPK/2006/0036

Conversion of redundant farm house and diary buildings
to form 7 x Holiday Cottages (Refused 06/03/2006) –
Appeal Dismissed 16/05/2006

HPK/2006/0092

Two storey side extension to form garaging and family
room over (Refused 27/03/2006)

HPK/2006/0530

Detached Garage (Approved 18/08/2006)

HPK/2013/0095

Proposed Change of Use to Goods Vehicles and Trailer
Operating Centre (Refused 07/06/2013)

HPK/2013/0343

Change of Use of agricultural building to storage of
wagons (Approved 22/08/2013)

HPK/2013/0516

Variation of Condition relating to HPK/2013/0343
(Approved 12/12/2013)

HPK/2015/0577

Variation of Condition relating to HPK/2013/0516 to park
6 x HGV’s and 2 x trailers (Approved 04/05/2016)

HPK/2020/0483

Rear Single Storey Extension with Flat Roof
(Approved 19/01/2021)

HPK/2020/0388

Extension of former stable building and part change of
use to form cattery (Approved 30/03/2021)

5.

PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION

High Peak Local Plan 2016
S1
S1a
S2
S7
EQ3
EQ6
E1

Sustainable Development Principles
Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
Settlement Hierarchy
Buxton Sub-area Strategy
Rural Development
Design and Place Making
New Employment Development

Page 125

3

CF6

Accessibility and Transport

National Planning Policy Framework 2019
Achieving Sustainable Development
Building a Strong Competitive Economy
Promoting Sustainable Transport
Achieving Well Designed Places
Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment
6.

Chapter 2
Chapter 6
Chapter 9
Chapter 12
Chapter 15

CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT
Site notice
Neighbour letters
Press Notice

Expiry date for comments: 4th August 2021
Expiry date for comments: 2nd August 2021
Expiry date for comments: N/A

Neighbours
6.1

Neighbours were contacted to by way of written letters. No responses
have been received from neighbours or any other member of the
general public

Consultee

Comment

AES Waste

No comments received

HPBC Environmental Health

No comments received

HPBC Tree/Landscape

No comments received

DCC Highways

No highway safety objections in
principle to the proposed modifications
to the scheme, subject to the
previously imposed conditions
remaining.

4.

POLICY AND PLANNING BALANCE

Planning Policies
7.1

The determination of a planning application is to be made pursuant to
section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004,
which is to be read in conjunction with section 70(2) of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990.

Page 126

4

7.2

Section 38(6) requires the local planning authority to determine
planning applications in accordance with the development plan, unless
there are material circumstances which 'indicate otherwise'. Section
70(2) provides that in determining applications the local planning
authority "shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan,
so far as material to the application and to any other material
considerations." The Development Plan consists of the High Peak
Local Plan Policies Adopted April 2016.

7.3

Other material considerations include the National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF), Supplementary Design Guidance, and National
Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG). Paragraph 11 of the NPPF explains
that at the heart of the Framework is the presumption in favour of
sustainable development. For decision makers this means that when
considering development proposals which accord with the development
plan, they should be approved without delay, but where the
development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out of date,
grant planning permission unless any adverse impacts would
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed
against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole.

Principle of Development
7.4

The application seeks consent for the extension of an existing stable
block and the change of use for part of the stable block and the newly
created extension building to a cattery business (i.e. a building that
facilitates the accommodation of members of the public pets for a
designated period of time).

7.5

In light of Members approving the original application submitted under
HPK/2020/0388 the principle of development has been established and
thus the assessment and determination of this application is solely
associated with the key material considerations as set out below.

Key Material Considerations





Design Character and Appearance
Public and Residential Amenity
Access, Parking Provision and Highway Safety
Trees

Design Character and Appearance
7.6

LP Policy EQ3 refers to rural development proposals which lie outside
of the defined built-up area boundaries and seeks to ensure that new
development is strictly controlled in order to protect the landscape’s
intrinsic character and distinctiveness. The policy supports extensions
and alterations to existing dwellings provided they are subsidiary to the
building and do not have an adverse impact on the character of the
landscape.

Page 127

5

7.7

Paragraph 127 of the NPPF states amongst other things that decisions
should ensure that developments will add to the overall quality of the
area; are visually attractive as a result of good architecture; and are
sympathetic to the surrounding built environment.

7.8

The revised proposed Block Plan shows a reduction in the length of the
building and an increase in the width, showing the cattery to be
separated from the existing stable block, with the appearance of the
eastern elevation being modified to incorporate a curve which would
front the entrance.

7.9

The changes set out on the accompanying revised plans are
considered to be minor material amendments and given the principle of
development has now been established by virtue of the previously
approved application, the minor changes the scale layout and
appearance of the building are considered to be of an acceptable
design that preserves the immediate and wider rural landscape, in
accordance with LP Policies S1, EQ3 and EQ6, and paragraph 130 of
the NPPF.

Public and Residential Amenity
7.10

LP Policy EQ6 requires all new development to have a satisfactory
relationship with existing land and buildings and protects the amenity of
the area, which includes residential amenity of neighbouring properties.
Aspects of residential amenity include impacts such as a loss of
sunlight, overshadowing and overbearing impacts, loss of outlook, and
loss of privacy.

7.11

Paragraph 127 of the NPPF states that planning should create places
with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users.

7.12

The site access from Redgap Lane is also designated as a public right
of way. Whilst there would clearly be an increase in the amount of
vehicle movements along this access track, it is not considered that the
amenity or safety of users of this footpath would be adversely affected
to the extent that warrants a reason for refusal.

7.13

Given its isolated location, with the nearest residential dwelling
standing in excess of 150m from the site it is not considered that the
proposed use would result in any harm to the living conditions of any
residential properties with regards to noise or any other impacts, which
is was previously echoed by the Environmental Health Officer when
commenting on the original application.

7.14

As such, the application complies with LP Policy EQ6 and paragraph
127 of the NPPF in this regard.

Page 128

6

Access, Parking Provision and Highway Safety
7.15

LP Policy CF6 seeks to ensure that development can be safely
accessed in a sustainable manner and that all new development is
located where it can be satisfactorily accommodated within the existing
highway network.

7.16

Paragraph 108 of the NPPF states that in assessing applications for
development, it should be ensured that safe and suitable access to the
site can be achieved for all users. Paragraph 109 goes on to state that
development should only be prevented or refused on highway grounds
if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the
residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.

7.17

The previous application concluded that the level of parking provision
was sufficient for the scale of the proposed use and that Redgap Lane
was wide enough to accommodate the vehicle movements associated
with the cattery. The proposed variation would see changes to the
layout and visual appearance of the cattery with the overall scale of the
business remaining broadly consistent.

7.18

The Highways Authority have no comments to make aside from all
previous conditions relating to highway safety being applied to this
application. As such, subject to these applications continuing to apply,
the application is considered to accord with LP Policy CF6 and
paragraph 110 of the NPPF.

Trees
7.19

LP Policy EQ9 seeks to protect existing trees, woodland and hedgerow
and requires new development proposals where appropriate to provide
tree planting and soft landscaping. Chapter 15 of the NPPF contains
the relevant local plan policies relating to the conservation and
enhancement of the natural environment.

7.20

Whilst there are trees within the wider site that are protected by a Tree
Preservation Order (TPO), the Tree Officer was previously satisfied
that a pre-cautionary condition could suitably mitigate any potential
harm to any trees. As such, the proposed development,
notwithstanding the reason for refusal relating to the principle of
development, would not harm any trees in line with LP Policy EQ9 and
Chapter 15 of the NPPF.

Planning balance & Conclusion
7.21

LP Policy S1a reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable
development set out within the National Planning Policy Framework
(NPPF).

Page 129

7

7.22

Paragraph 11 of the NPPF sets out the presumption in favour of
sustainable development. For decision taking, this means approving
development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development
plan without delay; or, where there are no relevant development plan
policies, or the policies which are most important for determining the
application are out-of-date, granting permission, unless:
-

the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or
assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for
refusing the development proposed; or

-

any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the
policies in this Framework taken as a whole.

7.23

Relevant strategic Local Plan policies for the distribution of
employment land are considered to be up-to-date and as such can be
given full weight in the determination of the application.

7.24

An assessment of the application has concluded that whilst in general
terms, this nature of development is well suited to rural locations, due
to the associated noise and potential impacts to neighbouring
properties, it has been found that in this particular case, the scale of
the proposed operation, further intensification of a site that is already
home to noticeable vehicular movements, by virtue of a significant
increase in vehicular movements, which is accessed via a poorly
maintained unclassified road in a wholly remote and isolated rural
location cannot be justified and is situated in an unsustainable location.

7.25

The application is therefore found to conflict with Local Plan Policies
S1, EQ3 and E1 and is not supported as a matter of principle.

7.26

In line with LP Policy S1a and paragraph 11 of the NPPF, the
application is considered to constitute an unsustainable form of
development and is recommended for refusal for the reasons set out
on the decision notice.
8. RECOMMENDATIONS

A.

Approve varied plans subject to all conditions previously
applied to HPK/2020/0388 continuing to apply

Page 130

8

B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the
Committee’s
decision
(such
as
to
delete, vary or add
conditions/informative/planning
obligations
or
reasons
for
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Head of
Development Services has delegated authority to do so in consultation
with the Chairman of the Committee, provided that the changes do not
exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s decision.
This recommendation is made following careful consideration of all the issues
raised through the application process and thorough discussion with the
applicants. In accordance with Paragraph 187 of the NPPF the Case Officer
has sought solutions where possible to secure a development that improves
the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area.
Site plan

Page 131

9

This page is intentionally left blank

